
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

26 April 2022 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 4th May, 2022 at 6.30 pm 

In the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 

 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Paul Skinner 
Deputy Leaders – Councillor Nigel Welton 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs and 
Jonathan Noble 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 18) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



D   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Thursday 28 April 2022. 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 
(STANDING ITEM) (Pages 19 - 20) 
 

2   MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 21 - 90) 
 

 (A report by Mark Stinson – Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring 
Officer) 
 

3   HOUSING BENEFIT - LOCAL DISCRETIONARY MODIFIED SCHEME (Pages 91 
- 98) 
 

 (A report by Sharron Hammond, Head of Revenue and Benefits)  
 

4   HISTORIC PLACES PANEL REPORT (Pages 99 - 134) 
 

 (A report by the Deputy Chief Executive – Growth)  
 

* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on 
Friday 6th May 2022.  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a decision 
is  5 p.m. on Friday  13 May 2022.                             . 
 
 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded 
 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during 
the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

Emergency ProceduresIn the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are 
asked to leave the building via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to 

the Fire Assembly Point located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal 
Buildings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Tel. no: 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BY CABINET ON 30 MARCH 2022 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 1 APRIL 2022 

 
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: FRIDAY 8TH APRIL 2022 

 
NOTES: 
 
*AGENDA ITEMS 64 AND 65 HAVE BEEN GRANTED  EXEMPTION FROM CALL-IN 
ON THE GROUNDS OF URGENCY* 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 30 March 2022 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Nigel Welton Deputy Leader in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin, Martin Griggs and Jonathan Noble. 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive - Communities., Assistant Director - Finance 
(Deputy S151 Officer), Climate Change and Environment Manager, Assistant Director - 
Wellbeing and Community Leadership, Climate Change and Environment Officer, 
Housing, Homelessness and Wellbeing Service Manager and Insights & Transformation 
Manager and Democratic Services Officer.  
 
 
52   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 February 2022 were agreed and signed 
by the Chairman. 
 
53   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were tabled by Councillor Paul Skinner, Councillor Deborah 
Evans and the Assistant Director – Planning.  
 
54   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
None.  
 
55   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



There was one question from a member of the public, Mr Darron Abbott: 
“At the Cabinet meeting on the 8th December 2021 I asked you a question regarding the 
Councillor Code of Conduct, in your answer you stated the Council would be adopting 
the new code shortly. Would you care to give me an update as to when this will happen 
as we are 3 months further down the line” 
 
Answer from the Leader read out by the Deputy Leader in the Chair: 
 

“Thank you for your question Mr Abbott, the new Model Code of Conduct was 

considered by the Standards Sub Committee on the 9th March 2022   and is on the 
agenda for the Audit and Governance Committee meeting on Monday 28 March. This is 
line with our Constitution 
 
Supplementary question from Mr Darron Abbott: 
 
“In the meeting on the 8th December last year you stated “we all take this behaviour 
seriously” you mentioned the Nolan Principles.  But even when you have this new code 
of conduct, there has to be a will to enforce breaches and treat everyone equally, 
recently a Cabinet Member was given the choice to resign or be sacked from the 
Cabinet for the misuse of a mobile phone yet tonight you are all happy to sit here with a 
Councillor who has committed and admitted committing a criminal offence under the 
Localism Act 2011 for which I believe is under police investigation, why have you not 
done to this Councillor as you did previously sack or resign?  
 
Mr Abbott was advised the question would be put to Councillor Paul Skinner the Leader 
of the Council for a response within the requisite time line.  
 
56   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
A number of the reports on the agenda had been considered by the relevant scrutiny 
committee and an update was provided as part of the presentation of those reports as 
appropriate 
 
57   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 

(BTAC) 
 

At the meeting of BTAC held on 24 March 2022 it was agreed to recommend that a 
Community Governance Review be re-considered when the direction of local 
government reorganisation for Lincolnshire is known. This would be formally submitted 
to the meeting of Cabinet on 4 May 2022. 
 
58   SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP  LOTTERY 

SCHEME 
 

 

 

DECISION 

 

1. Working with South Holland District Council and East 

Lindsey District Council as our partners in a South and 

East Lincolnshire Council Partnership (S&ELCP), a 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

MG/ES 

 

Page 2



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

3 
 

Community Lottery Scheme to raise money for local good 

causes across the sub-region, in accordance with the 

provisions of this report be established. 

2. The appointment of Gatherwell as the external lottery 

management company (ELM) to provide the day to day 

management and operation of the lottery on behalf of the 

Councils be approved. 

3. Delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive 

- Communities – Communities, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holders, to agree final arrangements for process 

and criteria for the inclusion of ‘good causes’ that would 

benefit from proposed the scheme. 

4. The Deputy Chief Executive - Communities – Communities 

and the Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 

Leadership are nominated to be the Personal License 

holders for the S&ELCP Community Lottery Scheme.  

5. Agree that a one off payment of £2,800 is allocated from the 

Transformation Reserve to enable to the initial set up of the 

scheme. 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Martin Griggs Portfolio Holder for Housing and Communities presented the 
report noting that the recommendations proposed the creation of a Community Lottery 
Scheme for the partner councils in S&ELCP which would enable additional funding to 
be raised for local community-based initiatives and in addition partnership opportunities 
with the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) in the sub-region of Lincolnshire. 
The initiative would enable the Partnership, through each of the partnership Councils, 
to support the priorities of local communities by working in partnership with our 
residents. The sub region of Lincolnshire has a thriving Voluntary and Community 
Sector, providing valuable services of support, advice and activities for their 
communities. These services significantly benefit the health and wellbeing of residents, 
providing opportunities for active citizenship and helping people meet their aspirations 
and live the lives that they want. 
Funding for these organisations and their services has often relied on external funding 
sources, either through small grant schemes or fundraising. Regrettably, over the past 
few years opportunities for fundraising activities have declined. At the same time 
demand on the sector has substantially increased, compounded by the impacts of 
Covid-19. 
Covid-19 has highlighted the critical importance of local government to their places and 
communities. Forging deep connections of understanding and relationship building, 
local government organisations are required to ensure community cohesion, resilience 
and community identity is nurtured, developed and well supported at a local level.  
With the ability to combine resources and deliver cross-cutting community responses, 

Page 3



the S&ELCP is best placed to align resources to address common challenges which 
face our communities. For the Voluntary and Community Sector, seeking to address 
the funding challenges as a partnership will have greater impact.  
Each sovereign council of the S&ELCP has set out the importance of its communities 
within their individual corporate plans. Enabling the Voluntary and Community Sector 
further will in turn provide additional opportunities for the communities that they assist.  
In November 2015 Aylesbury Vale District Council (AVDC) launched the very first Local 
Authority lottery. This was created directly in response to the pressure on the 
community funds budgets and to help the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) gain 
access to new funding streams.   AVDC raised £70,000 for good causes in its first year 
of operation.  AVDC use an External Lottery Manager (ELM) to administer the lottery 
on its behalf.  There is no cost to the Council for this service, but the ELM is funded 
from a share of the ticket cost.  
 
Other authorities have subsequently developed their own lotteries based on a External 
Lottery Manager model including Essex County Council, Portsmouth City Council, 
Gloucester City Council, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, Peterborough City Council, 
North Lincolnshire Council, South Kesteven District Council, Blaby District Council, 
Melton Borough Council, Mendip Borough Council, Taunton Deane Borough Council, 
London Borough of Barking & Dagenham, Chiltern District Council, South Northampton 
Council, Torbay Council, Wycombe District Council, Rushmoor Borough Council, South 
Bucks District Council, Newcastle-Under-Lyme Borough Council, South Staffordshire 
Council, Corby Borough Council, Hart District Council and Borough of Broxbourne.  
Gatherwell Ltd support of 90 local authority lotteries across the country including 4 in 
Lincolnshire. 
Establishing a Community Lottery Scheme across the S&ELCP could raise £119,376 
annually to support our local communities. This is based on experiences in findings 
from other council areas and is a prudent estimation. 
There are a number of different External Lottery Managers in operation. Each provides 
a different model in relation to pricing, prize structures, and apportionment of the ticket 
price.  
If Members agree the development of a Community Lottery Scheme, South Holland 
District Council would, on behalf of the partnership; 
 

a) contract with Gatherwell to provide external lottery management and  
b) apply for the appropriate license and memberships.  

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 

1) Not to establish a partnership lottery scheme 

2) Deliver the lottery in-house 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

Page 4



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

5 
 

 
 
59   EXTENSION OF LINCOLNSHIRE HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH 

SLEEPER STRATEGIES 
 

 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 

DECISION 

 

Approve a one year extension of the current countywide strategies 

 

 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

MG/ES 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

Councillor Martin Griggs Portfolio Holder for Housing and Communities presented the 
report and confirmed that The Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017 - 2021 and the 
Lincolnshire Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019 – 2021 had both expired.  It was a legal 
requirement to publish a revised homelessness strategy every five years.  Due to the 
delay in starting this work, Cabinet is asked to approve a one year extension of the 
current countywide strategies. 
The current homelessness strategy had been approved November 2017 which allowed 
time for the new combined strategy to be published within the 5 year requirement. 
The strategy has an action plan to underpin the priorities and is led by the Strategic Leads 
of the seven Local Authorities across Lincolnshire.  
The Lincolnshire Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager hosted by West Lindsey 
District Council had responsibility for co-ordinating the partnership and monitoring of the 
strategy. This later passed to the County Homelessness Partnerships Manager hosted at 
City of Lincoln Council whilst options for the post were explored by the District Housing 
Network (DHN). 
DHN approved the appointment of a Lincolnshire Housing Partnerships role in May 2021 
to take on the duties of the previous postholder, but also include a wider remit linking in 
with DHN priorities relating to Housing, Health and Social Care. 
Recruitment was delayed but the postholder is now in post hosted by North Kesteven 
District Council and would be responsible for leading on writing the new strategy which will 
cover homelessness and rough sleeping. 
 

Page 5



 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
60   NET ZERO ACTION PLAN 

 

 

DECISION 
 

Agree the Net Zero Action Plan in line with the Council’s 

commitment to reduce its carbon emissions by 45% by 2027 and 

to achieve net zero by 2040 in the line with the strategic aim of 

the Corporate Strategy.  

Portfolio Holders 

and Officer 

 

PS/HP 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Environment Officer presented the report advising that In 2021, a Carbon Footprinting 
exercise was undertaken by the Carbon Trust for the Council’s own operations and a 
Carbon Reduction Plan was developed and agreed by Cabinet in January 2022. Cabinet 
agreed to amend the previous net zero target to a more quantifiable and ambitious target to 
reduce carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 with a minimum reduction of 45% by 2027, 
providing this can be achieved without the reduction or change in quality of services or 
adversely impacting on the revenues budget. A Net Zero Action Plan has now been 
produced to outline the programme of work needed to deliver the necessary reductions 
based on the Carbon Trust’s reports, with a view to providing a roadmap for carbon 
reduction measures and projects in the coming years to assist us in meeting our net zero 
ambition. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

The Council could adopt its own individual strategy or a joint strategy across the South East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership but would still require an extension of the current 
strategies.   
Having individual council strategies or a SELCP strategy has been discounted because 
having a countywide strategy is seen as good practice, cost effective and has helped 
increase grant funding for countywide housing and homelessness initiatives. This is 
because it evidences the seven Lincolnshire Councils and where applicable Lincolnshire 
County Council can work together for the benefit of its residents.   
 

Page 6



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

7 
 

Climate Change is one of the greatest global challenges of our time and local authorities 
have a crucial role to play in driving forward change, leading by example to enable us to 
adapt to and mitigate Climate Change effectively and achieve a more sustainable future. 
Monitoring of our carbon emissions via an annual Carbon Footprint and producing plans 
such as the Carbon Reduction Plan and Net Zero Actin Plan will guide us on our pathway 
to meet our target of becoming net zero by 2040. 
Following on from the recommendations put forward by the Carbon Trust in the adopted 
Carbon Reduction Plan, a New Zero Action Plan has now been developed to set out the 
projects required to investigate the feasibility of these recommendations further and provide 
clear delivery timescales for the proposed actions. The Action Plan also encompassed 
other environmental initiatives identified by the Climate Change and Environment Team 
and laid out a more detailed pathway to net zero via the development of our current 
position in relation to carbon emissions. This would ensure that the most effective and 
viable pathways forward are taken in relation to our operations. The Carbon Footprint took 
into account Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions falling under categories for gas, electrical, fleet, 
waste and business and commuter travel and these categories have therefore been used 
as a framework for the Action Plan. Investigative and feasibility actions have been 
highlighted in grey with actions dependant on the outcome of these investigations 
highlighted in light grey for ease of visualisation.   It was not currently possible, at this time, 
to provide costs or projected carbon savings for some of the projects identified in the Net 
Zero Action Plan. These details will be identified during the progression of the projects and 
where significant financial decisions will be required these proposals will be brought to 
Members for approval as appropriate.     

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  
 

Cabinet could decide not to adopt the Net Zero Action Plan, however Local authorities have 
a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and mitigate climate change in 
line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008.  
The Council has also made a commitment to reduce its carbon emissions to net zero by 
2040 with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 and this plan provides a 
roadmap to achieving these targets. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
61   ADOPTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

 
 

 

DECISION 

 

Approve the final version of the Climate Change Strategy 

following public consultation on the document in winter 

2021/22. 

 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

PS/SB 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Climate Change and Environment Manager presented the report advising that it 
provided background to the accompanying Climate Change Strategy for the 
geographical area covered by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
(S&ELCP). The document was the next step in our Climate Change aspirations, moving 
beyond the confines of our own carbon footprint and emissions to look at the wider 
issues for Climate Change in our local communities. S&ELCP cannot deliver this 
strategy in isolation and a new South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 
(SELCAN) will be established to bring together all relevant partners and ensure delivery 
at all levels as we work towards a net zero ambition.  If agreed is would allow officers to 
progress work on the agreed Climate Change Strategy and enable the establishment of 
a South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network. 
Since establishing Climate Change as a priority within the Corporate Strategy, Boston 
Borough Council has been working to address its own impact in terms of carbon 
emissions and commissioned the Carbon Trust to produce a Carbon Reduction Plan 
which was approved in January 2022. As part of that process, the Council committed to 
reduce its carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 with a minimum emissions reduction of 
45% by 2027 ensuring it leads by example in encouraging the Borough as a whole to 
undertake similar steps.  The development of a Climate Change Strategy for the wider 
Borough was identified in the work programme developed following the nine 
recommendations adopted by Council in January 2020, as put forward by the Climate 
Change Working Group. Those recommendations also identified that a citizen’s 
assembly should be established. Planning is now underway for a Climate Action 
Network which will take ownership of the Climate Change Strategy and lead delivery 
with the support of the Council.  In October 2021, Cabinet agreed the draft Strategy for 
consultation. Consultation has subsequently taken place across Boston, East Lindsey 
and South Holland and the comments have informed this final version of the Strategy. 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 
 

 
 
 

Page 8



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

9 
 

 

 

 
 
62   GREEN HOME GRANTS 

 

 

DECISION 

Cabinet supports the operational arrangements as set out in this 
report, in particular: 

1. That East Lindsey District Council acts as the lead 
accountable body and delivers the Sustainable Warmth 
programme on behalf of Boston Borough Council as part of 
the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. 

2. The entering into of an appropriate written agreement 
between East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough 
Council to deliver the programme, subject to legal advice, 
with delegated authority given to the Assistant Director 
Regulatory in consultation with the Portfolio Holder to agree 
the terms. 

3. To delegate responsibility in respect of programme delivery 
to the Assistant Director Regulatory in consultation with the 
Chair of the Programme Board including all operational 
matters such as determination of applications for grant 
funding. 

4. The establishment of a Programme Board for Sustainable 
Warmth with appropriate Portfolio Holder representation from 
each of the three Partnership Councils and Assistant Director 
Regulatory to monitor quarterly progress as outlined in 
paragraph 3.10. 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

PS/SB 

 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

Page 9



 

 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 
63   Q3 PERFORMANCE, FINANCE AND RISK 

 

 

DECISION 

1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q3 2021/22 

2. F1: That Cabinet notes the forecast revenue position for 2021/22 

as detailed in Table 1 after the proposed use of reserves 

3. F2: That Cabinet approves the following reserves movements   

contained within table 2: - 

I. That the Transformation Reserve is utilised to support 

contracts cost in 2021/22 as the PSPS contract value 

varies in between financial years where initial 

investment to improve services is required in the first 2 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

JN/SK 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Climate Change and Environment Manager presented the report advising that 
Funding of £7,254,966 has been secured from the Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy across the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
(S&ELCP) for the next phase of Green Homes Grants delivery – known as Sustainable 
Warmth. This paper sets out the proposed operational arrangements and eligibility 
criteria for the next round of grants ahead of a proposed launch in April 2022. The 
funding will be managed within the Climate Change and Environment Team on behalf of 
the S&ELCP and would enable officers to prepare to launch the new scheme, with effect 
from 1 April 2022.   
 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

Not to approve the operational arrangements. 
 

To implement alternative arrangements, such as implementing the scheme internally 
rather than with East Lindsey District Council as Accountable Body. 
 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

Page 10



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

11 
 

years of the contract, with a drawdown of £256,000 

supporting this investment. 

II. That the Capital Reserve is utilised to fund the 

Cremator Flue Replacement Capital Scheme at a cost 

of £60,000 

4. F3: That Cabinet notes the following reserve movement and 

recommends approval to Council: - 

I. That £729,000 of the COVID Budget Pressures 

Smoothing reserve is used to offset income pressures 

being experienced during the year, these relate to Car 

Parking, Leisure, Markets and Investment Returns. 

II. Cabinet notes that the use of reserves will be reviewed 

again as part of the Q4 process and consideration 

given to any further adjustments required. 

F4: That Cabinet approves the Cremator Flue Replacement 

Scheme at a cost of £60,000 be added to the Capital 

Programme 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Jonathon Noble portfolio holder for Finance presented the report and advised 
In total there are 22 KPIs for Boston Borough Council. 11 are on or better than target, 1 
is within tolerance, 8 are worse than target and 1 is not available. One measure is an 
annual measure so not yet due for reporting.  
Performance on or better than target or within tolerance included the percentage of 
commercial rent received against agreed budget, number of properties improved 
through Council intervention, Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention 
stage (i.e. before they have become homeless),  Percentage of homelessness cases 
that were opened at homelessness prevention stage that resulted in the customer not 
becoming homeless, number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 
calendar weeks and time to process Council Tax Support new claims and time to 
process Housing Benefits new claims. 
Performance worse than target in Q3 included the percentage of car parking income 
received against agreed budget - 85.51% against a target of 100%; car parking income 
remains below base line forecast level because of the impact of Covid-19, the number of 
verified rough sleepers – aspirational target of 0; the team managed to reduce the 
number of rough sleepers down to 2. One of these had recently been evicted from 
accommodation provided by the Council and the other is refusing to engage with the 
service, the percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt 
valued at work – 72% against a target of 84%, the percentage of ‘other’ planning 
applications determined within 8 weeks – 70% against a target of 75%; however, 
performance against the national government measure including time extensions was 
89% against a target of 70% and the percentage of food premises inspections 
completed against the Food Standards Agency annual inspection plan – 93.51% against 
a target of 100%; COVID work has increased during this quarter owing to the 
introduction of plan B legislation by central government and the reactivation of the 

Page 11



county emergency plan. Additional work has also been undertaken to ensure Boston’s 
Fishing fleet is compliant with new export requirements. 
Project updates included, a joint project management framework was in place across 
Boston and East Lindsey Councils, including monthly reporting to SLT and quarterly 
reporting to Boston’s Cabinet and Scrutiny and East Lindsey’s Executive Board and 
Overview Committee. The Q3 update report is attached at Appendix B.  2 projects 
completed in Q3 – community testing and vaccination site support and the Housing IT 
system and 2 projects that would not be taken forward – the shop front and ‘pop up’ 
shop recovery projects. 
Referencing risk management the portfolio holder advised that a strategic risk register is 
being drafted with Audit & Governance Committee with the workshop taking place on 
18th March.   
Finance reporting included notification that the revenue forecast showed a deficit 
position of £299k.  Confirmation that the report proposed the use of the COVID reserve 
to offset income reductions of £729k and the use of the Transformation Reserve to 
smooth contract costs of £256k and the specific and general reserves of the Council are 
forecast to be £17.350m at 31 March 2022.  The Capital spend at the end of Quarter 3 
was £1.433m against a full year budget of £5.593m 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Alternative reporting arrangements 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
64   BOSTON LEISURE PROJECT - FULL BUSINESS CASE FOR TOWNS 

FUND 
 

  

 

DECISION 

1. That Cabinet agrees the formal submission of the business case 

to Government, and approve delegation to the DCX - Growth in 

consultation with the Deputy Leader to make any necessary 

amendments to the business case prior to its submission.  

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

NW/MG 

 

Page 12



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

13 
 

2. That Cabinet agrees the principle of additional ‘phase 2’ works, 

which do not form part of the main business case and will not be 

funded through the Town Deal, and instructs officers to bring 

forward a separate costed business case around the 

repurposing of relevant parts of the site for alternative uses in  

3. That a full programme of Member Briefings and formal scrutiny 

to be undertaken prior to final decisions by full Council.  

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

Councillor Nigel Welton Portfolio Holder presented the report advising that the 
proposals form part of the Heads of Terms for a Boston Town Deal which were 
confirmed in March 2021 for £21.9m and subsequently seven projects were 
confirmed with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC), including improved Leisure facilities for Boston. The Leisure project has 
been allocated £2,425,092 of Towns Fund monies, pending Full Business Case 
approval due to be submitted in March 2022. 
The Boston Leisure project proposes to transform the existing Geoff Moulder 
Leisure Centre site, through significant remodelling and refurbishment. The central 
aim is to provide improved and remodelled facilities to support the wider area's 
health and wellbeing.  The Boston Leisure project is proposed to be brought forward 
in collaboration with the Mayflower (Boston College) which is the flagship Towns 
Fund project. The proposed location of the Mayflower centre is adjacent to the 
Leisure Centre and is providing a distinct opportunity to enable the wider 
regeneration of both sites including Rowley Road and the areas adjacent to the 
Maud Foster Drain. This combined project would aim to a single site/campus/village 
- with the potential to address Boston’s health, education, leisure and well-being 
needs, as well as meeting the requirements of the Towns Fund for the regeneration 
of place and providing improved facilities for residents both in the immediate area 
and wider Borough. Both the Council and Boston College have vested interests 
owing to existing land holdings, but also an established operational relationship 
between the two sites. 
This report is a follow on from the report presented to Cabinet in January 2022 
(Boston leisure project: Towns Fund - Mayflower and Leisure campus). 
The five case business case is based on the Towns Fund Delivery Partner Stage 2 

template and is comprised of the Strategic Case, Economic Case, Financial Case, 

Commercial Case and Management Case. The business case sets out the required 

information to enable DLUHC to approve the funding allocated to this project. 

Following approval of the Council. Once approved the Council will be able to draw 

down the funding required within the overall timeframe of the Towns Fund deal. It is 

important to note that the business case document is not a delivery plan at this stage. 

There will be further development of the business case and other project milestones 

before the Council commits to the building contract. These future milestones will 

enable the Council to further review the overall development costs, in use revenue 

costs, and operating model for example.  

The Business case should be read in conjunction with the following documents to 

provide the overriding context for investment into the project and delivery of the 

stated objectives: 

Page 13



• Boston Town Deal Investment Plan (TIP); 

• Government approved Towns Fund project variation.  

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

Do nothing. This option would require the project to be withdrawn from the Towns 
Fund programme and seek DLUHC approval to reallocate the funding to another 
project within the Town Investment Plan for Boston, or lose the opportunity of the 
funding. Given the messaging from DLHUC recently regarding project variations and 
the need for the Business Cases to be completed promptly, there is a significant risk 
that the funding could be lost. 
The allocated match funding would also be removed from the Council’s capital 
programme.  
This option is not recommended as the project has significant benefits for the 
residents of the Borough, and is part of a wider regenerative opportunity including the 
flagship Mayflower project. Considering both projects together has the potential to 
deliver much greater benefit. The scheme is considered to be deliverable subject to 
the identification of funding and as set out in the business case, offers value for 
money and will provide the catalyst for the rejuvenation and reinvigoration of an 
important asset for the town. The proposals contribute to a number of areas where 
the town scores lowly (including health and well-being indicators) and encouraging 
footfall to the town. Doing nothing would lose this opportunity as the Council would be 
unlikely to be able to fund and support such a project were it not for the Towns Fund. 
This option would also erode the partnership with Boston College and undermine the 
Councils reputation. 
Doing nothing over the medium to long term will also reinforce a sense of decline in 
the local community. The visual amenity of the local built environment will remain low 
and deter the ability of local partners and businesses to attract repeat visits to the 
local area. It will represent a failure to deliver the opportunities for our local 
communities included within the Boston Town Investment Plan and Heads of Term 
offer from HM Government. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  
 

None.  

 
Note:  the above item has been granted exemption from Call-In on the grounds of 
urgency.   
 
 

Page 14



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

15 
 

 
 
65  TOWNS FUND BUSINESS CASE 

 
 

DECISION 

 

That Cabinet approves the submission of the full business cases for 

the externally managed projects (attached as Appendices to this 

report):  Boston Railway Station and the Mayflower project.  

That Cabinet notes the submission of the following Towns Fund 

projects to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

(DLUHC): St Botolph’s Library and Lighting, Blenkin Memorial Hall, 

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics, and Healing the High 

Street and Shodfriars. These projects have been approved by DLUHC.  

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

NW/LR 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  
 

Councillor Nigel Welton Portfolio Holder presented the report advising that the  report 
updated on the Towns Fund process for approval of the business cases; each project 
requires the Council to support the submission of the business case as the 
accountable body for the Town Deal. Boston has received a Heads of Terms offer 
from Government of £21.9m. To secure the Town Deal funding, the projects which 
formed part of the Town Investment Plan have to submit business cases for approval 
to Government to release the funding allocation. 
There were 7 projects as part of the Boston Town Deal, there are 6 projects which 
are externally led and 1 project led and supported by Boston Borough Council. For 
all projects, the Council is the accountable body and has developed a delivery team, 
delivery arrangements and agreements. 
The Boston Railway Station project was externally led by EMR. The total cost for the 
project is £2,686,800 with the Towns Fund allocation being £2,500,000.  Boston 
Station is a gateway into the town and in its current condition, both aesthetically and 
in terms of the facilities offered it does not reflect a station in a town that is 
economically thriving and a place for people to choose as a town to live and work in. 
Historically, there has been a lack of investment in the East for EMR stations which 
had only added to the deterioration of buildings and outdated station services, making 
the station powerless to compete with stations in larger towns and cities. The 
investment into the full refurbishment of the station creates a credible statement to 
make the town a more attractive option to work and live in, to provide for the needs of 
an aspirational, skilled and healthy population.  Government strategy for the Midlands 
is focused on growth, connectivity, skills, enterprise, innovation, trade, and quality of 
life. The development will enhance services and facilities at the station, playing 
directly into the Levelling Up agenda by paying attention to what the needs of the 
community are to enable them to better connect to the station, installing 
contemporary designs and new infrastructure to modernise the station whilst future 
proofing the enhancements offering an avenue for further development and 
investments, leading to a strengthened local economy. The vision is to create a 
modern railway station offering enhanced facilities to better connect the community to 
the station. Providing an overall better customer experience whilst maintaining high 

Page 15



levels of security and safety. Creating a community hub and gateway to the town 
whilst preserving the historical features of the station.  
 
The Boston Mayflower project was externally led by Boston College. The total cost for 
the project is £16,071,000.  The Towns Fund allocation is £10,000,000 
Mayflower is an iconic building designed to welcome people into the college 
environment through a ‘non-traditional education aesthetic. The space will offer our 
showcase hair and beauty salons, a digital skills hub, employability/business support 
services, entrepreneurial start up space and coffee and restaurant outlets for our 
award-winning hospitality and catering department. Mayflower will coexist in a wider 
development that regenerates an entire area and includes a health and leisure facility 
thus creating a ‘destination’ for the community. This mix of education, enterprise and 
entertainment will encourage access and participation in learning through its ‘soft’ 
approach in a welcoming and inclusive space. 
The Mayflower is part of the regeneration of the Rowley Road area of Boston, it 
linked through improvements to public realm and accessibility to the re-modelled 
Leisure Centre. 

 

 
OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  
 
The Prospectus from DLUHC set out that agreeing a Town Deal with investment from 
the Towns Fund of up to £25m per place would be dependent on the government 
receiving high-quality proposals that meet the objective of the fund and follow the 
further guidance published. The Boston Town Deal Board and Council have approved 
the projects for submission following an extensive consultation and selection process. 
Failure to meet the agreed deadlines or submission of proposals or projects of 
insufficient quality, which do not meet the criteria and conditions, are likely to be 
deemed ineligible for this round of funding from the Towns Fund. It would also risk the 
positive working relationship established with Government departments. Without 
external funding these projects will not proceed as planned. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
Note:  the above item has been granted exemption from Call-In on the grounds of 
urgency.   
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Cabinet 
30 March 2022 

 

17 
 

 
 
 

Signed by the Chief Executive  

 
                                                                                 FRIDAY 1ST APRIL 2022 

 

 
These decisions will come into force (and may then be implemented) 
on the expiry of five clear working days after the date of this notice 
UNLESS the decisions are subjected to the Call-In procedure or are 
starred minutes requiring Full Council approval.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.40 pm 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Extract from BTAC Minutes – 24 March 2022  

 

39  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

The Democratic Services Delivery Manager presented the report advising a brief 

history of the consideration of the report to date.  

The Boston Town Area Committee (BTAC) had requested that Council consider 

conducting a Community Governance Review (CGR) of the town area of the 

Borough under Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007, with a view to establishing a Town Council within thearea of the town wards. 

That request had then been subsequently considered by the Corporate and 

Community Committee on 17 August 2021, when a recommendation was put 

forward to extend a CGR to the whole of the Borough area.  

At the meeting of the Cabinet held on 20 October it was agreed to refer the matter 

back to BTAC, proposing that an informal public consultation process be undertaken 

prior to the request for a CGR being reconsidered by Cabinet to allow Members to 

gauge the public appetite and interest in such a review, prior to the Council 

committing further resources. 

Committee were advised there were four options available to them: 

• To recommend that an informal consultation exercise be undertaken on the 

proposal for a Community Governance Review for the town centre area. 

• To recommend that prior to an informal consultation exercise be undertaken 

on the proposal for a Community Governance Review for the town centre 

area, Parish Councils be contacted to inform them of the proposed 

consultation and asked to consider if there were any issues within their 

particular parishes which they felt would necessitate a CGR and any issues 

identified be incorporated into the informal consultation exercise. 

• To recommend that a Community Governance Review is not undertaken at 

this time. 

• To recommend that a Community Governance Review be re-considered when 

the direction of local government reorganisation for Lincolnshire is known. 

Councillor Nigel Welton Portfolio Holder for the report provided Members with an 

overview of the Cabinet decision stating he wanted to make it clear that Cabinet 

were not being obstructive. Cabinet felt it was not appropriate for them to take 

Scrutiny’s recommendation or permit Scrutiny, to overrule a decision of BTAC with 

Scrutiny’s request for a borough wide review, without it coming back to BTAC.  

Cabinet’s recommendation to BTAC was that it carry out an initial informal review to 

gather supportive evidence for a full review, prior to moving into a full Corporate 

Governance Review for the whole of the Borough area. 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 1



Committee deliberation followed which included: 

Members’ recognised the potential forthcoming changes both in the form of a 

possible Unitary Council for Lincolnshire along with the potential two Council 

structure and their role within the current South and East Lincolnshire Council 

Partnership.  

Other issues included concerns in respect of the indicated costs of holding such a 

review in light of the changing financial climate and also the need for the Council to 

prioritise and focus its’ spending on existing services.  

As the number of concerns weighed heavy in their determination committee’s 

overriding agreement was that it would be foolhardy to commit to such funding at the 

current time. 

RESOLVED: That BTAC recommend that a Community Governance review be 

reconsidered when the direction of Local Government reorganisation for Lincolnshire 

is known. 

Page 20



 

    

 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 4 MAY 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE: 

MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT 

PROPOSED ADOPTION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 

MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: MARK STINSON – ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR GOVERNANCE AND 

MONITOIRNG OFFICER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee the Local Government Association 

(LGA) Model Code of Conduct and associated guidance. 

The Committee is asked to review the LGA Model Code of Conduct and to consider 

recommending its adoption to the Council. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the following be recommendations of the Audit and Governance Committee be supported 

and referred to Council: 

1. That the Model Code of Conduct at Appendix A be adopted, without amendment, as this 

Council’s Code of Conduct (including those parts shown in square brackets and being 

relevant to the Cabinet model operated by this Council). 

 

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Monitoring Officer to make amendments to 

the Protocol on Member and Employee Relations so far as is necessary to ensure 

consistency with the Model Code of Conduct. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 2



3. That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to update the Council’s Constitution 

accordingly. 

 

4. That the Council introduces a voluntary process for Members to sign up to the new 

Model Code of Conduct to demonstrate their understanding, acceptance and compliance 

with the Code, with signatory details published on the Council’s website. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

• To ensure that the Council has a robust, up-to-date Code of Conduct that provides clarity 

to members and residents as to expected standards of member behaviour.  

• To protect the democratic role of members, encourage good conduct, and safeguard the 

public’s trust and confidence in the role of councillors and in local government. 

• To help attract and retain councillors 

• To help avoid the kind of governance failures seen in some high profile local authorities 

which were at least in part caused by officer and/or member behaviours 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

To do nothing – which would result in retention of the existing Code of Conduct. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 In accordance with section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011, every local authority must adopt 

a Code of Conduct which deals with ‘the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted 
members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity’. 
 

1.2 The Council adopted its current Code of Conduct on 25 July 2012. It then re-affirmed the 
Code on 10 June 2013 and made some amendments, including (i) the addition of categories 
of ‘Local Non Pecuniary Interests’ (LNPIs), (ii) setting out how conflicts of interest should be 
dealt with, (iii) reinstating the register of gifts and hospitality and (iv) updating the 
descriptors attached to the Nolan Principles. On 21 January 2019, the Council further 
amended the Code of Conduct by linking certain Council policies to the Code of Conduct – 
including the Protocol on Member and Employee Relations, Members Data Protection 
Protocol, Whistleblowing Policy and Grievance Policy. This made a breach of any of those 
policies a breach of the Code of Conduct. 

 
1.3 On 30 January 2019 the House of Lords Committee on Standards in Public Life issued a 

report on Local Government Ethical Standards. The report made a number of 
recommendations, including recommendations in respect of the Code of Conduct. In 
particular, the Committee noted significant variance between the Codes adopted by 
different local authorities and recommended the creation of a Model Code of Conduct by 
the LGA. The Committee also noted that some key matters were missing from some local 
authority Codes, such as social media use, bullying and harassment and recommended that 
these issues should be included in any Model Code. 

 

Page 22



1.4 As a result of the report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life the LGA, in December 
2020, published a Model Code of Conduct (attached at Appendix A) and associated 
Guidance (attached at Appendix B). The Model Code was subject to wide consultation with 
the local authority sector, including consultation with elected members and Monitoring 
Officers. 

 
1.5 The LGA’s Model Code of Conduct is designed to protect the democratic role of members, 

encourage good conduct, and safeguard the public’s trust and confidence in the role of the 
councillor in local government. Whilst it can be adapted to local circumstances, a key 
benefit is in bringing consistency across the local government sector and this will be 
especially helpful where members serve on different tiers of local authority. The Model 
Code is relatively short and easy to read, and is therefore more accessible to members, 
officers and the public alike. The LGA will review the Model Code on an annual basis to 
ensure that it reflects developing legislation and case law and to ensure that it incorporates 
advances in technology and social media. 

 
1.6 Boston Borough Council’s current Code of Conduct is very short, and is largely restricted to 

the seven Nolan principles. It does not include a number of the obligations that are present 
in the Model Code and it provides no assistance or guidance in the use of modern 
technology and social media. Such a limited version of the Code of Conduct is not conducive 
to the aim, which I am sure all members will support, of upholding good standards of 
ethical behaviour. 
 

1.7 It is also important to note that the Council will likely be seen as a leading example by 
parish councils. A decision by BBC to adopt a more comprehensive Code of Conduct will 
very likely be followed by parish councils. The Monitoring Officer engaged with the 
Lincolnshire Association of Local Councils prior to submitting this report to Council. LALC 
has suggested that the Monitoring Officer (along with other Monitoring Officers in the 
County) attend a briefing session(s) with parish council representatives after parish councils 
have held their AGMs. 

 
2.0 MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
2.1 The Code of Conduct applies when a councillor acts in that capacity and the new Model 

Code provides much more detail on this point than the current Code – including (i) where a 
councillor misuses his/her position (a ‘do you know who I am’ scenario); and (ii) where a 
councillor gives the impression of acting in their capacity as a councillor even though they 
may have no authority to act as a councillor. The Guidance provides yet more detail on 
these points including worked examples (such as use of the title ‘councillor’ when posting 
on social media). Both the Model Code and the Guidance reflect current case law to assist 
in determining when a councillor acts in that capacity as opposed to their personal capacity. 
Boston’s current Code does not contain reference to misuse of position or giving the 
impression of acting as a councillor. 
 

2.2 The Model Code of Conduct contains a number of key obligations which are summarised 
below: 

 
(i) Respect 
 
Members must treat other members, officers and members of the public with respect. The 
Guidance states that respect for others is fundamental in any civilised society. It is 

Page 23



summarised in the Code and the Guidance as ‘politeness, courtesy and civility in behaviour, 
speech and the written word’. However, it is very important to note that both the Model 
Code and the Guidance recognise the right of a councillor to challenge, to criticise, and to 
disagree with ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. The Guidance also 
makes it clear that, in a political environment, a councillor’s freedom of expression extends 
to the expression of views that may shock, disturb, or offend others. The requirement for 
respect is not intended to stand in the way of lively debate.  
 
Members are also entitled to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of 
the public become abusive, intimidatory or threatening then members are entitled to cease 
any interaction with that individual and to report the matter to the Council. 
 
Respect does not appear in BBC’s current Code. 
 
(ii) Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 
Members must not bully or harass any person. Members must promote equalities in 
accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and must not discriminate unlawfully against any 
person. Bullying is defined as ‘offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an 
abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate denigrate or injure the 
recipient’. Harassment is defined as ‘conduct that causes alarm or distress or puts people in 
fear of violence’ and must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. Unlawful 
discrimination is where ‘someone is treated unfairly because of a protected characteristic’. 
There are a number of such protected characteristics, such as age, disability, etc. 
 
Bullying harassment and discrimination does not appear in BBC’s current Code (other than a 
brief mention of discrimination in the Nolan Principles).  
 
(iii) Impartiality of officers 
 
 
Councillors must not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone 
who works for or on behalf of the Council. At the heart of the relationship between officers 
and members is the importance of mutual respect. This obligation does not prevent 
councillors from disagreeing with officers, nor challenging officers robustly so long as 
conducted in a civil manner. 
 
This does not appear in BBC’s current Code, although the Code does currently link to the 
Protocol on Member and Employee Relations, which does have the effect of bringing 
member/officer relations within the remit of BBC’s current Code. 
 
(iv) Confidentiality and Access to Information 
 
Councillors must not disclose confidential/exempt information; must not improperly use 
information (gained solely as a consequence of being a councillor) for their own 
advancement or the advancement of friends/family/etc; and must not prevent anyone from 
obtaining information to which they are entitled in law. 
 
This does not appear in BBC’s current Code in this form, but some elements of it are 
contained within the Nolan Principles. 
 
(v) Disrepute 

Page 24



 
Councillors must not bring their role, or the authority, into disrepute. Disrepute can be 
defined as a lack of good reputation or respectability. Examples of behaviours that might 
cause disrepute include dishonesty and deceitfulness and could be displayed in a number of 
ways – such as circulating highly inappropriate, vexatious or malicious communications, 
making demonstrably dishonest statements or displaying abusive and threatening 
behaviour. 
 
This does not appear in BBC’s current Code, but some of the behaviours that would lead to 
disrepute are covered by the Nolan Principles. 
 
(vi) Use of Position 
 
A Councillor must not use, or attempt to use, her/his position to the advantage or 
disadvantage of her/himself. 
 
In BBC’s Code of Conduct this is set out in the Nolan Principles. 
 
(vii) Use of local authority resources and facilities 
 
Councillors must not misuse council resources. This includes a requirement to use council 
resources in accordance with the Council’s requirements and to ensure that Council 
resources and facilities are not used for political purposes (except where approved by the 
Council – examples of acceptable use include ward surgeries and political group meetings). 
 
This does not appear in BBC’s current Code. 
 
(viii) Complying with the Code of Conduct 
 
The Model Code includes a requirement that members attend Code of Conduct training 
provided by the Council. Councillors must also co-operate with any Standards investigation, 
must not seek to intimidate any person involved in an investigation, and must comply with 
any sanction imposed following any finding of a breach. 
 
This does not appear in BBC’s current Code. 
 
(ix) Interests 
 
The Model Code of Conduct includes a requirement to register certain interests and not to 
participate in decisions relating to those interests. These include the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests that members are already required to disclose and ‘Other Registrable Interests’ 
which are similar to (but expand beyond) the ‘Local Choice Interests’ that are contained in 
BBC’s current Code. A comparison of Other/Local Registrable Interests is set out below: 
 
BBC’s current Code of Conduct: 
 
Members must register any body of which they are a member or in a position of general 
control or management either:-  
 

(1)  exercising functions of a public nature; or  
(2)  directed to charitable purposes; or  

Page 25



(3)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 
policy (including any political party or trade union) 

 
 
Model Code of Conduct: 
 
You must register as an Other Registerable Interest : 
 

a)  any unpaid directorships 
b )  any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority 
c)  any body 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)  
 

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management 

 

The Model Code of Conduct also deals with the disclosure of interests that do not need to 

be registered as either Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other Registrable Interests but 

should nevertheless be declared in a meeting. These are matters that may either directly 

relate to your financial interests or wellbeing (or those of a relative or close associate) or 

those which may affect such interest or wellbeing. Depending upon (i) whether the matter 

directly relates or affects your interest or wellbeing, and (ii) the extent of the effect, and (iii) 

whether members of the public are permitted to speak – members may or may not be able 

to address the meeting  (but not vote) or may instead be required to leave the room. 

Other Interests are covered by BBC’s current Code of Conduct, but are more limited in 

scope – with a shorter list of Other/Local Choice Interests. Guidance on how non-registrable 

interests should be handled is more detailed in the Model Code of Conduct than in the 

current Code. 

(x) Gifts and Hospitality 

Councillors must not accept gifts or hospitality, regardless of the value, if they could give 

rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion that they may influence a 

councillor to show favour to persons in their dealings with the Council. Any other gifts and 

hospitality valued at £50 or more must be registered with the Monitoring Officer, as must 

any offer of such gift or hospitality that the Councillor has refused. 

The registration of gifts and hospitality valued at £50 or more and the registration of gifts 

and hospitality that have been refused are already obligations in BBC’s current Code of 

Conduct 

3.0 COUNCILLOR COMMENTS 
 
3.1 Two LGA member workshops were held in August/September this year on ethical 

behaviours, along with two training sessions on the Model Code of Conduct in September. 
Member feedback from the workshops on ethical behaviour included a general level of 
consensus that good/ethical behaviour is essential in local government. Members identified 

Page 26



many strands to good ethical behaviour, all of which are supported by the Model Code of 
Conduct. A small selection of the key issues raised in the workshops include: 

 

• The importance of being able to challenge bullying and poor behaviour 

• Promoting the values of high standards of behaviour 

• Maintaining good relationships with officers 

• Maintaining confidentiality 

• Demonstration of openness and honesty and leading by example 

• Protecting the reputation of the Council 

• Building community trust and community cohesion 

• Treating others as you would wish to be treated yourself 
 
3.2 The Standards Sub-Committee met on 9 March 2022 and considered adoption of the Model 

Code of Conduct. The Sub-Committee indicated full support for adoption of the Model 
Code. The Sub-Committee also recommended (i) that members be invited to ‘sign up’ 
(voluntarily) to the new Code of Conduct in order to demonstrate their understanding, 
acceptance and compliance with the Code; and (ii) that a register of which members have 
voluntarily signed up to the Code be published on the Council’s website. 

 
3.3 The report was also considered by the Audit and Governance Committee on 28 March 

2022, and all recommendations were supported. 
 
4.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 As Monitoring Officer, my view is that the Model represents a robust Code of Conduct 

which is more comprehensive than the current BBC Code of Conduct, is written in such a 
way as to be accessible and understandable to all, and supports all of the key points raised 
by members in the recent Ethical Behaviours Workshop. Taken together with the LGA 
Guidance, it is much easier for members, officers and the public to understand what is 
expected in terms of standards of member conduct.  

 
4.2 In my view there is no need to link other policies, such as the Protocol on Member and 

Employee Relations, as the Model Code is sufficiently robust and detailed. Other policies 
are reference as appropriate under the Model Code (such as in use of Council resources). I 
would, however, recommend a review of the Protocol on Member and Employee Relations 
to ensure that it is consistent with the Model Code. 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Adoption of a Code of Conduct is a legal requirement under s27(2) of the Localism Act 2011. The 

Council has discretion as to the content of any such Code of Conduct. 

Similarly, the Localism Act 2011 obliges the Council to have certain arrangements in place to 

consider complaints about alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct. 

Page 27



 

 

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS  
 
As has been seen in a number of authorities, serious governance failings can result from poor 
standards of conduct – whether by officers or members. 
 
Failure to have a robust and effective Code of Conduct is also a reputational risk to the Council. 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

The Equality Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty. This duty applies to the 
exercise of all public functions. The duty applies to all of the decisions made in the course of 
exercising public functions, not just to policy development and high-level decision-making. 
Those who exercise its functions must be aware of the general equality duty’s requirements. 
Compliance with the general equality duty involves a conscious approach and state of mind. 
General regard to the issue of equality is not enough to comply. The Model Code of Conduct 
includes clear obligations in respect of compliance with equality obligations. 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None 

 

CONSULTATION 

As referred to in paragraph 3 above, all members have been offered the opportunity to participate 

in one of two separate workshops on ethical behaviours. Whilst not all members took up this offer, 

those members who did participate provided very useful feedback and this has been incorporated 

in this report. 

The Monitoring has also engaged with the Lincolnshire Association of Parish Councils and parish 

council representatives via the Standards Sub-Committee. 

The proposed adoption of the Model Code of Conduct has been considered by the Standards Sub-

Committee and the Audit and Governance Committee prior to being presented to Council to 

consider its adoption. 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

Page 28



APPENDIX A LGA Model Code of Conduct 

APPENDIX B LGA Guidance on the Model Code of Conduct 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Consideration of the current Code of Conduct has been previously considered as follows: 

Name of body Date 

Council 25 July 2012 

Council 10 June 2013 

Audit and Governance Committee 23 March 2018 

Council 21 January 2019 

Standards Sub-Committee 9 March 2022 

Audit and Governance Committee 28 March 2022 

 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Mark Stinson, Assistant Director- Governance and 

Monitoring Officer 

Signed off by:  

Approved for publication:  

 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Association   

Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020   
 

 

Joint statement   

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our  country’s   

system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held  accountable and all  

adopt the behaviors and responsibilities associated with the  role. Our conduct as an   

individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors.  We want the role of councillor to  

be one that people aspire to. We also want  individuals from a range of backgrounds and   

circumstances to be putting themselves  forward to become councillors.   

As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and  deliver   

local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to  represent our local  

area, taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have  both an individual and   

collective responsibility to meet these expectations by  maintaining high standards and   

demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging  behaviour which falls below expectations.   

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being   

intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by anyone, including the general public.   

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good  conduct and  

safeguard the public’s trust in local government.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



Page 2 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

  
Introduction   

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code  of   

Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the  sector,   

as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to  aspire to high   

standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils  to adopt in whole   

and/or with local amendments.   

All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct.   

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit-  for-  

purpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in  legislation. The  

LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and  councillors on the   

application of the Code and the National Association of Local  Councils (NALC) and the   

county associations of local councils can offer advice and  support to town and parish   

councils.   

 

Definitions   

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted   

member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member”  is defined in  

the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member  of the authority but  

who   

a)  is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;   

b)  is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint  sub-  
committee of the authority;   

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of  that   
committee or sub-committee”.   

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district  

councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and  rescue   

authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined   

authorities and National Park authorities.   

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct   

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling  the   

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and  to set out  

the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is  also to protect   

you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the  reputation of local   

government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of  all councillors and your  

specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The  LGA encourages the use of   

support, training and mediation prior to action being  taken using the Code. The   

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain  public confidence in the role of   

councillor and local government.   

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 32



Page 3 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
General principles of councillor conduct   

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public  services,  

including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers;  should uphold  

the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan  Principles.   

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed   

specifically for the role of councillor.   

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:   

•  I act with integrity and honesty   

•  I act lawfully   

•  I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and   

•  I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role  of   
councillor.   

In undertaking my role:   

•  I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community   

•  I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any   

person   

•  I avoid conflicts of interest   

•  I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and   

•  I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local   
authority’s requirements and in the public interest.   

 

Application of the Code of Conduct   

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of  acceptance of  

the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted  member and continues to  

apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.   

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor   
which may  include when:   

•  you misuse your position  as a councillor    

•  Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public  with   
knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;    

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:   

 

•  at face-to-face meetings   

•  at online or telephone meetings   

•  in written communication   

•  in verbal communication   

•  in non-verbal communication   

•  in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and   
comments.   

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at  all times   
when acting as a councillor.   

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the  Code of   

Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring  Officer on any   

matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish  councillors are   

encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to  the Monitoring   

Page 33



Page 4 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Officer.   

 

Standards of councillor conduct   

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required  of 

you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a  complaint may  be 

made against you, which may result in action being taken.   

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they  should be  

followed.   

General Conduct   

1.  Respect   

As a councillor:   

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.   

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of  partner   

organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with  respect and   
respect the role they play.   

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written  word.   

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a  councillor, you  

can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas,  opinions and policies in a  

robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject  individuals, groups of people or   
organisations to personal attack.   

 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude  and   

offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in  councillors.   

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members  of the  

public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop  any   

conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local  authority, the   

relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow  councillors, where   

action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct,  and local authority   

employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local  authority’s councillor-  

officer protocol.   

2.  Bullying, harassment and discrimination   

As a councillor:   

2.1 I do not bully any person.   

2.2 I do not harass any person.   

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any   

person.   

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as   
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power   

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying  might be  

a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on  social media, in  

emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social  events and may not always  

be obvious or noticed by others.   

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that  causes   

alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least  

two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose  unwanted communications and   

Page 34



Page 5 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

contact upon a person in a manner that could be  expected to cause distress or fear in any   

reasonable person.   

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected   

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's   

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender  reassignment,   

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion  or belief, sex and   

sexual orientation.   

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a  central  

role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's  performance   

and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public  commitment to equality   

across public services.   

 

3.  Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor:   

 

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of   

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.   

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless  they   

are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a  way that would  

undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to  understand, for example,   

their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the  content of a report that they   
have written. However, you must not try and force them  to act differently, change their   

advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so  would prejudice their professional   

integrity.   

4.  Confidentiality and access to information   

As a councillor:   

4.1 I do not disclose information:   

a.  given to me in confidence by anyone   

b.  acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be   

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless   

i.  I have received the consent of a person authorised to give  it;   

ii.  I am required by law to do so;   

iii.  the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of   

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third   

party agrees not to disclose the information to any other   

person; or   

iv.  the disclosure is:   

1.  reasonable and in the public interest; and   

2.  made in good faith and in compliance with the   

reasonable requirements of the local authority; and   

3.  I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its   

release.   

 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role  as a  

councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family  members,  

my employer or my business interests.   

 
4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled  to by   

law.   

Page 35



Page 6 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and  printed   

materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined  circumstances. You should  

work on this basis, but there will be times when it is  required by law that discussions,   

documents and other information relating to or held  by the local authority must be treated in   

a confidential manner. Examples include  personal data relating to individuals or information  

relating to ongoing negotiations.   

 
 

5.  Disrepute   

As a councillor:   

 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.   

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and  your   

actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary  members of the   

public. You should be aware that your actions might have an  adverse impact on you, other   

councillors and/or your local authority and may lower  the public’s confidence in your or your   

local authority’s ability to discharge your/its functions. For example, behaviour that is   

considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute.   

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able  to   

constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes  undertaken by  

the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of  Conduct.   

6.  Use of position   

As a councillor:   

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage  or   

disadvantage of myself or anyone else.   

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain  opportunities,   

responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that  will impact others.   

However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to  further your own or   

others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.   

7.  Use of local authority resources and facilities   

As a councillor:   

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.   

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising their use 

by   

others:   

a.  act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and   

b.  ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless   

that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be   

conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of  

the office to which I have been elected or  appointed.   

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you  in   

carrying out your duties as a councillor.   

Examples include:   

•  office support   

•  stationery   

•  equipment such as phones, and computers   

•  transport   

Page 36



Page 7 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

•  access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.   

 
These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more  effectively and  

are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be  used in accordance with  

the purpose for which they have been provided and the  local authority’s own policies   
regarding their use.   

8.  Complying with the Code of Conduct   

As a Councillor:   

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.   

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or  

determination.   

 
8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to  be  

involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.   

 
8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have   

breached the Code of Conduct.   

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to   

have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in  the local   

authority or its governance.  If you do not understand or are concerned  about the local   

authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this  with your Monitoring   

Officer.   

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority   

9.  Interests   

As a councillor:   

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.   

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and   
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority .   

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and  fellow   

councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  The register  is 

a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue  arises. The register   

also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and  a willingness to be held   

accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding  whether or not you should   

disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for  you to know early on if others think  

that a potential conflict might arise. It is also  important that the public know about any   

interest that might have to be disclosed by  you or other councillors when making or taking   

part in decisions, so that decision  making is seen by the public as open and honest. This   

helps to ensure that public  confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.   

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set   

out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.   

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If  in   

doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.   

 
 
 

 

Page 37



Page 8 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

10. Gifts and hospitality   

As a councillor:   

10.1  I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value,  which  

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a  reasonable   

suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from  persons seeking to  

acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from persons   

who may apply to the local authority for any  permission, licence or other  

significant advantage.   

 
10.2  I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an  

estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.   

 
10.3  I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or   

hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept.   

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should   

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you  reasonably   

believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The  presumption should always  

be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However,  there may be times when such a  

refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in  which case you could accept it but must  

ensure it is publicly registered. However,  you do not need to register gifts and hospitality   

which are not related to your role as  a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends  

and family. It is also important  to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and  

hospitality associated  with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your   

Monitoring Officer for guidance.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 38



Page 9 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Appendices   

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life   

The principles are:   

Selflessness   

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.   

Integrity   

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to  people or   

organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  They should not  

act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material  benefits for themselves,   
their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve  any interests and relationships.   

Objectivity   

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,  using   

the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.   

Accountability   

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions  and   

must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.   

Openness   

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent  manner.   

Information should not be withheld  from  the public  unless there  are  clear  and  lawful   

reasons for so doing.   

Honesty   

Holders of public office should be truthful.   

Leadership   

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They  should  

actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to  challenge poor   

behaviour wherever it occurs.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 39



Page 10 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Appendix B Registering interests   

Within 28 days of becoming a member or  your re-election or re-appointment to office you must   
register  with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out  in   
Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant   
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register    
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2   
(Other Registerable  Interests).   

 
 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are  
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below.   

 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband  
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.   

1.  You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within  28  

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a  registered  

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.   

 

2.  A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the   

councillor, or a person connected with the  councillor, being subject to violence   
or intimidation.   

 
3.  Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer  with  

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring  Officer   

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.   

 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest   

4.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your  Disclosable   

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not   

participate  in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room  

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you  do not  

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.   

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate   

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.   

 

5.  [Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is   
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,   
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or   
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it ]  

 

Disclosure of Other  Registerable Interests   

6.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must 

disclose the interest. You may speak on the  matter only if members of the public are 

also allowed to speak at  the meeting  but otherwise must not take part in any 

discussion or vote on the matter  and  must not remain in the room unless you have 

been granted a dispensation. If  it  is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose 

the nature of the interest.   

 

 

Page 40



Page 11 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests   
 

7.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial  interest   

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a   

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must  disclose the  

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the  public are also allowed  

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take  part in any discussion or vote  

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a   

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you  do not have to disclose the nature of   
the interest.   

 

8.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –   

a.  your own financial interest or well-being;   

b.  a financial interest or well-being of a  relative or close associate; or   

c.  a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests  as    

set out in Table 2   

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the   
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied   

 

9.  Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial interest or well-being:   

a.  to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority  of   
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;   

b.  a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe  that it   
would affect your view of the wider public interest   

You may speak on the matter only if members  of the public are also allowed to   

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not  take part in any discussion or vote   

on the matter and must not remain in the  room unless you have been granted a   

dispensation.   

If it is a ‘sensitive  interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.   

 
10. [Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter 

to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  
your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must 
not take any steps or  further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else 
to deal with it]  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 41



Page 12 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests   

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in  the  

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 Any employment, office, trade,   

profession or vocation carried on for  
profit or gain.   

 

Sponsorship   Any payment or provision of any other   
financial benefit (other than from the   
council) made to the councillor during  the  
previous 12-month period for expenses   
incurred by him/her in  carrying out   
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards  
his/her election  expenses.   
This includes any payment or financial   
benefit from a trade union within the   
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour  
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.   

Contracts   Any contract made between the   
councillor or his/her spouse or civil   

partner or the person with whom the   

Subject  Description   

Employment, office, trade,   
profession or vocation   

Page 42



Page 13 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 councillor is living as if they were   
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which   
such person is a partner, or an incorporated  
body of which such person  is a director* or   
a body that such person has a beneficial   
interest in the securities  of*) and the council  
—   

(a) under which goods or services are to  be  

provided or works are to be executed; and   

(b) which has not been fully discharged.   

Land and Property   Any beneficial interest in land which is  
within the area of the council.   
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude,   
interest or right in or over land which does  
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or  
civil partner or the person with whom the   
councillor is living as if they were spouses/  
civil partners (alone or jointly with another)  
a right to occupy  or to receive income.   

Licenses   Any licence (alone or jointly with others)  to  
occupy land in the area of the council  for a  
month or longer   

Corporate tenancies   Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s  
knowledge)—   

(a) the landlord is the council; and   
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,  
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the   
person with whom the councillor is living as  
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a   
partner of or  a director* of or has a   
beneficial interest in the securities* of.   

Securities   Any beneficial interest in securities* of a  
body where—   

(a) that body (to the councillor’s   

knowledge) has a place of business or   
land in the area of the council; and   

(b) either—   

(i) ) the total nominal value of the   
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one  
hundredth of the total issued share   

capital of that body; or   
(ii) if  the  share  capital  of  that  body  is  of  
more  than  one  class,  the  total  nominal  
value  of  the  shares  of  any  one  class  in  
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse  or  
civil partner or the person with whom  the  
councillor is living as if they were   

Page 43



Page 14 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and   

provident society.   

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of  a   

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and  Markets Act  

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money  deposited with a building   

society.   

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests   

 

You must register as an Other Registerable Interest : 
 
   a) any unpaid directorships 

b ) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 
management and to which you  are nominated or appointed by your authority   

c) any body   

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature   

(ii)  directed to charitable purposes or    

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion   
or policy (including any political party or trade union)   
 

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 spouses/civil partners have a beneficial  
interest exceeds one hundredth of the  
total issued share capital of that class.   

Page 44



Page 15 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life   

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider  the   

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their  report on   

Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to  implement any of the   

recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.   

The recommendations cover:   

•  Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when  the   
Code of Conduct applies   

•  The introduction of sanctions   

•  An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman   

•  Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)   
Regulations 2012   

•  Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code   

•  Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person   

•  That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable   
Pecuniary Interests should be abolished   

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice   
recommendations. These are:   

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and  harassment in  

codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and  harassment,   

supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered  by such a definition.   

Best  practice  2:  Councils  should  include  provisions  in  their  code  of  conduct  requiring  

councillors  to  comply  with  any  formal  standards  investigation  and  prohibiting  trivial  or  

malicious allegations by councillors.   

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year  and   

regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations  and   

neighbouring authorities.   

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors  and   

the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council  premises.   

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at  least   

once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.   

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest  test   

against which allegations are filtered.   

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent   

Persons.   

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake a  

formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 45



Page 16 of 16 
Approved 3rd 12.2020  
Updated 19 January and 17 May 2021 

 

 
 
 

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to  dismiss   

as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.   

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of  misconduct   

following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as  soon as possible  

on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of  the code engaged by   

the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the  reasoning of the decision-maker,   

and any sanction applied.   

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible  guidance   

on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the  process for   

handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and  outcomes.   

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish  councillor   

towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather than the clerk in  

all but exceptional circumstances.   

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support  and   

management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish  councils   

within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with  adequate training,   

corporate support and resources to undertake this work.   

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any   

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps  should   

include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake  the   

investigation.   

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or  which   

they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture  of their   

relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities  should abide by  

the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas  and minutes and annual   

reports in an accessible place.   

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or  group  

whips to discuss standards issues.   

 

The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still  

fit for purpose.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 1/43

[]

Home [/] >  Publications [/publications]

We are pleased to publish this supporting guidance which is aimed to help
understanding and consistency of approach towards the code. The code, together with
the guidance, has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good
conduct, and safeguard the public’s trust and confidence in the role of councillor in
local government.

08 Jul 2021

Guidance on Local Government Association Model
Councillor Code of Conduct

Part 1 - Introduction

In December 2020, the Local Government Association (LGA) developed and published a Model Councillor Code of Conduct
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020] in association with
key partners and following extensive consultation with the sector. This was in response to the recommendation of the Committee of
Standards in Public life Local Government Ethical Standards 2019. The code was part of our work on supporting all tiers of local
government to continue to aspire to high standards of leadership and performance, and our civility in public life programme.

The code is a template for Local Authorities to adopt in whole and or with amendments to take into account local circumstances.

Our aim was to make the code relatively short and easy to read rather than an overly-complex legal document as it needed to be
accessible to councillors, officers, and the public alike. The consultation response also asked for supporting guidance to help
understand some of the key provisions in greater depth with examples and case illustrations.

We are therefore pleased to publish this supporting guidance which is aimed to help understanding and consistency of approach
towards the code.

The code together with the guidance have been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct, and safeguard the
public’s trust and confidence in the role of councillor in local government. While it sets out the minimum standards of behaviour
expected, together with the guidance, it is designed to encourage councillors to model the high standards expected of councillors, to be
mutually respectful even if they have personal or political differences, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out the type
of conduct that could lead to complaints being made of behaviour falling below the standards expected of councillors and in breach of
the code. It is also to protect councillors, the public, local authority officers and the reputation of local government.

This guidance embeds the provisions of the code and is structured to enable each chapter to be directly accessed. We have also
produced a standalone document without the embedded code intended to provide easy access to the guidance.

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this guidance and the code to ensure it continues to be fit for purpose, incorporating
advances in technology, social media, case law and changes in legislation.

For the purposes of this guidance, we have adopted the definitions used in the Code of Conduct, for “councillor” and “local authority”.

Any comments on the use of the guidance or suggestions for improvement would be welcomed and should be sent to
ModelCode@local.gov.uk [mailto:ModelCode@local.gov.uk]

General principles of Councillor conduct

  Print   TopPage 47

https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020
mailto:ModelCode@local.gov.uk


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 2/43

The Seven Principles of Public Life (also known as the Nolan Principles) outline the ethical standards those working in the public sector
are expected to adhere to. The principles apply to all public office holders at all levels including ministers, civil servants, councillors, and
local authority officers, as well as private and voluntary organisations delivering services paid for by public funds. The principles are set
out in Appendix 2 [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct#appendix-2-general-principles-] below.

These principles underpin the standards that councillors should uphold and form the basis for the Code of Conduct, where the
principles have been translated into a series of clear rules. While fundamental to the Code of Conduct, the principles are not part of the
rules of the code and should be used for guidance and interpretation only.

Application of the Model Councillors' Code of Conduct

When does the Code apply?
S27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 says that a local authority must adopt ‘a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members
and co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity.’

The term ‘capacity’ is not further defined in the Act. However, the Model Code states that:

The Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor which may include when:

you misuse your position as a councillor
your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a
councillor.

This means it applies when you are carrying out your official duties, for example when you are considering or discussing local authority
business, either as a councillor or representing the local authority on an outside body. 

There is no formal description of what the role of a councillor is, but aside from formal local authority business it would include
promoting and representing the local authority in the local community and acting as a bridge between the community and the local
authority. The LGA’s Guidance
[https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.166%20Councillors%20Guide%202019_08_0.pdf] for new councillors
is a helpful reference point. 

The code does not, therefore, apply solely when you are in local authority meetings or on local authority premises.

The code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

This includes interactions with the public as well as with fellow councillors and local authority officers.

Acting as a private individual
For something to fall within the code there must be a clear link to a local authority function or your role as a councillor. For example, an
argument with a neighbour which does not relate to local authority business would not engage the code, even if your neighbour
happens to know you are a councillor and therefore complains to the local authority about being treated disrespectfully.

at face-to-face meetings

at online or telephone meetings

in written communication

in verbal communication

in non-verbal communications

in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements, and comments.

  Print   TopPage 48

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.166%20Councillors%20Guide%202019_08_0.pdf


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 3/43

Example
A councillor and an officer had a personal relationship. The councillor sent and encouraged the officer to send inappropriate
social media messages, including messages of a sexual nature, during office hours. The panel rejected arguments that the
councillor had been acting in an entirely personal capacity. It found that the councillor could not divorce himself from his role as
the officer’s quasi-employer and that, when sending or encouraging the officer to send the messages during working hours, he
was acting in his official capacity.

It is not always immediately apparent in which capacity you are acting, therefore in situations where there may be ambiguity it may be
helpful if you can make clear to people in which capacity you are engaging with them.

While the Code does not apply to your non-councillor roles, what you do as a councillor could impact on your position in those other
roles.

Political party or group rules may also require you as a councillor to demonstrate certain behaviours as a private individual and failure to
do so can result in sanctions from political groups.

Under the Local Government Act 1972 councillors can be disqualified from being a councillor due to matters in their private life, such as
being subject to a bankruptcy order or receiving a custodial sentence of three months or longer (whether or not suspended).

In what circumstances might I give the impression to a reasonable member of the public that I was engaged on local authority
business?
When you use or attempt to use your position as a councillor to seek to gain an advantage for yourself or someone close to you or to
disadvantage someone this is an attempt to misuse your position and therefore falls within the scope of the Code of Conduct.

A number of factors will need to be taken into account to determine whether or not you had used or attempted to use your position as a
councillor.

For example:

Examples
Attempting to misuse your position as a councillor would include if you threaten to use your position improperly to block’s
someone’s planning, licence or grant application. In effect you would be doing something that only a councillor could do even if
as a matter of fact, you did not have the power to do so. That may include an assumption, for example, that you would put
inappropriate pressure on officers or fellow councillors or lobby behind the scenes for a particular outcome. It should not be up
to a member of the public to have to work out whether you are in fact on a planning committee.

Another example would be disclosing confidential information improperly you had received because of your role as a councillor.

A councillor returning from a party got into an argument with a taxi driver. When he arrived home, he refused to pay the fare and
when he spoke to the manager of the taxi company, he said that he was a councillor and would make sure that the taxi driver’s
licence was withdrawn by the council. While he was entitled to dispute the payment if he was dissatisfied with the service he
had received he was found to have breached the code by invoking his office and seeking to misuse his position to intimidate the
manager and driver and to seek to gain an advantage for himself, notwithstanding the fact that he did not in reality have the
ability to carry out his threat.

writing to someone on local authority headed paper or using a local authority email address may lead someone to
assume you were writing in your capacity as a councillor

handing out a business card where you describe yourself as a councillor may also lead to that assumption

wearing official local authority regalia.

  Print   TopPage 49



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 4/43

Social media postings
Simply describing yourself as a councillor in a social media posting or at the top of your page or in your username or profile, for
example, does not of itself mean that every posting you make is covered by the Code. There must be a link within the individual posting
or thread to your role as a councillor or to local authority business. However, even if you do not describe yourself as a councillor you
may fall within the scope of the code if you are discussing local authority business.

For example, a posting which is simply discussing a recent football match is not covered by the code even if you have described
yourself as a councillor. However, if you make a posting threatening a fellow councillor or officer that would fall within the code even if
you have not described yourself as a councillor as it relates to local authority business or your role as a councillor.

Each matter would need to be looked at on a case-by-case basis (see guidance on ‘disrespect, bullying and harassment in Part 2
for further information [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct#part-2-general-obligations-under-the-code-of-conduct] ).

You should be very careful when describing yourself as a councillor as seeing the word “councillor” may lead to assumptions amongst
the community that you are acting as a councillor.

To help avoid some of these issues, some councillors have found it helpful to have separate social media profiles for personal and local
authority use, though even the strictest privacy settings are no guarantee that posts or actions will remain private. As a rule of thumb,
never post anything online you would not be comfortable saying or sharing in a public meeting. If your local authority has guidance on
the effective use of social media this can help.

The LGA has published guidance on councillors [https://local.gov.uk/councillors-and-social-media] and social media.

Examples
Following a heavy snowstorm which meant a local street market could not go ahead a councillor posted on the local community
Facebook page that a certain local authority officer should be sacked for failing to put adequate arrangements in place to clear
the snow. Even though it was not posted on a local authority page and he did not explicitly describe himself as a councillor in the
post he was found to have breached the code by treating an officer with disrespect and seeking to put undue pressure on
officers.

A councillor who described himself as such in his Twitter profile made insulting and offensive comments about the Prime
Minister which led to complaints being made to his local authority. He was found not to have breached the code as the
comments did not directly relate to his role as a councillor or local authority business but were seen as wider political comments.

What does acting as a representative of my local authority mean?
You are acting as a representative of the local authority when you are sitting on an outside body to which you have been appointed by
the local authority, for example.

You would also be considered a representative of the local authority where you were attending an external function or conference on
behalf of the local authority or as the local authority’s nominated delegate.

You would not be considered as a representative of the local authority where you were attending an event in a party-political role, for
example at a political party’s annual conference. In that situation you would be subject to any relevant party rules.

Matters in party group meetings would also normally not be covered by the code as they are more matters for a party to regulate.
However, if you are clearly trying to improperly influence fellow councillors or put undue pressure on them in relation to local authority
business for example then relevant provisions of the code would apply. The same would apply to social media groups you may be a
member of, such as a WhatsApp group set up for your local authority group.

What if I sit on more than one local authority?
If you sit on more than one local authority, you are subject to the code and associated procedures of the local authority you are
representing at any one time. As such, if you are on a district council and a parish council, you would be bound by the district code
when attending district council meetings or speaking to district council officers; and bound by the parish council code when attending
parish council meetings or speaking to parish council officers.

  Print   TopPage 50

https://local.gov.uk/councillors-and-social-media


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 5/43

Where your local authorities have the same code, the same rules would apply and, for example, your completed register of interests
should be the same on both tiers.

What is a co-opted member?
The code also applies to co-opted members under the Localism Act. A co-opted member under the Act is someone who is entitled to
vote on any matter to be decided at a local authority committee or sub-committee.

A parish councillor who has been co-opted to fill a casual vacancy where an election has not been held is also covered by the Code of
Conduct in the same way as if they had been elected.

It does not, therefore include co-opted members who do not have voting rights, nor does it cover, for example, an Independent Person
appointed under s28 of the Localism Act to support the local authority on standards matters.

However, it would be good practice to ask such councillors to agree to abide by the code of conduct and to inform the monitoring officer
of any interests they might have. While they would not formally fall within the statutory framework for complaint handling, they can be
removed from their role by the local authority should they be found to have committed a serious breach of the code so it is important
that they are also aware of the expected standards of behaviour.

Part 2 – General obligations under the Code of Conduct

Respect
As a councillor:

1. I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.
2. I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner organisations and those volunteering for the
local authority with respect and respect the role they play.

Showing respect to others is fundamental to a civil society. As an elected or appointed representative of the public it is important to treat
others with respect and to act in a respectful way. Respect means politeness, courtesy and civility in behaviour, speech, and in the
written word. It also relates to all forms of communications councillors undertake, not just in meetings. Rude, offensive, and
disrespectful behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in its elected representatives.

Respect

The key roles and responsibilities of councillors; representing and serving your communities and taking decisions on their behalf,
require councillors to interact and communicate effectively with others. Examples of councillor interaction and communication include
talking to constituents, attending local authority meetings, representing the local authority on outside bodies, and participating in
community meetings and events. In turn this means that as a councillor you are required to interact with many different people, often
from diverse backgrounds and with different or conflicting needs and points of view.

You will engage in robust debate at times and are expected to express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions,
and policies. Doing these things in a respectful way will help you to build and maintain healthy working relationships with fellow
councillors, officers, and members of the public, it encourages others to treat you with respect and helps to avoid conflict and stress.
Respectful and healthy working relationships and a culture of mutual respect can encourage positive debate and meaningful
communication which in turn can increase the exchange of ideas, understanding and knowledge.

Examples of ways in which you can show respect are by being polite and courteous, listening and paying attention to others, having
consideration for other people’s feelings, following protocols and rules, showing appreciation and thanks and being kind. In a local
government context this can mean using appropriate language in meetings and written communications, allowing others time to speak
without interruption during debates, focusing any criticism or challenge on ideas and policies rather than personalities or personal
attributes and recognising the contribution of others to projects.

Disrespectful behaviour
Failure to treat others with respect will occur when unreasonable or demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against or about
another. The circumstances in which the behaviour occurs are relevant in assessing whether the behaviour is disrespectful. The
circumstances include the place where the behaviour occurs, who observes the behaviour, the character and relationship of the people
involved and the behaviour of anyone who prompts the alleged disrespect.

  Print   TopPage 51



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 6/43

Disrespectful behaviour can take many different forms ranging from overt acts of abuse and disruptive or bad behaviour to insidious
actions such as bullying and the demeaning treatment of others. It is subjective and difficult to define. However, it is important to
remember that any behaviour that a reasonable person would think would influence the willingness of fellow councillors, officers or
members of the public to speak up or interact with you because they expect the encounter will be unpleasant or highly uncomfortable
fits the definition of disrespectful behaviour.

Examples of disrespect in a local government context might include rude or angry outbursts in meetings, use of inappropriate language
in meetings or written communications such as swearing, ignoring someone who is attempting to contribute to a discussion, attempts to
shame or humiliate others in public, nit-picking and fault-finding, the use of inappropriate sarcasm in communications and the sharing of
malicious gossip or rumours.

Disrespectful behaviour can be harmful to both you and to others. It can lower the public’s expectations and confidence in you and your
local authority and councillors and politicians more generally. It influences the willingness of fellow councillors, officers, and the public to
speak up or interact with you because they expect the encounter will be unpleasant or uncomfortable. Ongoing disrespectful behaviour
can undermine willingness of officers to give frank advice, damage morale at a local authority, and ultimately create a toxic culture and
has been associated with instances of governance failure.

Freedom of expression
The requirement to treat others with respect must be balanced with the right to Freedom of expression. Article 10 of the European
Convention on Human Rights protects your right to hold your own opinions and to express them freely without government interference.
This includes the right to express your views aloud or in writing, such as in published articles or leaflets or on the internet and social
media. Protection under Article 10 extends to the expression of views that may shock, disturb, or offend the deeply-held beliefs of
others.

However, Article 10 is not an absolute but a qualified right which means that the rights of the individual must be balanced against the
interests of society. Whether a restriction on freedom of expression is justified is likely to depend on a number of factors, including the
identity of the speaker, the context of the speech and its purpose, as well as the actual words spoken or written. Democracy depends
on people being free to express, debate and criticise opposing viewpoints. The courts have generally held that the right to free
expression should not be curtailed simply because other people may find it offensive or insulting. A balance must still be struck between
the right of individuals to express points of view which others may find offensive or insulting, and the rights of others to be protected
from hatred and discrimination.

Freedom of expression is protected more strongly in some contexts than others. In particular, a wide degree of tolerance is accorded to
political speech, and this enhanced protection applies to all levels of politics, including local government. Article 10 protects the right to
make incorrect but honestly made statements in a political context but it does not protect statements which the publisher knows to be
false. Political expression is a broad concept and is not limited to expressions of or criticism of political views but extends to all matters
of public administration including comments about the performance of public duties by others. However, gratuitous personal comments
do not fall within the definition of political expression.

Public servants such as local government officers are subject to wider levels of acceptable criticism than other members of the public
when matters of public concern are being discussed. However, the limits are not as wide as they are for elected politicians such as
councillors. Officers do not necessarily have the same right of reply to such comments as councillors do and councillors should take
care not to abuse or exploit this imbalance.

Recent case law has confirmed that local authority officers should be protected from unwarranted comments that may have an adverse
effect on good administration and states that it is in the public interest that officers are not subject to offensive, abusive attacks and
unwarranted comments that prevents them from carrying out their duties or undermine public confidence in the administration. That
said, officers who are in more senior positions, for example chief executives or heads of services, will also be expected to have a
greater degree of robustness.

Is the Respect provision of the code a gag on councillors? 
This provision of the Code (Paragraph 1) is not intended to stand in the way of lively debate in local authorities. Such discussion is a
crucial part of the democratic process. Differences of opinion and the defence of those opinions through councillors’ arguments and
public debate are an essential part of the cut and thrust of political life. Councillors should be able to express their opinions and
concerns in forceful terms. Direct language can sometimes be appropriate to ensure that matters are dealt with properly. The code is
not intended to stifle the expressions of passion and frustration that often accompany discussions about local authority business.

Can councillors criticise officers?

  Print   TopPage 52



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 7/43

Yes. In some cases, officers have been known to reject reasonable criticism appropriately made and describe it as disrespectful or
bullying. The Code of Conduct is not intended to constrain councillors’ involvement in local governance, including the role of councillors
to challenge performance. Councillors can question and probe poor officer performance provided it is done in an appropriate way. In the
everyday running of a local authority, it is inevitable that councillors may have disagreements with officers from time to time.

This paragraph of the code does not mean that councillors cannot express disagreement with officers. This disagreement might, in the
appropriate context, manifest itself in criticism of the way in which an officer or officers handled particular matters.

It is important that councillors raise issues about poor performance in the correct way and at the appropriate forum in accordance with
your local authority’s processes and procedures, and not in a public meeting or through a published attack in the media.

All local authorities should have clearly defined policies, procedures, and occasions where such issues can be properly raised. It is only
where councillors’ conduct is unfair, unreasonable, or demeaning that the code will be relevant. If a councillor’s criticism is abusive or
offensive it is likely to breach the code.

What kinds of conduct are not covered?
A very clear line must be drawn between the Code of Conduct’s requirement of respect for others, including councillors with opposing
views, and the freedom to disagree with the views and opinions of others. In a democracy, members of public bodies should be able to
express disagreement publicly with each other.

What if a member of the public is being unnecessarily disrespectful to me?
Councillors are allowed to respond to criticism, and where that criticism is robust, then they can be robust in response. However,
councillors should always seek to try to be civil and demonstrate leadership in their communication. Even where councillors have been
wrongly accused, responding in an angry, defensive way can often escalate the situation.

There has been a growing tendency for members of the public to use social media channels to unfairly criticise local councillors. For
this reason, many local authorities now offer social media guidance to councillors in addition to the civility in public life resources
available on the LGA’s website [https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/civility-public-life] .

Examples
The complaint alleged that the councillor posted on their blog a highly critical comment and an offensive caption about a former
councillor, who had passed away and whose funeral had taken place the previous day. The councillor was found to have
breached the provisions of his local authority’s Code of Conduct relating to councillors treating others with respect; as well as
conducting themselves in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing their role or their authority into disrepute.

The complaint alleged that a councillor commented under a pseudonym on a local authority blog referring to possible nepotism
in the awarding of a contract to a local firm by the local authority. The standards committee found that the councillor had
breached the Code of Conduct in making the posts because he had failed to treat others with respect and, in doing so, he had
conducted himself in a manner which brought his role and his local authority into disrepute.

The complaint alleged that a councillor had made remarks of an abusive, insulting and personal nature to the complainant, a
police officer, and also made a number of unfounded allegations about him during two telephone calls to a police station made
in his capacity as a ward councillor. It was found that the comments amounted to an unacceptable personal attack on the
complainant and that the councillor had breached the respect provisions in his local authority’s Code of Conduct.

Bullying

As a councillor:
1.

1.1. I do not bully any person.

Bullying, harassment, discrimination, and victimisation (either directly or indirectly) are unacceptable and should not be tolerated. It is
important to recognise the impact such behaviour can have on any individual experiencing it, as well as on the wider organisation in
terms of morale and operational effectiveness.

  Print   TopPage 53

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/civility-public-life


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 8/43

Bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting, or humiliating behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power that
can make a person feel vulnerable, upset, undermined, humiliated, denigrated or threatened. Power does not always mean being in a
position of authority and can include both personal strength and the power to coerce through fear or intimidation. Bullying may be
obvious or be hidden or insidious. Such conduct is usually part of a pattern of behaviour which attempts to undermine an individual or a
group of individuals, is detrimental to their confidence and capability, and may adversely affect their health.

Bullying can take the form of physical, verbal, and non-verbal conduct but does not need to be related to protected characteristics.
Bullying behaviour may be in person, by telephone or in writing, including emails, texts, or online communications such as social media.
The standards of behaviour expected are the same, whether you are expressing yourself verbally or in writing.

Bullying can affect anyone, in any career, at any time, at any level and within any workplace. Such behaviour can take the form of easily
noticed, physically threatening or intimidatory conduct with immediate impact, or it can take place behind closed doors, or be much
more subtle or camouflaged and difficult to identify, at least at first. It can start, for example, with what appear to be minor instances,
such as routine ‘nit-picking’ or fault-finding, but which become cumulative or develop into more serious behaviour over time, enabling
the perpetrator to isolate and control the person.

Some bullies lack insight into their behaviour and are unaware of how others perceive it. Others know exactly what they are doing and
will continue to bully if they feel they are unlikely to be challenged. Bullying can sometimes be overlooked, as a result of common
euphemisms being used by way of explanation or justification, referring to someone as having a “poor leadership style” or a “bad
attitude,” for example, or to the problem being due to a “personality clash”. 

You should always be mindful of the overall potential impact of the behaviour on others. First and foremost, bullying can have a
significant impact on the recipient’s well-being and health. Bullying can have an impact on a local authority’s effective use of resources
and provision of services. Officers who are subject to bullying are frequently away from their posts, sometimes for extended periods, on
sickness or stress-related leave. Bullying can impact on a councillor’s ability to represent their residents effectively. It can also
discourage candidates from standing in local elections, making local authorities less representative of their communities, and impacting
local democracy.

Like disrespectful behaviour, bullying can be difficult to define. When allegations of bullying are considered it’s likely that the person
handling the complaint will consider both the perspective of the alleged victim, and whether the councillor intended their actions to be
bullying. They will also consider whether the individual was reasonably entitled to believe they were being bullied.

Conduct is unlikely to be considered as bullying when it is an isolated incident of a minor nature, where it is targeted at issues, rather
than at an individual’s conduct or behaviour, or when the behaviour by both the complainant and councillor contributed equally to the
breakdown in relations. However, the cumulative impact of repeated 'minor' incidents should not be underestimated.

Examples of bullying include but are not limited to:

verbal abuse, such as shouting, swearing, threats, insults, sarcasm, ridiculing or demeaning others, inappropriate nicknames, or
humiliating language
physical or psychological threats or actions towards an individual or their personal property
practical jokes
overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing someone from undertaking their role or following agreed
policies and procedures
inappropriate comments about someone’s performance
abuse of authority or power, such as placing unreasonable expectations on someone in relation to their job, responsibilities, or hours
of work, or coercing someone to meet such expectations
ostracising or excluding someone from meetings, communications, work events or socials
sending, distributing, or posting detrimental material about other people, including images, in any medium
smear campaigns.

Freedom of expression 'Respect' guidance Part 2 [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-
association-model-councillor-code-conduct#respectful-behaviour-]

Does this mean that councillors cannot raise concerns about officers or fellow councillors?
Bullying behaviour should be contrasted with the legitimate challenges which a councillor can make in challenging policy or scrutinising
performance. An example of this would be debates in the chamber about policy or asking officers to explain the rationale for the
professional opinions they have put forward. You are entitled to challenge fellow councillors and officers as to why they hold their views.
However, if your criticism is a personal threat or abusive or offensive in nature, you are likely to cross the line of what is acceptable
behaviour.

  Print   TopPage 54



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 9/43

Preventing bullying conduct from developing
Ideally, a culture of honest and clear communication should be sought, with respect for the individual and for the confidentiality required
when managing individual performance-related issues. The bullying of officers might be reduced by establishing a specific protocol,
which addresses issues such as councillor-officer work relations and appropriate behaviour.

The protocol for parish and town councils can include such simple but important matters as acceptable times to contact the clerk by
telephone at home or call at the clerk’s home on council business.

Local authority officers and parish clerks also need to be mindful that councillors can come from a wide range of backgrounds and may
have been part of workplaces where the culture and expected standards are very different from what the clerk or officers expect; as a
result, the councillor simply may not be aware of the impact that their communications have had on the clerk or officer. Early discussion
about emerging issues is important to help avoid matters escalating and help establish more effective working arrangements for the
future.

Bullying and harassment and the law
In some cases, acts of bullying or harassment can be civil offences, which can be brought to an employment tribunal or a county court. 

In some cases, conduct that amounts to bullying and harassment may also amount to criminal offences, which can be tried in the
criminal courts. There is not an exhaustive list of acts of bullying or harassment that may constitute a criminal offence. Examples may
include, but are not limited to:

physical assault
making threats of violence or death threats
stalking
hate crimes
sexual harassment

Intimidation of councillors
Councillors can face behaviours which could amount to bullying and intimidation when carrying out their role.

The LGA and the Welsh Local Government Association recognise the growing need among councillors for support related to
intimidation and have jointly developed a “Councillors' guide to handling intimidation. Practical steps that you and your local
authority can undertake to protect yourself as a person in a public position”
[https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Full%20word%20english%20version%20guide%20for%20councillors%20
. The guide covers topics such as how to handle abuse, both face-to-face, letters or online, guidance on personal safety, lone working
and online abuse and the legal and practical remedies, including the nature of the criminal offences involved. It will be continuously
updated with the latest advice and information available.

Harassment

As a councillor:
1.

1.1. I do not harass any person.

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 states that harassment includes behaviour which alarms a person or causes a person
distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to
impose unwanted communications and contact upon a victim in a manner that could be expected to cause distress or fear in any
reasonable person. Harassment of any kind whether direct or indirect is in no-one’s interest and should not be tolerated. It is important
to recognise the impact such behaviour can have on any individual experiencing it, as well as on the wider organisation in terms of
morale and operational effectiveness.

Like bullying, harassment can take the form of physical, verbal, and non-verbal conduct but does not need to be related to protected
characteristics. Harassment may be in person, by telephone or in writing, including emails, texts, or online communications such as
social media. It may manifest obviously or be hidden or insidious. 

The factors likely to be considered when assessing allegations of harassment are whether the councillor knows or ought to know that
their actions constitute harassment, whether a reasonable person would consider the actions to be harassment and the impact of the
behaviour/conduct on victim.

  Print   TopPage 55

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Full%20word%20english%20version%20guide%20for%20councillors%20on%20handling%20intimidation_FINAL.pdf


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 10/43

Examples of harassment include but are not limited to:

sending unwelcome emails
unnecessarily repetitive, intrusive questioning
unwelcome physical contact such as touching or invading ‘personal space’
haranguing
intimidation
inappropriate remarks or questioning such as comments about someone’s appearance, lewd comments, and offensive jokes
overbearing or intimidating levels of supervision, including preventing someone from undertaking their role or following agreed
policies and procedures
inappropriate comments about someone’s performance
placing unreasonable expectations on someone in relation to their job, responsibilities, or hours of work, or coercing someone to
meet such expectations
sexual harassment

What does the law say about harassment?
[https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Full%20word%20english%20version%20guide%20for%20councillors%20
In some cases, acts of harassment can be civil offences, which can be brought to an employment tribunal or county court. 

In some cases, conduct that amounts to harassment may also amount to criminal offences, which can be tried in the criminal courts.
There is not an exhaustive list of acts of harassment that may constitute a criminal offence. Examples may include, but are not limited
to physical assault:

making violent or death threats
stalking
hate crimes
sexual harassment

Example
The complaint alleged that a councillor had behaved in a disrespectful and harassing manner towards two fellow female
councillors and officers. It was established that the councillor had made unwarranted and inappropriate physical contact with the
councillors and officers at an official event and had also made remarks towards the officers which were patronising and
demeaning. The councillor was found to been in breach of the Code of Conduct.

Discrimination

As a councillor:
2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person.

Councillors have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance and strategic
aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality across public services.

The Equality Act 2010 imposes positive duties on local authorities to promote equality and to eliminate unlawful discrimination and
harassment. Under the Act your authority may be liable for any discriminatory acts which you commit. This will apply when you do
something in your official capacity in a discriminatory manner. You must be careful not to act in a way which may amount to any of the
prohibited forms of discrimination, or to do anything which hinders your authority’s fulfilment of its positive duties under the Act. Such
conduct may cause your authority to break the law, and you may find yourself subject to a complaint that you have breached this
paragraph of the Code of Conduct. If you are unsure about the particular nature of the duties of your authority you should seek advice
from the monitoring officer or parish clerk.

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific
aspects of a person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are:

age
disability   Print   TopPage 56

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Full%20word%20english%20version%20guide%20for%20councillors%20on%20handling%20intimidation_FINAL.pdf


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 11/43

gender reassignment
marriage and civil partnership
pregnancy and maternity
race
religion or belief
sex and sexual orientation

There are four main forms of discrimination:

Direct discrimination: treating people differently because of their age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership,
pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, or sexual orientation.

Indirect discrimination: treatment which does not appear to differentiate between people because of their age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, or sexual orientation but which
disproportionately disadvantages them.

Harassment: engaging in unwanted conduct on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership,
pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, or sexual orientation, which violates another person’s dignity or creates a hostile,
degrading, humiliating or offensive environment.

Victimisation: treating a person less favourably because they have complained of discrimination, brought proceedings for
discrimination, or been involved in complaining about or bringing proceedings for discrimination.

Examples of discriminatory behaviour include but are not limited to:

exclusion or victimisation based on the Protected Characteristics
treating someone less favourably or limiting their opportunities based on any of the Protected Characteristics
comments, slurs, jokes, statements, questions, or gestures that are derogatory or offensive to an individual’s or group’s
characteristics
promoting negative stereotypes relating to individual’s or group’s characteristics
racial or ethnic slurs, insults, or jokes
intolerance toward religious customs
mimicking, mocking, or belittling a person’s disability
homophobic, biphobic or transphobic comments or slurs
discriminating against pregnant people or mothers
declaring (‘outing’) someone’s religion or sexuality or threatening to do so against their will
deliberate, unwarranted application of an authority’s practice, policy or rule in a way that may constitute indirect discrimination
instructing, causing, inducing, or knowingly helping someone to commit an act of unlawful discrimination under the Equality Act 2010.

A councillor’s personality and life experiences will naturally incline them to think and act in certain ways. They may form views about
others based on those experiences, such as having an affinity with someone because they have a similar approach to life or thinking
less of someone because they are from a different generation. This is known as “unconscious bias” and it can lead people to make
decisions based on biases or false assumptions. Councillors need to be alert to the potential of unconscious bias and ensure they make
decisions based on evidence, and not on assumptions they have made based on biases.

Questions
How can councillors cause their authority to be in breach of the Equality Act?
The Code of Conduct is not intended to stifle democratic debate. Councillors should always remember that Article 10 of the European
Convention on Human Rights gives a high level of protection to comments that are genuinely made during political debate, even if most
people would find them offensive.

Some councillors have particular roles which may give a higher risk for the potential for discrimination; for example, if you are on an
appointment panel for a position in the local authority, or you are able to award local grants in your ward and will need to decide which
organisations to support.

Merely arguing, or even voting, against a proposal which is aimed at complying with a positive anti-discriminatory duty would not be
enough by itself to risk breaking this part of the code. Simply having a party-political or personal position on an issue is unlikely to
amount to a breach of this provision because it does not, of itself, involve the local authority doing anything.

  Print   TopPage 57



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 12/43

Under the Equality Act 2010, an authority is made liable for any discriminatory acts which a councillor commits. This will apply where
they say or do something in their official capacity in a discriminatory manner.

Examples
The complaint alleged that a councillor ‘liked’ several racially discriminatory comments on social media and one comment
advocating violence against Travellers. The panel found that ‘Liking’ of the offensive comments did amount to a failure to treat
those who were the subject of such comments with respect and a failure to promote equalities in breach of the Code of
Conduct.

A councillor was a member of the local authority’s recruitment panel to appoint a new chief executive. Five applicants were
shortlisted. After one candidate had finished his presentation and left the room the councillor said, “good candidate, shame he’s
black”. The panel found that the Code of Conduct had been breached.

Impartiality of officers

As a councillor: 
3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local
authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they are political assistants). They should not be
coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, for
example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. However, you must not
try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional
integrity. 

Both councillors and officers are servants of the public and are indispensable to one another. Together, they bring the critical skills,
experience and knowledge required to manage an effective local authority.

At the heart of this relationship, is the importance of mutual respect. Councillor-officer relationships should be conducted in a positive
and constructive way. Therefore, it is important that any dealings between councillors and officers should observe reasonable standards
of courtesy, should show mutual appreciation of the importance of their respective roles and that neither party should seek to take unfair
advantage of their position or seek to exert undue influence on the other party.

Councillors provide a democratic mandate to the local authority and are responsible to the electorate whom they represent. They set
their local authority’s policy framework, ensure that services and policies are delivered and scrutinise local authority services.

Councillors of the executive, chairs and vice chairs of committees have additional responsibilities. These responsibilities will result in
increased expectations and relationships with officers that are more complex. Such councillors must still respect the impartiality of
officers and must not ask them to undertake work of a party-political nature or compromise their position with other councillors or other
officers.

Officers provide the professional advice and managerial expertise and information needed for decision making by councillors and to
deliver the policy framework agreed by councillors. They are responsible for implementing decisions of councillors and the day-to-day
administration of the local authority.

The roles are very different but need to work in a complementary way.

It is important for both sides to respect these differences and ensure that they work in harmony. Getting that relationship right is an
important skill. That is why the code requires councillors to respect an officer’s impartiality and professional expertise. In turn officers
should respect a councillor’s democratic mandate as the people accountable to the public for the work of the local authority. It is also
important for a local authority to have a councillor-officer protocol which sets out how this relationship works and what both councillors
and officers can expect in terms of mutual respect and good working relationships.

Officers may sometimes give you advice that you do not want to hear or does not suit your political views. They must be allowed to do
this without fear of recriminations to allow for good decision-making looking at all relevant options.

  Print   TopPage 58



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 13/43

That means in your dealing with officers you must not seek to influence them improperly or put undue pressure on them. For example,
you should not get officers to help you prepare party political material, or to help you with matters relating to your private business. You
should not provide or offer any incentive or reward in return for acting in a particular way or reaching a particular decision.

Other than political assistants, officers are required to remain politically neutral and not demonstrate their support for specific parties or
candidates.

The fundamentally held principle is that “the local government system of the UK has long resided on a bond of trust between elected
members and a permanent corps of local government officer… that relationship of trust stems from the right of council members to
expect that they are being assisted in their functions by officers who are politically neutral and whose loyalty is to the council as a
whole[1] [#_ftn1] ”.

Examples
A councillor became involved in a social care case on behalf of a constituent during which time he inappropriately sought to
influence operational decision-making and sent discourteous and disrespectful correspondence to the officers. In doing so, he
lost sight of his overall responsibility to the local authority to allow its officers to perform their statutory functions. He was found
to have breached the Code of Conduct.

A councillor who, over a period of six months, persistently sought to influence the decisions of officers dealing with a complaint
by his son and daughter-in-law against their local authority tenant neighbour was found, through his actions, to have
compromised the impartiality of the officers and to have used his position improperly to promote the interest of his family and to
have brought the role of councillor into disrepute in breach of the Code of Conduct. 

What does working on behalf of the authority mean?
Local Authorities deliver services in a range of ways. Often services will have been contracted out to outside bodies. For example, if
you are in a highway authority, road repair services may be carried out by outside contractors. Their employees delivering that contract
are doing so on behalf of the local authority and you should not use your position to interfere improperly in delivery of that service.

What if I disagree with the views of an officer?
You are perfectly entitled to disagree with officers. They are there to give you impartial professional advice and you do not need to
accept their advice without question. When you do question them however, you should treat them with respect and recognise that they
are professionals.

If you feel dissatisfied with the advice you are given you should raise through appropriate management channels in line with your local
authority’s councillor-officer protocol (where you have one) - [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-
association-model-councillor-code-conduct#respectful-behaviour-] see guidance on respect, bullying and harassment in Part
2. [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct#bullying]

Where you have a declarable interest in a matter you are discussing with an officer you should make that clear to the officer – see
guidance on declarations of interest in Part 3.  [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct#declarations-of-interest] Where it is an interest which would stop you from taking part in a meeting
you should not discuss those matters with officers except where you are seeking professional advice in the same way as any member
of the public could – for example, assistance with making an application – and the officer should make a note that an interest has been
declared. If you need to speak to an officer about the matter, you should arrange a meeting as a member of the public and not seek to
use your position to gain preferential or quicker access. 

[1] [#_ftnref1] Ahmed v United Kingdom (2000) 29 EHRR 1

Having regard to Officer advice
Councillors take decisions every day that affect the lives of those who live and work within your community. It is therefore important that
those decisions are made having regard to all available evidence and weighing up all sides of the argument.

Decisions can be challenged if they are unreasonable, and the local authority could find itself facing an expensive legal bill if it takes a
decision which is unlawful. When considering any decision, you must have regard to any professional advice you have been offered, for
example from planning or licensing officers.  Both the monitoring officer and the chief finance officer have a statutory duty to report

  Print   TopPage 59



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 14/43

formally to the local authority where they believe a local authority action or expenditure is, or may be, unlawful. Similarly, when it comes
to elections, you will need to have regard to any advice given to you by the returning officer who may well be a senior officer but in that
capacity is entirely independent of and separate from the local authority and is required to be politically neutral.  

You must also give reasons for all decisions in accordance with statutory requirements and any reasonable requirements imposed by
your local authority. Giving reasons for decisions is particularly important in relation to regulatory decisions and decisions where
people’s rights are affected. Where councillors disagree with officer recommendations in making a decision, councillors will need to take
particular care in giving clear reasons for the decision.

If you seek advice as an individual councillor, or advice is offered to you, for example, on whether or not you should register or declare
an interest, you must have regard to this advice before you make your mind up. Failure to do so may lead to a breach of the Code of
Conduct.

If in any doubt – be safe and always seek advice from your monitoring officer before taking any action.

Local authorities have protocols for councillor-officer relations in their constitutions which are accessible on their websites.

The LGA published “
[https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.141%20A%20councillor%27s%20workbook%20on%20councillor_x3A_
A councillor’s workbook on effective councillor/officer relationships 2018
[https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.141%20A%20councillor%27s%20workbook%20on%20councillor_x3A_
”
[https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.141%20A%20councillor%27s%20workbook%20on%20councillor_x3A_
. This workbook has been designed as a distance learning aid for local councillors. It forms part of the suite of LGA resources intended
to provide councillors with insight and assistance into key skills and knowledge. It is designed to provide a foundation for effective
working as you progress in your councillor career, from the ward level to holding a leading councillor position. The workbook has been
updated to contain information and examples obtained from the LGA’s work on the ground in local authorities and through the
Corporate Peer Challenge programme [https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/peer-challenges/peer-challenges-we-offer] , and
to reflect the changing nature of the councillor and officer relationship.

Confidentiality and access to information

As a councillor: 
4.1 I do not disclose information: 

a.  given to me in confidence by anyone   
b.  acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless 

I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
I am required by law to do so; 
the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third  party
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or 
the disclosure is: 

1.  reasonable and in the public interest; and   
2.  made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the local authority; and   
3.  I have consulted the monitoring officer prior to its release. 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a councillor for the advancement of myself, my
friends, my family members, my employer, or my business interests. 

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by law. 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently. Their proceedings and printed materials are open to the public, except in certain
legally defined circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions,
documents, and other information relating to or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include
personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

Confidential information 
   Print   TopPage 60

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.141%20A%20councillor%27s%20workbook%20on%20councillor_x3A_officer%20relationships_v03.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.141%20A%20councillor%27s%20workbook%20on%20councillor_x3A_officer%20relationships_v03.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.141%20A%20councillor%27s%20workbook%20on%20councillor_x3A_officer%20relationships_v03.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/peer-challenges/peer-challenges-we-offer


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 15/43

While local authority business is by law generally open and local authorities should always operate as transparently as possible, there
will be times – for example, when discussing a named individual, confidential HR matters or commercially sensitive information – when
it is appropriate for local authority business to be kept confidential or treated as exempt information.

In those circumstances, you must not disclose confidential information, or information which you believe to be of a confidential nature,
unless:

you have the consent of the person authorised to give it
you are required by law to do so
the disclosure is made to a third party for the purposes of obtaining professional advice (for example, your lawyer or other
professional adviser) provided that person agrees not to disclose the information to any other person
the disclosure is in the public interest

Disclosure in the public interest
Disclosure ‘in the public interest’ is only justified in limited circumstances, when all the following four requirements are met:

the disclosure must be reasonable
the disclosure must be in the public interest
the disclosure must be made in good faith
the disclosure must be made in compliance with any reasonable requirements of your authority

In relation to the disclosure of confidential information in the public interest, the four requirements are outlined in more detail below.

1. The first requirement, that the disclosure must be reasonable, requires you to consider matters such as:

2. The second requirement, that the disclosure must be in the public interest, needs to involve one or more of the following matters or
something of comparable seriousness, that has either happened in the past, is currently happening, or is likely to happen in the future:

a criminal offence is committed.
your local authority or some other person fails to comply with any legal obligation to which they are subject.
a miscarriage of justice occurs.
the health or safety of any individual is in danger.
the environment is likely to be damaged.
that information tending to show any matter falling within the above is deliberately concealed.

3. The third requirement, that the disclosure is made in good faith, will not be met if you act with an ulterior motive, for example, to
achieve a party-political advantage or to settle a score with a political opponent.

Whether you believe that the information disclosed, and any allegation contained in it, is substantially true. If you do
not believe this, the disclosure is unlikely to be reasonable.

Whether you make the disclosure for personal gain. If you are paid to disclose the information, the disclosure is
unlikely to be reasonable.

The identity of the person to whom the disclosure is made. It may be reasonable to disclose information to the
police or to an appropriate regulator. It is less likely to be reasonable for you to disclose the information to the world
at large through the media.

The extent of the information disclosed. The inclusion of unnecessary detail, and in particular, private matters such
as addresses or telephone numbers, is likely to render the disclosure unreasonable.

The seriousness of the matter. The more serious the matter disclosed, the more likely it is that the disclosure will be
reasonable.

The timing of the disclosure. If the matter to which the disclosure relates has already occurred, and is unlikely to
occur again, the disclosure may be less likely to be reasonable than if the matter is continuing or is likely to reoccur.

Whether the disclosure involves your authority failing in a duty of confidence owed to another person.

  Print   TopPage 61



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 16/43

4. The fourth requirement, that you comply with the reasonable requirements of your local authority, means that before making the
disclosure you must comply with your local authority’s policies or protocols on matters such as whistle-blowing and confidential
information. You must first raise your concerns through the appropriate channels set out in such policies or protocols.

In summary, to decide whether the disclosure is reasonable and in the public interest, you may need to conduct a balancing exercise
weighing up the public interest in maintaining confidentiality against any countervailing public interest favouring disclosure. This will
require a careful focus on how confidential the information is, on any potentially harmful consequences of its disclosure, and on any
factors, which may justify its disclosure despite these potential consequences. If in doubt you should always seek advice from the
monitoring officer. Always keep a note of the reason for your decision.

In some situations, it is extremely unlikely that a disclosure can be justified in the public interest. These will include where the disclosure
amounts to a criminal offence, or where the information disclosed is protected by legal professional privilege.

Circumstances in which a local authority can treat information as confidential
The presumption under local government law is that local authority business is open unless it falls within a specific category of
confidential or exempt information as set out in legislation. These categories are:

1. information given to the local authority by a Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or
2. information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another Act or by Court Order.

Generally personal information which identifies an individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights rules.

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to any condition):

1. relating to any individual.
2. which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).
4. relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-holders under the authority.
5. in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
6. which reveals that the authority proposes:

6.1. to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
6.2. to make an order or direction under any enactment

7. relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime.

Where information is legally classified as ‘confidential’ under the above categories the public must be excluded from meetings
whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information
would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, and minutes will also be excluded.

Where an officer recommends that a report to a decision-making committee should be treated as exempt information under the above
categories the committee must still agree that the matter should be heard in a closed session. The committee may disagree with any
recommendation and decide that those legal tests have not been met; or they may agree that those tests have been met but
nevertheless it is in the public interest that the matter be considered in an open session. Again, you should keep a record of the
rationale for the decision.

Once the local authority has agreed that the matter be treated as exempt, public access to relevant reports, background papers and
minutes will also be excluded and an individual councillor must abide by that collective decision or risk breaching the code if they
disclose that information (papers and content of discussion) without lawful excuse.

Does confidentiality under the code apply only to information which is classified as confidential or exempt by
law?
No. The code goes wider than matters simply considered in a formal local authority setting. Information is a broad term. It includes
facts, advice, and opinions. It covers written material, including tapes, videos, CDs, DVDs, and other electronic media. It covers
material in unwritten form, including intellectual property. Information can only be confidential if all the following apply:- 

it has the necessary ‘quality of confidence’ about it (trivial information will not be confidential but information that you would expect
people to want to be private would be);
it was divulged in circumstances importing an obligation of confidence (information properly in the public domain will not be
confidential);
disclosure of it would be detrimental to the party wishing to keep it confidential. 

  Print   TopPage 62



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 17/43

For example, you may be told confidential information by a constituent in the course of your duties. That is why the code is written
broadly to cover information classed as confidential which you may come across in your duties.

You should use your judgment when you are given information. An individual does not have to explicitly say that information is
confidential if they tell you something which a reasonable person would regard as sensitive. You may, however, wish to clarify if
somebody tells you something whether they want you to treat it as confidential. 

Examples
A councillor was assisting a resident in an adoption process, which the resident decided to subsequently withdraw from. The
resident’s estranged parent contacted the councillor for information as to what was happening with the case and the councillor
inadvertently shared confidential information as she had not realised that father and son were estranged. This was found to be a
breach of the code.

A councillor circulated information about an officer’s medical condition to other councillors and a local headteacher with whom
he was acquainted. He was found to have disclosed information which should reasonably be regarded as being of a confidential
nature and without the officer’s consent in breach of the Code of Conduct.

What does consent by the person authorised to give it mean?

If somebody, for example a constituent, has told you something in confidence – for example in the line of casework – you may later
want to put that in the public domain as part of pursuing that case. You should always check with the individual before you disclose
something you believe is confidential to ensure that they are comfortable with that information being disclosed. You should also be clear
with them as to how you may use the information, they give you to help resolve their issue.

In what circumstances am I required to disclose confidential information by law?
This would be where a law enforcement or regulatory agency or the courts required disclosure of information.

In what way could I use information I have obtained to advance myself or others?
As a councillor you will often receive commercially sensitive or other confidential information. You must not use that information to your
own advantage. For example, if you know the local authority is considering the purchase of a piece of land, you should not use that
information in your private dealings to seek to purchase the land.

How does this relate to the Data Protection Act?
As part of their role councillors will receive personal information. They should seek to ensure they are familiar with how the Data
Protection Act applies to their role in handling such information through training, and if they are not sure to seek advice from an
appropriate officer in the council.

Although councillors are not required to register as a data controller, they will receive personal information from residents in their area.
They should only use it for the purpose for which it has been given and must ensure this information is held securely and only share
with others that are entitled to it.

In contrast, the local authority is responsible for information they provide to councillors and ensuring they know how it can be used.

Access to information
Transparency is a very important principle underpinning local democracy and public decision-making. The public are entitled to see
information about the way decisions are made unless there are specific reasons why that information is confidential. Your local authority
should have a publication scheme setting out what information is accessible to the public and you as an individual councillor must not
prevent any person from accessing information which they are entitled to by law. This includes information under the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 or those copies of minutes, agendas, reports, and other documents of your local authority which they have a right
to access.

If in doubt seek advice from the relevant local authority officers.

The ’need to know’
As a councillor, you are not automatically entitled to access all information the local authority holds. For example, the local authority
may deal with highly confidential and sensitive information about employees or about residents involved in complex cases.

  Print   TopPage 63



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 18/43

In addition to rights set out in law or conferred by your local authority constitution, you have a right to inspect documents if you can
demonstrate a “need to know”. This isn’t a right to a roving commission but must be linked to your performance of your duties and
functions as a councillor. For example, the need could more easily be demonstrated by membership of a relevant committee, such as a
staffing committee than simply because you are interested in seeing the information. Local authorities have more justification for
denying free access to particularly sensitive papers such as childcare or staffing records. You should not seek to get information if you
have a declarable interest in it.

Most local authorities will have a nominated officer you can seek advice from if you feel you are not being given access to information
you seek.

You can also exercise the “need to know” in respect of attending meetings.  Access to Information Rules set out an Overview and
Scrutiny Committee`s rights of access to documents and additional rights of access to documents for councillors to carry out their
functions.

Where you are given access to documents which are not available to members of the public, you should ensure that any confidential
information is used and protected in an appropriate and secure manner and shared with authorised persons only.

Can I use local authority information for matters outside the local authority? 
 
A councillor is entitled to access information held by the local authority for the performance of their duties as a councillor. If a councillor
wishes to use local authority information for any purpose other than in connection with their duties as a councillor, and that information
is not in a publicly available document, however, then that councillor should submit a freedom of information request so that it can be
given to them to use freely.

The general rule is that any information held by the local authority and given directly to a councillor may only ever be used for the
purpose for which it was provided. That purpose may add particular restrictions, for example where it relates to an individual constituent
or sensitive matter. The purpose should not be for anything other than use in connection with the proper performance of the councillor’s
duties as a councillor. The exceptions to this are where the information has already been published, it has been given as a result of a
request under Freedom of Information or Environmental Information Regulations or it is in the public interest (‘whistleblowing’) for which
provisions are made in the Code of Conduct as explained above.

Please see the ICO website [https://ico.org.uk] for helpful guidance on data protection and freedom of information.

Disrepute

As a councillor:
5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.
As a councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater
scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights protects your right to
freedom of expression, and political speech as a councillor is given enhanced protection but this right is not unrestricted. You should be
aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on your role, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the
public’s confidence in your ability to discharge your functions as a councillor or your local authority’s ability to discharge its functions.

In general terms, disrepute can be defined as a lack of good reputation or respectability. In the context of the Code of Conduct, a
councillor’s behaviour in office will bring their role into disrepute if the conduct could reasonably be regarded as either:

1. reducing the public’s confidence in them being able to fulfil their role; or
2. adversely affecting the reputation of your authority’s councillors, in being able to fulfil their role.

Conduct by a councillor which could reasonably be regarded as reducing public confidence in their local authority being able to fulfil its
functions and duties will bring the authority into disrepute.

For example, circulating highly inappropriate, vexatious or malicious e-mails to constituents, making demonstrably dishonest posts
about your authority on social media or using abusive and threatening behaviour might well bring the role of councillor into disrepute.
Making grossly unfair or patently untrue or unreasonable criticism of your authority in a public arena might well be regarded as bringing
your local authority into disrepute.

Questions 
 

  Print   TopPage 64

https://ico.org.uk/


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 19/43

What distinguishes disrepute to “your role or local authority” from disrepute to you as a person?
The misconduct will need to be sufficient to damage the reputation of the councillor’s role or local authority, as opposed simply to
damaging the reputation of the individual concerned.

Certain kinds of conduct may damage the reputation of an individual but will rarely be capable of damaging the reputation of the role of
councillor or the reputation of the authority.

Here are some of the situations that might tip the balance in favour of disrepute to the role of councillor or to the authority in particular
cases:

1. Situations where councillors have put their private interests above the public interest, which they are expected to promote as
councillors, and therefore reduced the standing of their role. For example, councillors using their position to secure a secret personal
profit.
2. Similarly, situations where a councillor defies important and well-established rules of the authority for private gain.
3. Where a councillor engages in conduct which directly and significantly undermines the authority’s reputation as a good employer or
responsible service provider.

Examples
A councillor posted a tweet reading “Cllr Blogs why don’t you just throw in the towel, just go before you cause any more damage
to the reputation of the council. You and some members of your cabinet have failed. I hope that the SFO is brought in to
investigate your conduct. #failedleadership.” The complainant stated that she found the tweet ‘very offensive’ and bullying and
also considered that the tweet would reasonably bring the councillor’s office and the authority into disrepute. The councillor was
found to have brought his authority into disrepute by reducing public confidence in the council.

A councillor brought his role and authority into disrepute by taking advantage of a local authority mistake and failing to prevent
local authority-employed contractors from working on his privately-owned home. The local authority mistakenly sent decorators
to the home, an ex-local authority property. The councillor only told the local authority about the mistake after the work had been
completed and then said he could not be charged for the work.

The chair of a local authority made a deeply inappropriate remark at a local authority meeting that was reported in the local
media and was accused of bringing his role and authority into disrepute. It was clear in both the meeting and the local media
reporting that other councillors expressed concerns about his comments and found them inappropriate. It was found that he had
not brought his authority into disrepute but that he had brought his role into disrepute.

Misuse of position

As a councillor:
6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.

Your position as a councillor provides you with certain opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time
that will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or others’ private interests or
to disadvantage anyone unfairly.

You should not use, or attempt to use, your public office either for your or anybody else’s personal gain or loss. For example, your
behaviour would be improper if you sought to further your own private interests through your position as a councillor.

Involving yourself in a decision in which you have an interest, to seek to benefit yourself or another would be a breach of this paragraph
of the code. For guidance on how to conduct yourself when you have an interest and how to balance your rights as an individual and
your responsibilities as a public decision maker see the chapter on registration of interests.

Councillors who own land, or whose relatives or close associates own land, need to be particularly cautious where planning matters are
concerned. This applies equally to parish councillors when your local authority is consulted on planning matters. Similarly, while it is
reasonable to expect councillors to help constituents apply to the local authority, for example, for housing, it is quite improper to seek to
influence the decision to be taken by the officers and would also be in breach of paragraph 3 of the code.

  Print   TopPage 65



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 20/43

What kinds of attempts to advantage or disadvantage would be improper?
There are circumstances where it will be proper for a councillor to seek to confer an advantage or disadvantage and other
circumstances where it will not.

Being a councillor can involve making hard choices and balancing a range of interests. Most decisions will inevitably benefit some
people and will be to the detriment of others. It’s important when you make those decisions to make them in what you think is the public
interest and not be influenced by private interests.

For example, there can be no objection to councillors voicing their opposition to the closure of a local public library. This conduct is
clearly intended to secure an advantage for the users of the library. What is crucial is that councillors’ attempts to secure this advantage
are clearly part and parcel of their duties as a local representative. Therefore, these activities are not improper.

The term ‘improperly’ is not defined in the Code of Conduct. This ensures that the scope of the provision is not unnecessarily limited.
The underlying principle is that councillors are elected or appointed to public office to serve the public interest.

A councillor’s conduct would be improper if they were to use their public position to further private interests of themselves or associates,
or to settle old scores with enemies, to the detriment of the public interest. Any conduct that unfairly uses a councillor’s public position
to promote private interests over the public interest will be improper.

What if the attempt to confer an advantage or disadvantage fails?
The wording of the Code of Conduct makes it clear that the use of position provision (paragraph 6) covers failed attempts as well as
situations where an advantage or disadvantage has actually been achieved.

For example, if you have tried to influence fellow councillors to vote in a particular way which would be to your personal advantage
and/or that of your family/close associates you would have breached this provision of the code even if they did not in fact vote that way.

Examples
Most alleged improper uses of position are in connection with matters in which the councillors have interests.

A councillor who was a ‘joint co-ordinator’ of a community group did not notify the local authority of her position in this group. She took
part in the considerations and voted on the decision to negotiate a new lease in respect of a workshop used by this community group. A
standards committee found that she had used her position improperly as the decision on which she voted benefited a group in which
she clearly had an interest which she had not disclosed to the local authority.

A local authority leader failed to declare a conflict of interest relating to land he owned. The court found that he used his position as a
councillor and instructed a planning officer to alter the road route to benefit his own land's value to a considerable extent. He was found
guilty of misconduct in public life for trying to influence the route of a new by-pass to enclose his land in a new development belt, which
would have significantly increased its value. He received an 18-month custodial sentence.

A parish councillor was found to have improperly used his position and secured an advantage for a member of the public by asking the
parish clerk to make a payment which had not been approved by the Parish Council in breach of the Code of Conduct. The payment
was for repairs to a private road used by the councillor to get to his allotment.

Misuse of resources and facilities

As a councillor: 
7.1 I do not misuse local authority resources. 

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising their use by others: 

1. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 
1.1. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes unless 

1.1.1. that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or
1.1.2. be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or of the office to which I have been elected
or  appointed. 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by your local authority to assist you in carrying out your duties as a councillor. 

Examples include: 
  Print   TopPage 66



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 21/43

office support 
stationery 
equipment such as phones, and computers 
transport 
access and use of local authority buildings and rooms

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively and are not to be used for business or personal
gain. They should be used in accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies
regarding their use. 

You must make sure you use the authority’s resources for proper purposes only. It is not appropriate to use, or authorise others to use,
the resources for political purposes, including party political purposes. When using the authority’s resources, you must have regard, if
applicable, to any Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986.

The recommended code of practice for local authority publicity [https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recommended-
code-of-practice-for-local-authority-publicity] published by Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government provides
guidance on the content, style, distribution, and cost of local authority publicity.

You must be familiar with the rules applying to the use of resources made available to you by your local authority. Failure to comply with
the local authority’s rules is likely to amount to a breach of the code.

If you authorise someone (for example a member of your family) to use your local authority’s resources, you must take care to ensure
that this is allowed by the local authority’s rules.

You should never use local authority resources for purely political purposes, including designing and distributing party political material
produced for publicity purposes.  

However, your authority may authorise you to use its resources and facilities for legitimate political purposes in connection with your
authority’s business. For example, holding surgeries in your ward and dealing with correspondence from your constituents. In this case,
you must be aware of the limitations placed upon such use for these purposes. Using your authority’s resources outside of these
limitations is likely to amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct. Where you are part of a formally-recognised political group, your local
authority is also allowed to give you such resources as you need for local authority business, for example use of a room for group
meetings.

You should never use local authority resources purely for private purposes, for example using a photocopier to print off flyers for your
business unless your local authority’s procedures allow for you to repay any costs accrued.

What are the “resources of the local authority”?
The resources of the local authority include services and facilities as well as the financial resources of the authority.

Resources could include any land or premises, equipment, computers, and materials. The time, skills, and assistance of anybody
employed by the authority, or working on its behalf, are also resources, as is information held by the authority which it has not
published.

What constitutes using resources “improperly for political purposes”?
The code acknowledges that party politics has a proper role to play, both in the conduct of authority business and in the way that
councillors carry out their duties.

There will be times when it is acceptable for political groups to use the resources of the local authority, for example, to hold meetings in
authority premises. Often it is impractical to separate a councillor’s political campaigning from carrying out their duties as an elected
ward member, such as when they hold surgeries or deal with correspondence from constituents.

However, councillors and monitoring officers will need to exercise considerable care to ensure that this provision is not abused. You
must ensure that there is a sufficient connection between the use of resources and the business of the authority. Only improper use of
resources will be a breach of the Code of Conduct.

This part of the code complements Section 2 of the Local Government Act 1986, which prevents the publication of material "designed to
affect public support for a political party". The code, however, goes further than the Code of Recommended Practice on Publicity. It
covers not only the publication of campaigning material but also any other activity that is intended to promote purely party-political
interests.

  Print   TopPage 67

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/recommended-code-of-practice-for-local-authority-publicity


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 22/43

You must have regard to any applicable local authority code of publicity made under the powers contained in Section 4 of the Local
Government Act 1986. Publicity is defined as “any communication, in whatever form, addressed to the public at large or to a section of
the public”. It will cover meetings, websites, and social media postings as well as printed and other written material.

You should be particularly scrupulous about the use of authority resources when elections are pending, particularly those resources
relating to publicity. When using the local authority’s resources in these circumstances, you should not appear to be seeking to
influence public opinion in favour of you, your party colleagues, or your party.

How do you know what the authority’s requirements for the use of resources are?
Your local authority should have a protocol dealing with use of authority resources. A typical protocol would cover the following topics:

use of authority premises
councillor-officer relationships including use of officer time
information technology, for example computer equipment and the use of associated software, including the use of such equipment at
home
telephones
photocopying
use of stationery and headed notepaper
postage
use of authority transport
allowances and expenses

Your local authority may also have a separate protocol on the use of social media which would also be relevant.

The key principle underlying all such protocols should be that public office and public resources should not be used to further purely
private or party-political purposes.

It is worth noting that where you authorise someone such as a family member to use the authority’s resources, you must check whether
the authority’s rules allow this.

Examples
The complaint alleged a councillor used his computer equipment provided by his local authority for private purposes by
downloading inappropriate adult pornographic images and sending a number of letters to a local newspaper, which he falsely
represented as being from members of the public. He was found to have misused the local authority’s equipment in breach of
the code and had brought his office into disrepute.

A councillor used local authority notepaper in an attempt to avoid parking penalties incurred by his son. He also dishonestly
attempted to renew a parking permit for disabled drivers. He was convicted of attempting, by deception, to evade the parking
penalties dishonestly. He was also found by his local authority to have breached this paragraph of the code.

Complying with the Code of Conduct

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you
not to undermine public trust in the local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local
authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your monitoring officer.

As a councillor:
8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.
Councillors should be competent for the work they undertake, and this includes the way in which you conduct yourself when carrying
out your role as a councillor. Training helps to develop such competence, ensuring that you understand the Code of Conduct and how it
applies to you.

As a councillor you are responsible for your own actions and will be held personally responsible if you breach your local authority’s
Code of Conduct. Therefore, it is essential that, where you are offered the opportunity by your local authority, you equip yourself with
sufficient knowledge of the code to ensure that you comply with it at all times.   Print   TopPage 68



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 23/43

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination.
The Code of Conduct is a cornerstone of good governance. It is important for public trust that it is seen to be taken seriously by
individual councillors as well as the local authority as a whole.

While being the subject of a complaint that you have breached the Code of Conduct and having your conduct investigated may at times
be unpleasant and stressful it is essential that councillors cooperate with any code investigations and determinations. Failure to
cooperate will not stop an investigation but may simply drag matters and does not allow you to put your side of the story so increases
the risk that inferences are drawn about your unwillingness to cooperate and that you will be found in breach of the Code.

It is equally important if you have made a complaint which the local authority has decided merits investigation that you continue to
cooperate. Complaints made simply to damage the reputation of an individual through inferences but which you are not willing to
support through your cooperation will damage relationships and will also damage the reputation of you and your local authority.

If you are asked to assist the investigator as a potential witness it is again important that you do so to allow as fully rounded a picture as
possible to be drawn so that any determination on a case has as much evidence as necessary in order to reach the correct decision.
You should let the investigator know if you need any reasonable adjustments made.

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved with the administration of any
investigation or proceedings.
However much you may be concerned about allegations that you or a fellow councillor failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, it is
always wrong to intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person involved in the investigation or hearing. Even though you may not have
breached the Code of Conduct, you will have your say during any independent investigation or hearing, and you should let these
processes follow their natural course. If you seek to intimidate a witness in an investigation about your conduct, for example, you may
find yourself subject to another complaint that you breached this paragraph of the Code of Conduct.

When does the duty not to intimidate start and avoiding allegations of intimidation?
Once there is the possibility of a complaint that the Code of Conduct has been broken, councillors need to be alert to how their
behaviour towards potential witnesses or officers involved in handling of their case may be viewed. However innocently the contact is
intended or may appear, great care should be taken when councillors deal with people involved with their case.

You should refer to your local authority’s procedures and protocol for dealing with alleged breaches of your Code of Conduct.

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have breached the Code of Conduct.
Fair, consistent, and proportionate sanctions help to ensure the integrity of the standards framework and thus maintain public trust and
confidence in councillors, your role, and your authorities. It is important that councillors and local authorities take standards of conduct
seriously and the use of sanctions helps to demonstrate this.

Failure to comply with sanctions can bring the standards framework into disrepute. 

Part 3 – Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority

The code requires you to register matters under 2 separate categories:

1. Gifts and hospitality, you receive in your role as a councillor; and
2. Certain types of interests

Registration of gifts, hospitality and interests

Gifts and hospitality 
 
As a councillor: 
9.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which could give rise to real or substantive personal
gain or a reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do
business with the local authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other
significant advantage. 

  Print   TopPage 69



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 24/43

9.2 I register with the monitoring officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its
receipt. 

9.3 I register with the monitoring officer any significant gift or hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality
which are (or which you reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The presumption should always be not
to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in
which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered.

However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from
your friends and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with your
duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your monitoring officer for guidance. 

What does “hospitality” mean?
Hospitality can be defined as any food, drink, accommodation, or entertainment freely provided or heavily discounted.

How much detail should I include on the register?
Where you register gifts or hospitality you should include the name of the person or organisation who gave you the gift or hospitality;
the date on which you received it; the reason it was given; and its value or estimated value.

How do I know if gifts or hospitality have been offered to me because of my role as a councillor?
The code says you must register any gift or hospitality received in your capacity as a councillor if the estimated value exceeds £50 or
such other limit as agreed by your local authority.

You should ask yourself whether you would have received the gift or hospitality if you were not on the local authority. If you are in doubt
as to the motive behind an offer of a gift or hospitality, we recommend that you register it or speak to the clerk or monitoring officer
before deciding whether to accept it. You should also refer to the local authority’s policy on gifts and hospitality.

You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your
friends and family, or gifts which you do not accept. However, you should apply common sense when you consider how receipt of a gift
might be interpreted. For example, if you are the chair of the planning committee and a birthday present arrives from a family friend who
is also an applicant just before a planning application is due to be considered, then you need to think about how this would be
interpreted by a reasonable member of the public.

What about gifts or hospitality I do not accept?
The code makes it clear that the presumption is that you do not normally accept gifts or hospitality.  While gifts or hospitality can be
offered for benign reasons it is important for your reputation, the reputation of the local authority and the need to reassure the public
that decision-making is not being improperly influenced that you do not accept gifts or hospitality wherever possible.

Simply accepting gifts or hospitality and then registering it does not mean that it may be seen as reasonable. Accepting an expensive
meal from somebody who is negotiating for a contract with the council, for example, is not ‘made right’ by being recorded on a public
register.

There will be times, however, where turning down hospitality or gifts could be seen as causing unnecessary offence. For example, if
you have been invited as a ward councillor to a local festival or faith celebration along with other members of the community then it may
be entirely appropriate to accept the hospitality. However, you should always exercise particular caution if the organisers are involved in
ongoing negotiations with the local authority on a particular matter.

Where you are offered a gift or hospitality but decline it you should nevertheless notify the monitoring officer. That helps the authority to
identify if there are any patterns and to be aware of who might be seeking to influence the authority.

What about gifts or hospitality that falls below the limit in the code?
You should always notify the monitoring officer of any gift or hospitality offered to you if it could be perceived as something given to you
because of your position, especially where the gift or hospitality is from somebody who has put in an application to the local authority
(or is about to) even where that hospitality falls below £50 or the limit set by the local authority.

While that would not be a matter for the public register it again allows the authority to be aware of any patterns.

Also, an accumulation of small gifts you receive from the same source over a short period of say a couple of months that add up to £50
or over should be registered in the interests of transparency.   Print   TopPage 70



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 25/43

What if I do not know the value of a gift or hospitality?
The general rule is, if in doubt as to the value of a gift or hospitality, you should register it, as a matter of good practice and in
accordance with the principles of openness and accountability in public life. You may therefore have to estimate how much a gift or
hospitality is worth. For example, if you attend a dinner as a representative of the authority which has been pre-paid by the sponsors
you would need to make an informed judgment as to its likely cost.

What if I’m at an event but don’t have the hospitality or only have a small amount?
The best way to preserve transparency is for you to assess the hospitality on offer, whether it is accepted or not. This is because it
would clearly not be in your interests to be drawn into arguments about how much you yourself ate or drank at a particular occasion.
For example, you may find yourself at a function where relatively lavish hospitality is on offer, but you choose not to accept it. You may
go to a champagne reception but drink a single glass of orange juice for example. 

As a guide you should consider how much a person could reasonably expect to pay for an equivalent function or event run on a
commercial basis. What you have been offered is the value of the event regardless of what you actually consumed. Clearly where you
are in any doubt the prudent course is to register the hospitality.

Is there a minimal threshold where I wouldn’t have to notify the monitoring officer?
The code is about ensuring that there is transparency and accountability about where people may be trying to influence you or the local
authority improperly. However, in the course of your duties as a councillor you will be offered light refreshments or similar on many
occasions. It is perfectly acceptable to have a cup of tea or biscuits at a meeting with residents at the local community centre for
example and there may be times when an external meeting lasts all day and the organisers offer you a sandwich lunch and
refreshments.

The Government’s guide to the Bribery Act for employers says that ‘the Government does not intend that genuine hospitality or similar
business expenditure that is reasonable and proportionate be caught by the Act, so you can continue to provide bona fide hospitality,
promotional or other business expenditure. In any case where it was thought the hospitality was really a cover for bribing someone, the
authorities would look at such things as the level of hospitality offered, the way in which it was provided and the level of influence the
person receiving it had on the business decision in question. But, as a general proposition, hospitality or promotional expenditure which
is proportionate and reasonable given the sort of business you do is very unlikely to engage the Act.’

You should use your discretion and think how it might look to a reasonable person but always seek the views of the monitoring officer or
clerk where you are a parish councillor if in doubt.

What are ‘normal expenses and hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor’?
As well as the minimal threshold hospitality above there will be times when you are paid expenses which include an element for food
and drink as part of your role.

The focus of the code is on the source of the hospitality and its nature. Hospitality does not need to be registered where it is provided or
reimbursed by the authority or where it is clearly ancillary to the business being conducted, such as an overnight stay for an away-day.
Therefore, hospitality at a civic reception or mayor’s ball would not need to be registered.

However, the hospitality should be registered if it is provided by a person or body other than the authority and is over and above what
could reasonably be viewed as ancillary to the business conducted. You might meet dignitaries or business contacts in local authority
offices. However, if such meetings take place in other venues, such as at cultural or sporting events, this should be registered as
hospitality.

If you are away at a conference and you are offered entertainment by a private company or individual or attend a sponsored event you
should consider registering it.

What if my role involves me attending regular events or receiving gifts or hospitality?
Some roles in a local authority will inevitably involve being offered more entertainment than others because of the ‘ambassadorial’
nature of the role. For example, the mayor or chair of the authority will be invited to a large number of functions and the leader of the
local authority may be attending events as political leader of the local authority.

Although the mayor or chair, for example, may attend many social functions, they are not exempt from the requirement to register
hospitality as individual councillors. However, where the hospitality is extended to the office holder for the time being rather than the
individual, there is no requirement under the code to register the hospitality against your individual register. The question a councillor
needs to ask themselves is, “Would I have received this hospitality even if I were not the mayor/chair?” If the answer is yes, then it must
be registered.

  Print   TopPage 71



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 26/43

If matters are recorded on a mayor or chair’s register any entry on the register should make it clear that gifts or hospitality are being
accepted because of the office held and, where possible, any gifts accepted should be ‘donated’ to the local authority or to charity or as
raffle prizes for example.

Gifts that are clearly made to the local authority, for example a commemorative goblet which is kept on display in the local authority’s
offices, do not need to be registered in the councillor’s register of gifts and hospitality. However, such gifts ought to be recorded by the
local authority for audit purposes.

Register of interests
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the monitoring officer to establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the
local authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow councillors know which of your interests
might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The
register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally
responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if
others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any interest that might have to be
disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision-making is seen by the public as open
and honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must register with the monitoring officer the
interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-
registering-interests] which are as described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You
should also register details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable
Interests) [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-
2020#appendix-b-registering-interests] .

You must register two different categories of interests:

1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests – these are categories of interests which apply to you and your partner. The categories are set out
in regulations made under s27 of the Localism Act 2011 and knowing non-compliance is a criminal offence.
2. Other registerable interests – these are categories of interest which apply only to you and which the LGA believes should be
registered as an aid to transparency.

Further details about these two categories follow. For guidance on when these interests give rise to a matter which needs to be
declared at a meeting see the guidance on declaring interests in Part 3. [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-
government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct#declarations-of-interest]

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
These are interests which must be notified to the principal authority’s monitoring officer within 28 days of the code being adopted by
your local authority or within 28 days from when you become a councillor in accordance with the statutory requirements of the Localism
Act 2011. These are enforced by criminal sanction, and failure to register or declare such an interest at a meeting is a criminal offence.
You must keep your register up to date so, as soon as a new interest needs to be registered or you cease to hold an interest, you
should notify the monitoring officer.

A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you
are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) and the categories covered are set out in
Appendix A of the Code.

Offences
It is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011 to

fail to notify the monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option
fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the register
fail to notify the monitoring officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary interest that is not on the register that you have disclosed
to a meeting
participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest
knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or misleading in notifying the monitoring officer of a disclosable pecuniary
interest or in disclosing such interest to a meeting.   Print   TopPage 72

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 27/43

The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale and disqualification from
being a councillor for up to five years.

 

Subject 

 

Description

Employment,
office,
trade, profession
or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade,  
profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the councillor during the previous
12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election
expenses. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract made between the  councillor or his/her spouse or civil   partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person is
a director* or a body that such person has a beneficial   
interest in the securities of*) and the council: 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and   
(b) which has not been fully discharged.  

Land and
Property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council. 

‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not give the councillor or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with another)
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the local authority for a month or longer 

Corporate
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and 

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the  
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a  
partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s  knowledge) has a place of business or  land in the council; and 

(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 

capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the
councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil
partners has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

 
  Print   TopPage 73



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 28/43

* director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning
of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building  
society. 

Does ‘office carried on for profit or gain’ include allowances I may receive from another local authority I sit on?
If you receive allowances which are treated as taxable income rather than simply being pure reimbursement of expenses, say, then
they do need to be registered and declared as appropriate.

Reimbursement of expenses is separately covered by the DPI category 'sponsorship' and makes clear that it excludes the need to
register or declare reimbursement of expenses from one's own authority. However, that does not exclude any allowances received from
another authority. This is supported by a letter written by the then Minister Brandon Lewis to Desmond Swayne MP in 2013 when this
issue was raised with Government which said: “a member being in receipt of taxable members’ allowances may be considered to give
rise to a disclosable pecuniary interest under the subject of ‘Employment, office, trade or vocation’ set out in the regulations.

That means that any member in receipt of taxable allowances from another authority would have to register such as a DPI. For
example, a parish councillor who is also a district councillor and is in receipt of taxable allowances from the district would need to
register that fact.

How much detail do I need to put about my employment?
It is not enough simply to put, for example, ‘management consultant’ or ‘teacher’. Sufficient detail should be given to identify your
company or employer. This aids transparency and allows people to see where potential conflicts of interest may arise.

Where you have a sensitive employment, which should not be disclosed you should discuss this with your monitoring officer (see
‘sensitive interests’ below). While the law on sensitive interests only applies to where there is a fear of intimidation there may be
employment, such as certain sections of the military, which cannot be disclosed for other reasons so you should always seek advice if
in doubt.

What is a contract with the local authority?
Some councillors’ own businesses which may have dealings with the local authority. For example, a grounds maintenance company
may contract with a parish council for grass cutting. Such contracts should be included on the register of interests.

More broadly, councillors, as residents, may have dealings with the local authority in their personal lives. For example, some councillors
pay their own local authority to have garden waste collections, rent an allotment or may be a member of the gym of a local authority
operated leisure centre. Such arrangements form a subscription service that are open to all residents, and do not require registration.

How much detail is required of landholdings?
Sufficient detail should be given to identify the land in question.

An address and, where the address is not sufficient, details that are sufficient to identify the land will usually meet the requirement. A
plan identifying the land may be useful in some situations but is not a requirement.

Do you have to register the landholdings of your employers or bodies you have shareholdings in?
In general, there is no requirement to list the landholdings of companies or corporate bodies included in the register. The only
requirement is to register any tenancy between such bodies and the authority (under the corporate tenancies). Obviously, you can only
be expected to register those you ought reasonably to be aware of, so, for example, if you work for a large housebuilder you may not be
aware of which land in the local authority’s area they had options on.

You do need to be mindful of your level of control in the company and the effect this may have on your benefit from the land. For
example, if you and your spouse jointly owned a farming business, you would be the sole beneficiaries of any land owned by that farm
and as such it is strongly advised to register land held by companies in which you have a controlling interest.

What about my home and tenancies?
The most common beneficial interest in land councillors have is their home address. You should include in here your home if you live in
it; whether that be as a result of a mortgage, tenancy, or other arrangement (for example, a councillor is living with their parents but not
paying a rental fee to them).

You should also include in the section for beneficial interests in land any tenancy properties you own in the local authority’s area.

How much information do you have to give out about shareholdings?   Print   TopPage 74



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 29/43

In general, if you hold more than £25,000 of equity in a company, or more than 1 per cent of a shareholding, you are required to declare
this.

Many councillors hold investments through trust funds, investment funds or pension funds which are managed by fund managers. In
that situation, you may not know if you actually hold more than £25,000 in a single company or more than 1 per cent of a shareholding.
The expectation is that you should take reasonable steps to ensure you do understand what investments you may have and whether
the requirement to register applies, and so:

1. It can be helpful for councillors to state on their form that they have funds invested in specific funds.
2. It can be helpful for councillors to make fund managers aware of their requirement to declare where they hold significant
investments within a company that operates in the local authority's area so that they can be notified if this is the case.

Do I have to separate my spouse/partners interests and my own interests?
The law only requires you to register the interests, and you are not required specifically to state whether the interest is held by you, or
by your spouse.  However, many local authorities do ask for this information as it can be more transparent to separate it.

How much information do I need to obtain from my spouse/partner?
You need to make sure you take all reasonable steps to obtain information from your spouse or partner about their interests. For
example, you would reasonably be expected to know where they worked, or if they owned any rental properties. You would be expected
to ask if they had any shareholdings in companies, but they may not know the full details of an investment fund they had and where it
was invested, and if that were the case, you would not be expected to know (and register) it either.

Other registerable interests
In addition to the Disclosable Pecuniary Interests above, you must, within 28 days of the code being adopted by your local authority, or
your election or appointment to office (where that is later), notify the monitoring officer in writing of the details of your interests within the
following categories, which are called ‘other registerable interests’:

(a)   Details of any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and to which you are appointed
or nominated by your local authority;

(b)   Details of any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and which –

exercises functions of a public nature
is directed to charitable purposes, or
is a body which includes as one of its principal purposes influencing public opinion or policy

(c)   Details of any gifts or hospitality with an estimated value of more than £50 or such other limit as your local authority has agreed,
that you receive personally in connection with your official duties.

With Other Registerable Interests, you are only obliged to register your own interests and do not need to include interests of spouses or
partners. Therefore, a spousal interest in a local group is not registerable as an ‘other registerable interest’. Failure to register these
interests is not covered by the criminal offence but would be a breach of the code.

What is a “body exercising functions of a public nature”?
Although it is not possible to produce a definitive list of such bodies, here are some criteria to consider when deciding whether or not a
body meets that definition -

does that body carry out a public service?
is the body taking the place of local or central government in carrying out the function?
is the body (including one outsourced in the private sector) exercising a function delegated to it by a public authority?
is the function exercised under legislation or according to some statutory power?
can the body be judicially reviewed?

Unless you answer “yes” to one of the above questions, it is unlikely that the body in your case is exercising functions of a public
nature.

Examples of bodies included in this definition: government agencies, other councils, public health bodies, council-owned companies
exercising public functions, arms-length management organisations carrying out housing functions on behalf of a council, school
governing bodies.

Do local campaigning or Facebook groups need to be registered?   Print   TopPage 75



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 30/43

Membership (which does not include simply being on a mailing list), of local campaign or Facebook groups will only need to be
registered if they are bodies:

exercising functions of a public nature;
directed towards charitable purposes; or
one whose principal purpose includes influencing public opinion or policy.

Generally, it is unlikely that these groups will be regarded as formal bodies to be registered. However, each case should be considered
on its own merits. ‘A Body’ is defined as ‘a number of persons united or organised’. Some groups are very united on their cause and
organised, but their purpose must fall under one of the functions listed above.

There must also be some formality to the membership, such as registration for example. Simply attending a meeting of a local
campaign does not of itself make you a ‘member’ of that organisation.

There has been a growth in organisations which are more nebulous in nature, and no formal membership requirements exist, such as
Extinction Rebellion. It can be helpful to ask yourself the question “do I consider I am a member of the organisation” and if the answer is
yes, then register the membership for transparency purposes.

If you need further information or specific advice, please speak to your clerk or monitoring officer.

What about membership of a political party or trade union?
The second category of other registerable interests refers to membership of a body or being in a position of general control and
management of a body, one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy. This includes any political
party or trade union.  Memberships of political parties and Trade Unions therefore need to be registered. Remember that if because of
membership of a political party or a trade union any payment or financial benefit is received, it is likely to come under the Sponsorship
category of DPI.

Sensitive interests
Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to you, or a person connected with you, being subject to
violence or intimidation, and the monitoring officer agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the register that are made
available for inspection and any published version of the register will exclude details of the interest, but may state that you have an
interest, the details of which are withheld.

What is sensitive information?
It may include your sensitive employment (such as certain scientific research or the Special Forces) which is covered by other
legislation or interests that are likely to create serious risk of violence or intimidation against you or someone who lives with you. For
example, disclosure of your home address where there has been a threat of violence against you or where there is a court order
protecting your whereabouts.

You should provide this information to your monitoring officer and explain your concerns regarding the disclosure of the sensitive
information; including why it is likely to create a serious risk that you or a person who lives with you will be subjected to violence or
intimidation.  You do not need to include this information in your register of interests, if your monitoring officer agrees, but you need to
disclose at meetings the fact that you have an interest in the matter concerned (see guidance on declaring interests).

What happens if the monitoring officer does not agree that the information is sensitive?
It is for the monitoring officer to decide if the information is sensitive. You must notify the monitoring officer of the information which you
think is sensitive and give your reasons and any supporting evidence.

If the monitoring officer agrees, this information does not need to be included in the register of interests. However, if the monitoring
officer disagrees then it must be registered.

What happens if the information stops being sensitive?
You must notify the monitoring officer of any change in circumstances which would mean that the sensitive information is no longer
sensitive within 28 days of the change, for example a change in employment. The information would then be included in the authority’s
register of interests.

I haven’t received a direct threat, but I am concerned about registering my home address.
At present, councillors are required to register their home address as part of their local authority’s register of interests which are
typically published on their local authority website. There have been growing concerns about the potential for threats and intimidation to
councillors by virtue of disclosing their home address. Whilst some councillors believe disclosing a home address is a core component  Print   TopPage 76



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 31/43

of democracy and it is important for the public to know where a councillor may live as they may be making decisions that have an
impact on their property, others are very concerned about it. Section 32 of the Localism Act 2011
[https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Localism_Act_2011]   allows Local Authorities to withhold sensitive interests from the public register
where their disclosure could lead to violence or intimidation. It is recommended that councillors should not be required to register their
home addresses as a disclosable pecuniary interest. The Committee on Standards in Public Life
[https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Committee_on_Standards_in_Public_Life] ’s review of Local Government Ethical Standard
recommended in January 2019 that councillors should not be required to register their home addresses as a disclosable pecuniary
interest. However, at present the Government has not legislated for this.

It is important that if councillors have such concerns, they share these with the monitoring officer transparently and openly so they can
be properly considered.

Who should you notify when registering your interests?
The Localism Act and the Code both say that the monitoring officer is responsible for maintaining the register. You must therefore notify
your monitoring officer of your interests to be registered. This is also true for parish councillors that you must notify the monitoring
officer of the district, metropolitan or unitary authority for the area in which the parish council is situated.

However, the obvious point of contact for information of this type for the public is the parish clerk. The clerk needs to have an up-to-date
copy of the register of interests in order to comply with public access requirements and there is a requirement for the parish council to
publish the registers on their website where they have one, either directly or through a link to the relevant page on the principal
authority’s website. It also ensures that the clerk is aware of potential conflicts if they arise in a parish council meeting and can advise
accordingly. It is therefore practical for the parish clerk to act as the point of contact between parish councillors and the relevant
monitoring officer by collecting their interests together, passing them on and regularly asking councillors to review if there have been
any changes.

However, you should ensure that there is a system in place for the parish clerk to pass on immediately any information to the relevant
monitoring officer as each individual councillor is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the relevant monitoring officer is in possession
of all the required information.

Declarations of interest

As a councillor: 
9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the monitoring officer to establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the
authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow councillors know which of your interests
might give rise to a conflict of interest.  The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The
register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally
responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if
others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any interest that might have to be
disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open
and honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out in Table 1 of the Code
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-
registering-interests] , is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B of the Code  [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests] sets [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests] out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing
interests. If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your monitoring officer. 

This part of the Code is about the registering of your interests and then how to go about declaring or managing your interests.

At heart there is a simple principle – as public decision-makers, decisions must be made in the public interest and not to serve private
interests. However, the rules to set out whether you have an interest or not in any given situation can be complex given the infinite
variety of issues that may arise. This guidance is to help you steer a way through those rules.

  Print   TopPage 77

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Localism_Act_2011
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Committee_on_Standards_in_Public_Life
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 32/43

The Code therefore requires members to declare interests in certain circumstances. Disclosure, in the register and at meetings, is
about letting members of the public and interested parties know where you are coming from when involved in decision making and is to
enable you to be ‘up front’ about who you are and what your conflicts of interest might be. Conflicts of interest in decision making as a
councillor, and what in public law is known as ‘apparent bias’, are an established part of the local government legal landscape. The
Nolan Principles and the Model Code require councillors to act impartially (i.e. not be biased) when carrying out their duties. (See also
guidance on bias and predetermination in Part 3) []  

A single councillor who is guilty of bias is enough to strike out the whole decision when challenged before the courts. This can cause
huge cost and reputational damage for the local authority, yet is seldom due to actual corruption or even consciously favouring a
personal interest over the public interest on the part of the councillor involved and may have no repercussions for them personally.

The object of this part of the Code is therefore twofold.

Firstly, it is to provide an explanation and a guide to the public and councillors as to what is or isn’t a conflict of interest and then how a
conflict between the interest you may hold as an individual councillor and the public interest you must hold as a decision maker of a
public authority can be best managed.

Secondly, the Code provides a means to hold an individual councillor to account for their actions when they fail to manage that conflict
of interest properly and put the decision of the public authority, including the public purse, and decisions around individuals’ daily lives,
at risk.

The test at law for apparent bias is ‘would a fair-minded and informed observer, having considered the facts, conclude that there was a
real possibility of bias’. This is why you will see this question reflected in the Code when you are asked to consider whether or not you
should participate in a meeting where you have a conflict of interest.

The code contains three different categories of interests – Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI); Other Registerable Interests
ORI); and Non-Registerable Interests (NRI).

For the first two categories these are interests which must be recorded on a public register except in limited circumstances (see
guidance on Registration of Interests in Part 3) [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-
association-model-councillor-code-conduct#declarations-of-interest] . The third category do not need to be recorded on the
register but will need to be declared as and when they arise.

This means an interest may arise not just from interests already on your register. There will also be times when, although the interest
does not personally involve you, it may involve a relative or close associate. You are not expected to register every interest of those
people, but you will need to declare them as and when they might arise. These are referred to in the code as ‘non-registerable
interests’.

As a brief summary, the requirements of the code apply where:

1. you or someone you are associated with has an interest in any business of your authority, and;
2. where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of that interest, and
3. you attend a meeting of your authority at which the business is considered (or where you are making a delegated decision as an
individual under executive arrangements).

You must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of your interests at the start of the meeting, or when the interest becomes
apparent. It is usual to have for any declarations of interest at the start of the meeting but it is good practice also to ask again at the
start of any agenda item. For example, members of the public may only be present for a specific item so will not have heard the
declaration at the start, and a member may only become aware of the interest part-way through the meeting or item in any case.

And there will be times that because your interest is so close to the matter under discussion you will not be able to take part in that item
of business. Those circumstances are explained in greater detail for each category of interest below.

This means there are three types of interest which you may have to declare:

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (Part A of the Register [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-
model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-a-the-seven-principles-of-public-life] );
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-a-the-
seven-principles-of-public-life] 
Other Registerable Interests (Part B [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-
code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests] ); [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-

  Print   TopPage 78

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-a-the-seven-principles-of-public-life
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-a-the-seven-principles-of-public-life
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 33/43

model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests] and 
Non-registerable interests [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests] .

Guidance is given below on each of these categories in turn.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
(Annex B, paragraphs 4 and 5) [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests]

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (or ‘DPIs’) were introduced by s30 of the Localism Act 2011. They are a category of interests which
relate to the member and/or their partner, such as financial interests of you or your partner such as your house or other property, or if
you have a job or own a business. The categories are set out in regulations made under the Act and are in Table 1 of Annex B of the
Code [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-
registering-interests] .

‘Partner’ is defined by regulations as your ‘spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person
with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.’

They must be registered and, where they come up in a meeting, declared. Failure knowingly to register or declare a DPI is a criminal
offence under the Localism Act.

The Localism Act says that if you are present at a meeting of the Council, or any committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint
sub-committee of the authority, and you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered or being considered at
the meeting:

you may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting
you may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting
if the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting
if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest
within 28 days.

The Act says you need to declare the nature of the interest only if it is not on the public register. In addition, your authority’s rules might
require you to leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes place.

However, the Model Code states that it is important to declare the nature of the interest and to withdraw while the item is being dealt
with. This aids transparency for the public and helps avoid accusations that you may be seeking to influence the outcome by remaining
in the room even if your local authority’s rules don’t explicitly require it.

If you have a DPI, you may in certain circumstances be granted a dispensation to take part (see guidance on Dispensations in Part3).

When does a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest arise?
The Localism Act uses the phrase ‘you have a DPI in any matter…’

This wording has led to some confusion as to what circumstances would lead to the need to declare a DPI. The Explanatory Notes to
the Localism Act say that section 31 of the Act “requires a member of a relevant authority to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest
that they are aware of (apart from a sensitive interest), at a meeting or if acting alone, where any matter to be considered relates to
their interest. ... It prohibits a member from participating in discussion or voting on any matter relating to their interest or, if acting
alone, from taking any steps in relation to the matter (subject to any dispensations).” [our emphasis].

This means you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in a matter when the matter being discussed directly relates to your
registered interest or that of your partner, rather than simply affecting it.

For example, if you have registered 1 Acacia Avenue as your address, you would have a DPI if you put in a planning application for 1
Acacia Avenue, or if the whole of Acacia Avenue was being considered for a Resident Parking Zone.

You would not have a DPI if 3 Acacia Avenue had put in a planning application as the matter does not directly relate to your registered
interest. You may however have a non-registerable interest (see below) as the application may indirectly affect your property.

Does setting the Council Tax or precept give rise to a DPI?

  Print   TopPage 79

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 34/43

The LGA is clear that you do not have a DPI simply if you are voting to set the Council Tax or precept. Guidance issued by the
Government in 2013 made clear that ‘any payment of, or liability to pay, council tax does not create a disclosable pecuniary interest as
defined in the national rules; hence being a council tax payer does not mean that you need a dispensation to take part in the business
of setting the council tax or precept or local arrangements for council tax support.’

The Council Tax and precept are charges on all relevant properties in the area and do not directly relate to any single property in such a
way as to give rise to a DPI. Members are therefore fully entitled to vote on the matter (subject to rules about Council tax arrears).

Other registerable interests
(Paras 6, 8 and 9 of Annex B) [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests]

The second category of interests are ‘other registerable interests’ or ORIs.

If you have an ‘Other Registerable Interest’ – that is an interest which falls within the categories in Table 2 in Annex B - the Code says
you should not participate in the relevant business in two circumstances:

1. when a matter directly relates to the finances or wellbeing of that interest. (para 6); or
2. when a matter affects the finances or wellbeing of that interest to a greater extent than it affects the majority of inhabitants; and a
reasonable member of the public would thereby believe that your view of the public interest would be affected (paras 8 and 9).

An interest ‘directly relates’ to an outside body where the local authority is taking a decision which directly relates to the
funding or wellbeing of that organisation
For example, under a) if you are a member of a group which has applied for funding from the local authority, or if you are a member of
an organisation which has submitted a planning application, the decision directly relates to that organisation.

In such a case you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter. You can speak on the matter before withdrawing but only
where the public are also allowed to address the meeting. For example, you may want to put forward the organisation’s case as to why
it has applied for funding, but representatives from competing organisations would also need to be able to make their case.

If the public are not allowed to address the meeting on that item, you would need, if necessary, to get another councillor who did not
have an ORI to make any relevant case.

If the local authority is simply discussing that outside organisation but not making a decision which relates to its finances or wellbeing –
for example discussing the annual report from the organisation – that does not directly relate to the organisation as there is no direct
impact on the organisation which would give rise to a conflict of interest.

Under b) if you are on the committee of the local village hall and an application for a licence for another venue in the village is made
which may take trade away from the village hall then the matter would affect the village hall and a reasonable person would believe that
would affect your view of the public interest so those two tests are met.

You would not have an interest if the local authority was discussing early planning for an event, which may or may not be held in the
village hall as there would be no direct financial impact at that time. When the plans crystallised then an interest would arise as a
decision would be made which would have financial implications.

There will also be circumstances where you do not need to declare an interest even though the matter may be relevant to the wider
aims of an organisation of which you are a member. For example, if you are a member of a charity such as the Royal Society for the
Protection of Birds (RSPB), you do not need to declare an interest every time the local authority might discuss matters relating to
habitats or conservation issues. Those issues may reflect the wider aims of RSPB, but they do not directly relate to or affect the
organisation and your mere membership of the organisation has no bearing on the matter.

If you were in a position of control or general management in that body and the organisation was campaigning actively on the specific
issue being discussed or you personally were campaigning actively on that specific issue the situation would be different. In those
circumstances you may have an interest and there is a risk of predetermination. Where there is doubt you should always seek advice
from the monitoring officer (or clerk if you are a parish councillor).

As with DPIs you can be granted a dispensation (see below) and if the interest has not been registered or notified to the monitoring
officer you should do so within 28 days of the meeting.

Non-registerable interest
  Print   TopPage 80

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 35/43

(paras 7, 8 and 9 of Annex B) [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-
conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests]

The third category of interests is Non-registerable interests or NRIs.

A Non-registerable Interest arises where the interest is that of yourself or your partner which is not a DPI or of a relative or close
associate (see definition below).

As a councillor you are not expected to have to register the interests of your relatives or close associates but under the Code you are
expected to declare them as and when relevant business occurs which affects their finances or wellbeing. The Code says you should
not participate in the relevant business in two circumstances:

a. when a matter directly relates to that interest. Or
b. when a matter affects that interest to a greater extent than it affects the majority of inhabitants and 

a reasonable member of the public would thereby believe that your view of the public interest would be affected

For example, under a) if your son has submitted an application for a licence to open a bar, the matter directly relates to your relative.
You must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter.

For example, under b) there has been an application made to build several units of housing on a field adjacent to your business
partner’s home. It is not their application, but they will be more affected by the application than the majority of people so again you
would be expected to declare the interest and withdraw.

Similarly, an application for the property next door to you does not directly relate to your property so it is not a DPI, but you would
instead need to declare a Non-Registerable Interest.

In all of these cases you can speak on the matter before withdrawing but only where the public are also allowed to address the meeting.
If the public are not allowed to address the meeting on that item, you would need if necessary, to get another councillor who did not
have an NRI to make any relevant case or to represent the wider views of constituents.

As with DPIs you can be granted a dispensation (see below).

What is the difference between ‘relates to’ and ‘affects’?
Something relates to your interest if it is directly about it. For example, the matter being discussed is an application about a particular
property in which you or somebody associated with you or an outside body you have registered has a financial interest.

‘Affects’ means the matter is not directly about that interest but nevertheless the matter has clear implications for the interest – for
example, it is a planning application for a neighbouring property which will result in it overshadowing your property. An interest can of
course affect you, your family or close personal associates positively and negatively.  So, if you or they have the potential to gain or lose
from a matter under consideration, an interest would need to be declared in both situations.

What does “affecting well-being” mean?
The term ‘well-being’ can be described as a condition of contentedness and happiness. Anything that could affect your quality of life or
that of someone you are closely associated with, either positively or negatively, is likely to affect your well-being. There may, for
example, be circumstances where any financial impact of a decision may be minimal but nevertheless the disruption it may cause to
you or those close to you could be significant. This could be on either a temporary or permanent basis. Temporary roadworks in your
street may affect your wellbeing on a temporary basis. Closure of a local amenity may have a more permanent impact on your
wellbeing if you use it more than the majority of people in the area.

What are the definitions of relative or close associate?
The Code does not attempt to define “relative” or “close associate”, as all families vary. Some people may have very close extended
families, but others will have more distant relations. You should consider the nature of your relationship with the person (eg whether
they are a close family member or more distant relation). The key test is whether the interest might be objectively regarded by a
member of the public, acting reasonably, as potentially affecting your responsibilities as a councillor. It would be a person with whom
you are in either regular or irregular contact with over a period of time who is more than an acquaintance. It is someone a reasonable
member of the public might think you would be prepared to favour or disadvantage when discussing a matter that affects them. It may
be a friend, a colleague, a business associate or someone whom you know through general social contacts. A close associate may also
be somebody to whom you are known to show animosity as you might equally be viewed as willing to treat them differently.

What if I am unaware of the interest?
  Print   TopPage 81

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020#appendix-b-registering-interests


28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 36/43

You can only declare an interest in a matter if you are aware of the interest. For example, a company of which your father-in-law is a
director may have made an application to the local authority. You may not be aware that he is a director, and you are not expected to
have to ask about the business affairs of your relatives or acquaintances simply because you are a councillor. However, you would
need to declare an interest as soon as you became aware.

A reasonable member of the public would expect you to know of certain interests of course, so it is, for example, reasonable that you
would be expected to know your daughter’s address or job but not necessarily any shareholdings she might have. While it is therefore
your decision as to whether or not to declare an interest, you should always consider how it might seem to a reasonable person and if
in doubt always seek advice from the monitoring officer.

Do I always have to withdraw if I have an ‘other registerable interest’ or a non-registerable interest to declare?
Where you have declared a DPI the Localism Act says you must always withdraw from participation unless you have a dispensation.

If the matter is an ‘other registerable interest’ or a non-registerable interest you must always withdraw from participation where the
matter directly relates to that interest unless you have a dispensation.

If it is something which affects the financial interest or wellbeing of that interest you are asked to declare it and the Code then asks you
to apply a two-part test before considering whether to participate in any discussion and/or vote:

1. Does the matter affect the interest more than it affects the majority of people in the area to which the business relates?
For example, if a major development affects the settlement where your sister lives and your sister would be no more affected than
anybody else – for example, she lives at the other end of the settlement rather than next door to the development, the answer would
be no. If the answer is yes, you then ask: 
 

2. Would a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts believe that it would affect your judgment of the wider public
interest?

This is similar to the test for bias (see guidance on predetermination and bias in Part 2) and if the answer is yes to that question then
you must not take part in the meeting.

You help to run a food bank and are considering a motion to investigate the causes of poverty. A reasonable member of the public
would not think that fact would affect your view of the wider public interest.

You are over 65 and are taking part in a discussion about provisions for older people. You would be more affected than the majority, but
a reasonable member of the public would not think that fact would affect your view of the wider public interest.

You are discussing closure of the local authority-run home where your elderly parent lives. A reasonable member of the public would
think that fact would affect your view of the wider public interest because of the direct effect on your parent.

What does ‘withdraw from the meeting’ mean?
When you withdraw from the meeting that means you must not be present in the room during the discussion or vote on the matter. If the
public are allowed to speak at the meeting then you would be granted the same speaking rights as the public and would need to comply
with the same rules – for example, giving notice in advance or abiding by time limits. However, unlike the public you would then
withdraw once you had spoken.

This would be true at a committee meeting, for example, even if you are not a member of the committee but are simply attending as a
member of the public. By staying in the room, even though you are not permitted to speak or vote, it is a long-held doctrine of case law
that a councillor may still influence the decision or might gather information which would help in the furtherance of his or her interest. It
is therefore in the public interest that a councillor, after having made any representations, should withdraw from the room, and explain
why they are withdrawing.

These rules would apply to virtual meetings as they would to physical meetings. For example, after having spoken you should turn off
your microphone and camera and may be moved to a ‘virtual waiting room’ while the item is discussed.

Executive decisions
Where you are an executive member you should follow the same rules as above when considering a matter collectively – that is you
should not take part in the decision where you have an interest applying the same rules as apply to other meetings above.

  Print   TopPage 82



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 37/43

Where you have delegated decision-making power, you should not exercise that delegation in relation to matters where you have a
disclosable pecuniary Interest or another type of interest which would debar you from taking part in a meeting. Instead you should ask
the executive to take the decision collectively without your participation.

Where you have been delegated non-executive powers under s.236 of the Local Government and Public Housing Act 2007 you should
similarly follow this approach and your local authority may need to make that clear in its code if it is using that power.

Dispensations
Wherever you have an interest the code allows you to apply for a dispensation. The Localism Act sets out arrangements for applying for
a dispensation where you have a DPI but is silent about dispensations for other types of interest as they are not statutory interests. A
similar process should however be set out in your constitution or Dispensation Policy for ORIs and NRIs.

A dispensation must be applied for in writing to the ‘Proper Officer’ (the monitoring officer or, in the case of a parish council, the clerk) in
good time before the relevant meeting and will be considered according to the local authority’s scheme of delegation for considering a
dispensation. The circumstances whereby a dispensation may be granted are where -

1. It is considered that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from participating in any particular business would
be so great a proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business. 
2. It is considered that without the dispensation the representation of different political groups on the body transacting any particular
business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business.
3. That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority’s area.
4. That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

What is a ‘sensitive interest’?
There are circumstances set out in the Localism Act where you do not need to put an interest on the public register or declare the
nature of an interest at a meeting although you would have to declare in general terms that you have an interest. These are so-called
‘sensitive interests’.

An interest will be a sensitive interest if the two following conditions apply: (a) That you have an interest (whether or not a DPI); and

(b) the nature of the interest is such that you and the monitoring officer consider that disclosure of the details of the interest could lead
to you or a person connected to you being subject to violence or intimidation.

Where it is decided that an interest is a “sensitive interest” you must inform the monitoring officer of the interest so that a record is kept
but it will be excluded from published versions of the register. The monitoring officer may state on the register that the member has an
interest the details of which are excluded under that particular section.

Where the sensitive interest crops up in a meeting the usual rules relating to declaration will apply except that you will only be required
to disclose that you hold an interest in the matter under discussion but do not have to say what that interest is. The Localism Act sets
out the scheme where the DPI is a sensitive interest. Your local authority procedures should allow for similar arrangements for other
registerable or declarable interests.

For example, if your sister has been subject to domestic violence such that the perpetrator has been served with a Domestic Violence
Protection Order you would not be expected to disclose your sister’s address to a meeting.

What do I do if I need advice?
If you are unsure as to whether you have an interest to declare you should always seek advice from the monitoring officer (or the clerk if
you are a parish councillor).

The Golden Rule is be safe –seek advice if in doubt before you act.

No. TYPE SPEAK* VOTE STAY EXAMPLE COMMENTS

  Print   TopPage 83



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 38/43

1 DPI N N N

Awarding a contract to your own
company

Planning application for your property

Resident parking zone includes your
house

Directly relates to DPI-foreseeable-narrow-criminal

2a ORI
If public
allowed
to

N N

Awarding/withdrawing grant funding to
a body of which you are a member e.g.
village hall

Granting planning permission to a
body of which you are a member

Directly relates to finances-foreseeable-narrow-can
“address” meeting if public can do, but not take part in
discussion.

 

2b ORI Test Test Test
Awarding grant funding to a body other
than the body of which you are a
member e.g. competitor to village hall

Affects finances or wellbeing-test (1) greater than majority of
inhabitants and (2) reasonable public-affect view of public
interest

3a NRI
If public
allowed
to

N N

Determining an application submitted
by your sister or your neighbour for a
dog breeding licence

Partner with free parking permit and
policy review decision to be made

Councillor objects in private capacity to
neighbours planning application
cannot sit on PC as statutory
consultee

Directly relates to finances of you, partner (not a DPI)-a
relative or close associate-Unforeseeable- can “address”
meeting if public can do, but not take part in discussion.

 

3b NRI Test Test Test

Application for housing development
on land near to partners business
property

Your neighbour applies for planning
permission

Affects finances or well-being-test 1) greater than majority of
inhabitants and (2) reasonable public-affect view of public
interest

2b/3b NRI Test Test Test

Road works noise outside your house

Odours from nearby refuse tip

ASB from rough sleepers housed in
B+B’s nearby

May not affect finances but Well-being=quality of life – apply
2-stage test

 

*speak-take part in discussion, as opposed to addressing a public meeting as a member of the public where others can also address
the meeting

Proximity in personal relationship and in physical proximity are often important factors in determining ability to speak and/or vote.

Bias and Predetermination

Bias and predetermination are not explicitly mentioned in the Code of Conduct. The code provisions on declarations of interest are
about ensuring you do not take decisions where you or those close to you stand to lose or gain improperly. (See guidance on
declarations of interest in Part 2) [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-
councillor-code-conduct#part-2-general-obligations-under-the-code-of-conduct]

  Print   TopPage 84



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 39/43

There is however a separate concept in law dealing with bias and predetermination which exists to ensure that decisions are taken
solely in the public interest rather than to further private interests.

Both the courts and legislation recognise that elected councillors are entitled, and indeed expected, to have and to have expressed their
views on a subject to be decided upon by the local authority. In law, there is no pretence that such democratically accountable decision-
makers are intended to be independent and impartial as if they were judges or quasi-judges.

Nonetheless, decisions of public authorities do involve consideration of circumstances where a decision-maker must not act in a way
that goes to the appearance of having a closed mind and pre-determining a decision before they have all of the evidence before them
and where they have to act fairly. Breaches of the rules of natural justice in these circumstances have and do continue to result in
decisions of local authorities being successfully challenged in the courts. These issues are complex, and advice should be sought and
given in the various situations that come up, which is why there are no direct paragraphs of the code covering this, although it does
overlap with the rules on declarations of interest.

While declaring interests will to some extent deal with issues of bias, there will still be areas where a formal declaration is not required
under the Code of Conduct, but councillors need to be clear that they are not biased or predetermined going into the decision-making
process. Otherwise the decision is at risk of being challenged on appeal or in the Courts. To quote a leading judgment in this field "All
councillors elected to serve on local councils have to be scrupulous in their duties, search their consciences and consider carefully the
propriety of attending meetings and taking part in decisions which may give rise to an appearance of bias even though their actions are
above reproach.” [1] [#_ftn1]

The rules against bias say that there are three distinct elements. 

The first seeks accuracy in public decision-making.

The second seeks the absence of prejudice or partiality on the part of you as the decision-maker. An accurate decision is more likely to
be achieved by a decision-maker who is in fact impartial or disinterested in the outcome of the decision and who puts aside any
personal strong feelings they may have had in advance of making the decision.

The third requirement is for public confidence in the decision-making process. Even though the decision-maker may in fact be
scrupulously impartial, the appearance of bias can itself call into question the legitimacy of the decision-making process. In general, the
rule against bias looks to the appearance or risk of bias rather than bias in fact, in order to ensure that justice should not only be done
but should manifestly and undoubtedly be seen to be done.

To varying degrees, these “requirements” might be seen to provide the rationales behind what are generally taken to be three separate
rules against bias: “automatic” (or “presumed”) bias, “actual” bias, and “apparent” bias.

[1] [#_ftnref1] Kelton v Wiltshire Council [2015] EWHC 2853 (Admin) 

The rationale behind “automatic” or “presumed” bias appears to be that in certain situations (such as if you have a pecuniary or
proprietary interest in the outcome of the proceedings) then it must be presumed that you are incapable of impartiality. Since a motive
for bias is thought to be so obvious in such cases, the decisions are not allowed to stand even though no investigation is made into
whether the decision-maker was biased in fact. In these circumstances you should not participate in the discussion or vote on the issue.
These are covered by the code’s requirement to declare certain interests and withdraw from participation. (see guidance on
declaration of interests in Part 3). [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-
councillor-code-conduct#declarations-of-interest]

A single councillor who is guilty of bias is enough to strike out the whole decision when challenged before the courts. This can cause
huge cost and reputational damage for the local authority yet is seldom due to actual corruption or even consciously favouring a
personal interest over the public interest on the part of the councillor involved and may have no repercussions for them personally.

Predetermination
The Localism Act 2011 has enshrined the rules relating to pre-disposition and predetermination into statute.  In essence you are not
taken to have had, or appeared to have had, a closed mind when making a decision just because you have previously done anything
that directly or indirectly indicated what view you may take in relation to a matter and that matter was relevant to the decision. 

Predetermination at a meeting can be manifested in a number of ways. It is not just about what you might say, for example, but it may
be shown by body language, tone of voice or overly-hostile lines of questioning for example.

  Print   TopPage 85



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 40/43

You are therefore entitled to have a predisposition one way or another as long as you have not pre-determined the outcome. You are
able to express an opinion providing that you come to the relevant meeting with an open mind and demonstrate that to the meeting by
your behaviour, able to take account of all of the evidence and make your decision on the day.

How can bias or predetermination arise?
The following are some of the potential situations in which predetermination or bias could arise.

Connection with someone affected by a decision
This sort of bias particularly concerns administrative decision-making, where the authority must take a decision which involves
balancing the interests of people with opposing views. It is based on the belief that the decision-making body cannot make an unbiased
decision, or a decision which objectively looks impartial, if a councillor serving on it is closely connected with one of the parties involved.

Examples
The complaint alleged that a councillor had behaved in a disrespectful and harassing manner towards two fellow female councillors and
officers. It was established that the councillor had made unwarranted and inappropriate physical contact with the councillors and officers at
an official event and had also made remarks towards the officers which were patronising and demeaning. The councillor was found to been
in breach of the Code of Conduct.

A district councillor also belongs to a parish council that has complained about the conduct of an officer of the district council. As a result of
the complaint the officer has been disciplined. The officer has appealed to a councillor panel and the councillor seeks to sit on the panel
hearing the appeal. The councillor should not participate.

Contrast this with:

The complaint about the officer described above is made by the local office of a national charity of which the councillor is an ordinary
member and is not involved with the local office. The councillor should be able to participate in this situation because the matter is not
concerned with the promotion of the interests of the charity.

Improper involvement of someone with an interest in the outcome
This sort of bias involves someone who has, or appears to have, inappropriate influence in the decision being made by someone else. It is
inappropriate because they have a vested interest in the decision.

Examples
A local authority receives an application to modify the Definitive Map of public rights of way. A panel of councillors are given delegated
authority to make the statutory modification Order. They have a private meeting with local representatives of a footpath organisation before
deciding whether the Order should be made. However, they do not give the same opportunity to people with opposing interests.

Prior involvement
This sort of bias arises because someone is being asked to make a decision about an issue which they have previously been involved
with. This may be a problem if the second decision is a formal appeal from the first decision, so that someone is hearing an appeal from
their own decision. However, if it is just a case of the person in question being required to reconsider a matter in the light of new
evidence or representations, it is unlikely to be unlawful for them to participate.

Commenting before a decision is made
Once a lobby group or advisory body has commented on a matter or application, it is likely that a councillor involved with that body will
still be able to take part in making a decision about it. But this is as long as they do not give the appearance of being bound only by the
views of that body. If the councillor makes comments which make it clear that they have already made up their mind, they may not take
part in the decision.

If the councillor is merely seeking to lobby a public meeting at which the decision is taking place but will not themselves be involved in
making the decision, then they are not prevented by the principles of predetermination or bias from doing so. Unlike private lobbying,
there is no particular reason why the fact that councillors can address a public meeting in the same way as the public should lead to  Print   TopPage 86



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 41/43

successful legal challenges.

Examples

A local authority appoints a barrister to hold a public inquiry into an application to register a village green. The barrister produces
a report where he recommends that the application is rejected. A councillor attends a meeting in one of the affected wards and
says publicly: “speaking for myself I am inclined to go along with the barrister’s recommendation”. He later participates in the
local authority’s decision to accept the barrister’s recommendation. At the meeting the supporters of the application are given an
opportunity to argue that the recommendation should not be accepted.

This is unlikely to give rise to a successful claim of predetermination or bias. The statement made by the councillor only
suggests a predisposition to follow the recommendation of the barrister’s report, and not that he has closed his mind to all
possibilities. The subsequent conduct of the meeting, where supporters of the application could try and persuade councillors to
disagree with the recommendation, would confirm this.

A developer entered into negotiations to acquire some surplus local authority land for an incinerator. Planning permission for the
incinerator had already been granted. Following local elections there is a change in the composition and political control of the
local authority. After pressure from new councillors who have campaigned against the incinerator and a full debate, the local
authority’s executive decides to end the negotiations. This is on the grounds that the land is needed for housing and
employment uses.

The local authority’s decision is unlikely to be found to be biased, so long as the eventual decision was taken on proper grounds
and after a full consideration of all the relevant issues.

What do I do if I need advice?
If you are unsure as to whether your views or any action you have previously taken may amount to predetermination you should always
seek advice from the monitoring officer (or the clerk if you are a parish councillor).

The Golden Rule is be safe –seek advice if in doubt before you act. 

Appendix 1 - Interests Flowchart

 Interests Flowchart
The flowchart below gives a simple guide to declaring an interest under the code.

  Print   TopPage 87



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 42/43

Appendix 2 - General Principles

General Principles
The Seven Principles of Public Life (also known as the Nolan Principles) outline the ethical standards those working in the public sector
are expected to adhere to. The principles apply to all public office holders at all levels including ministers, civil servants, councillors, and
local authority officers, as well as private and voluntary organisations delivering services paid for by public funds. The principles are:

Selflessness

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

Integrity

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them
in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.
They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.   Print   TopPage 88



28/09/2021, 09:28 Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct 43/43

Objectivity

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure
this.

Openness

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless
there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty

Holders of public office should be truthful.

Leadership

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and
be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

These principles underpin the standards that councillors should uphold and form the basis for the Code of Conduct, where the
Principles have been translated into a series of clear rules. While fundamental to the Code of Conduct the principles are not part of the
rules of the code and should be used for guidance and interpretation only.

  Print   TopPage 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 4 May 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Housing Benefit Local Discretionary Modified Scheme 

 

Approval for continuation of the current scheme. 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance 

Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Cabinet approval for the continuation of the Housing Benefit Local 

Discretionary Modified scheme, which will continue to disregard, in full, war pensions from the 

calculation of Housing Benefit. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet approves continuation of the disregard from the calculation of Housing Benefit of 

all income prescribed in the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (War Pension Disregards) 

Regulations 2007, and subsequent amendments. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The current decision is now more than 10 years old, and it is timely to have in place a formal 

recorded decision that confirms continuation of the scheme, and in turn this will satisfy the 

Department for Work and Pension (DWP) Housing Benefit subsidy audit requirements. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 3



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Alternative options to reduce the level of disregard, to disregard a fixed amount or lower 

percentage of the pensions, or to end the local discretionary scheme from 31 March 2023, and 

include all war pension as income in the calculation of Housing Benefit have been considered. 

These options are not recommended.  The cost to BBC of continuing the current scheme is 

relatively low, and these options would not align with, or demonstrate the Councils 

commitment to, the Armed Forces Covenant and could present some reputational risk to BBC. 

Do nothing is a further option.  Whilst essentially this option would maintain the status quo, i.e. 

full disregard of war pension income, it would not provide a recorded minute to confirm a 

formal decision to continue the current scheme.  This would mean ongoing reliance on the 

original decision that was made many years ago and this could place the Council at risk, 

potentially financial, through future Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim audits. 
 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Legislation provides for certain income to be disregarded when calculating entitlement to 

Housing Benefit.  This includes the first £10.00 per week of any War Disablement or War 

Widows Pension received by the claimant.  

 

1.2 Under Section 134 (8) of the Social Security Administration Act 1992, Councils have the 

discretion to increase the amount that is disregarded of such income.  Regulations prescribe 

which Pensions can be disregarded and a full list can be found in Appendix A. 

 

2.  BBC LOCAL DISCRETIONARY MODIFIED SCHEME 

2.1 Boston Borough Council has used its powers in this respect for a number of years now, and 

as part of the audit process this year a confirmation of the Council’s decision was required.  

As the original decision is now more than ten years old, it is timely for this decision to be 

brought back before Cabinet for formal approval of continuation of the scheme in current 

and future years.  

 

2.2 The full disregard of War Disablement Pension and War Widows Pension, which is in line 

with the principles of the Armed Forces Covenant, is funded up to 75% of the total cost by 

the Government.  In respect of 2020/21 the cost to Boston was £1,561 

 

War Disablement and War Widows Pension disregard – 2020/21  

Expenditure Government contribution Local funding 

£6,244 £4,683 £1,561 

 

 

  

Page 92



 

3. CONCLUSION 
 

3.1 Continuation of the scheme to fully disregard war pension income from the calculation of 

Housing Benefit is recommended as it demonstrates the Councils ongoing commitment to 

the Armed Forces Covenant.  It is low cost to the Council.   

A recorded decision to continue the scheme will provide evidence for future Housing 

Benefit subsidy audits. 

  

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Not applicable. 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None. 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

 

STAFFING 

None 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

 

FINANCIAL 

Housing benefit is administered on behalf of central government and is subject to subsidy 
arrangements.   The Modified Scheme is discretionary, and whilst the government will fund this in 
part (75%), there will be a 25% cost to Boston Borough Council which is anticipated to be met from 
existing budgets.  In 2020/21 this cost was £1,561. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None Page 93



 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

None 

 

REPUTATION 

The continuation of disregards of War Disablement Pension and War Widow Pension demonstrates 

Boston’s commitment to the principles of the Armed Forces Covenant. 

 

CONTRACTS 

None 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

An impact assessment is not required.  Housing Benefit is administered based on national 

regulations and guidance.  There is no change proposed to the local modified scheme which covers 

the disregard of war pensions. 

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

ACRONYMS 

DWP – Department for Work and Pensions 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Schedule to the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 

(War Pensions Disregard) Regulations 2007 

 

Page 94



BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

None 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits 

Signed off by: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance 

Approved for publication:  

 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

 

The Schedule to the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (War Pension Disregards) 

Regulations 2007 (SI: 2007/1619 as amended by SIs 2009/3389 and 2010/2449) 

 

THE SCHEDULE  

War disablement and war widow’s pensions 

 

PART 1 

War disablement pensions 

1. The war disablement pensions prescribed are—  

(a) any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of disablement under an 
instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003; 

(b) any retired pay or pension payable, to a member of the armed forces of the Crown in 
respect of a disablement which is attributable to service, under— 

(i) an Order in Council made under section 3 of the Naval and Marine Pay and 
Pensions Act 1865, 

(ii)  the Army Pensions Warrant 1977, 
(iia) the Army Pensions (Armed Forces Pension Scheme 1975 and Attributable 

Benefits Scheme) Warrant 2010 
(iii) any order or regulations made under section 2 of the Air Force (Constitution) 

Act 1917, 
(iv) any order or regulations made under section 4 of the Reserve Forces Act 

1996,  
(v)  any instrument amending or replacing any of the instruments referred to in 

paragraphs (i) to (iv), or  
(vi) any power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make 

provision about pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled 
or have died in consequence of service as members of the armed forces of 
the Crown; and 

(c) a payment made under article 14(1)(b) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces 
(Compensation Scheme) Order 2005. 

 

PART 2 

War widow’s pensions 

2. The war widow’s pensions prescribed are—  

(a) any pension or allowance payable to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under an 
instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 
in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 

(b) a pension payable, to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner of a member of the armed 
forces of the Crown in respect of death which is attributable to service, under— 

(i) an Order in Council made under section 3 of the Naval and Marine Pay and 
Pensions Act 1865,  

(ii) the Army Pensions Warrant 1977, 
(iia) the Army Pensions (Armed Forces Pension Scheme 1975 and Attributable 

Benefits Scheme) Warrant 2010 
(iii) any order or regulations made under section 2 of the Air Force (Constitution) 

Act 1917, 
(iv) any order or regulations made under section 4 of the Reserve Forces Act 

1996, 
(v) any instrument amending or replacing any of the instruments referred to in 

paragraphs (i) to (iv), or 
(vi) any power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make 

provision about pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled 
or have died in consequence of service as members of the armed forces of 
the Crown; and 

(c) a payment made under article 21(1)(a) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces 
(Compensation Scheme) Order 2005. 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 4 May 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Boston Historic Places Panel Visit 

To provide a response to the recommendations in the Historic 

Places Panel Review Paper 

KEY DECISION: Yes 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Richard Austin 

REPORT AUTHOR: Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: Town Wards 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The Historic Places Panel (previously known as the Urban Panel) visited Boston in September 2021 

to provide independent expertise to help Boston Borough Council and others engage in 

suggesting ideas and supporting the regeneration and revitalisation of the historic place that is 

Boston. As a result of that visit, the Panel produced a review paper listing a number of 

recommendations which Cabinet are asked to consider. The report is shown at Appendix A. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Note the response to the Historic Places Panel review paper recommendations as set out in the 

body of the report. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 The Historic Places Panel recognised the continued opportunity for Boston to take advantage of 

external funding opportunities and the recommendations support these ambitions. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None. Not to acknowledge these recommendations would mean the report could not be used as 

a supporting, evidence base for future funding opportunities. 

 

 
Page 99

Agenda Item 4



1 Background 

1.1 The Historic Places Panel - previously known as the Urban Panel - provides a broad spectrum 
of independent expertise to help local authorities and others engage in the regeneration and 
revitalisation of historic places - a list of current panel members and previous review papers 
can be found on the website:  

www.historicengland.org.uk/about/who-we-are/committees-and-panels/historic-places-
panel 

We welcomed the following Panellists to Boston:- 

Peter Studdert (Chair) 

Nigel Baker 

Ben Derbyshire 

Sophia de Sousa 

Johanna Gibbons 

Julian Hill 

Nigel Hinds 

Rosemarie MacQueen 

David Ubaka 

Katie Wray 

 

1.2 The Visit 

The Historic Places Panel’s visit to Boston took place on 28 and 29 September 2021 and was 
supported by key Council officers and Cllr Richard Austin and Historic England officers 
throughout the two days. On the evening of the first day, there was a splendid celebration of 
Boston in the Guildhall involving some members of Cabinet and a wide range of strategic 
partners with the spectacular food prepared and served by the students of Boston College. 

The visit was an opportunity to showcase our town at its best, with the Wednesday market 
in full swing as it has been for generations and it was noted in the final report that; 

 “Boston’s place in the world was established over seven hundred years ago when it rivalled 
London as a sea port, with trade and cultural links reaching East, far into Europe and beyond. 
This importance, which led to its name being bestowed on that other, now more famous 
Boston, has left a legacy of buildings and spaces that evoke not only another time, but also 
another country. Boston is on the very edge of England, with a church spire ‘The Stump’, that 
is as much a landmark to seafarers as it is to those on land with a setting largely reclaimed 
from The Wash and its coastal marshes.” 

1.3 The purpose of the visit was to provide a valuable report (Appendix A) for the local authority 

to use to help inform decision making, strategy, evolution of projects and future funding 

opportunities. The Panel concluded the following:- 

“Creating the strong partnerships necessary for place making requires leadership, something 

Boston has amply demonstrated. Implementing change to best effect, satisfying the desires 

Page 100

http://www.historicengland.org.uk/about/who-we-are/committees-and-panels/historic-places-panel
http://www.historicengland.org.uk/about/who-we-are/committees-and-panels/historic-places-panel


of the existing population, while making changes that attract the movers and shakers takes 

this to another level, and requires technical expertise, lateral, strategic thinking and good 

engagement and communication. The Panel found a town that has all the ingredients to 

become a great place to live in, that has taken some significant steps towards achieving that 

goal. It has also seen the potential pitfalls caused by tight timescales, conflicting requirements 

and the limitations of capacity.” 

 

2. Historic Places Panel Report 

We welcomed a return visit on Thursday 14 April 2022 from Peter Studdart, who is the 

outgoing Chairman of the Panel and Ben Derbyshire who is the incoming Chairman. 

There were 11 recommendations in the review paper and these were explored during the 

return visit. Discussions focused on how the Historic Places Panel could support our current 

initiatives, including:- 

• Towns Fund 

• Levelling Up wave 2 

• UK Shared Prosperity Funding 

• NPO submission (National Portfolio Organisations) 

We explored how Boston Borough Council and Historic England could continue to work 

together deliver these varied projects, including:- 

  (i) Stakeholder engagement and facilitator support for the PE21 paper. 

(ii) It was proposed that an archaeology study of part of the site identified as PE21 

should be the subject of an archaeological dig. This has been shown to bring 

communities together (as noted from a previous dig that took place in the 

Market Place) and due to the quality and historical significance of the artefacts 

that are likely to exist in this area, raise the profile of Boston further. It is 

recommended that this is undertaken to be the formal submission of any 

planning application to maximise the length of time the dig could take. 

Officers propose to seek external funding to support this initiative. 

2.1 Turning to the recommendations in the Historic England Review Paper:- 

1. Consider employing an Urban Designer jointly with adjoining authorities. A qualified 

design professional will be of benefit across the full range of place making activity 

(including delivering a number of the recommendations below) and would represent 

excellent value for money. At the same time, more use could be made of the services 

available from the regional design review service Design Midlands. 

 

The team have undertaken some initial exploration of this concept, its benefits and its 

challenges. Clearly, the national agenda steers towards more investment in design, as 

part of underpinning pride of place. As a Partnership, there may be an opportunity here, 

but it would require funding. It is suggested we may wish to look at a ‘call-off’ type 

support, as opposed to retaining in-house, with the key benefits being in relation to 

securing advice from professionals who are exposed to a wide range of opportunities and 

challenges, as opposed to simply being exposed to those which are presented to the 

Page 101



Councils and which are influenced solely by our existing places. This needs further 

exploration, and in principle we would support this, however, it will come at a cost.  

 

2. Develop a Green Infrastructure Strategy addressing flood resilience, SuDS, urban 

farming, green skills, contact with nature, biodiversity, heritage landscapes, cycling and 

walking in partnership with the local groups. A movement hub would help to get people 

onto bikes for commuting, improving health and wellbeing, achieving goals set out in 

the Boston Transport Strategy. 

 

The development of a Green Infrastructure Strategy could be incorporated through a 

review of the associated Local Plan Policies for the South and East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

This be an issue which requires consideration, however, it will be an extensive piece of 

work and thus will come at a cost. The decision regarding this would be taken by the Joint 

Strategic Planning Committee. It is therefore a longer-term requirement. 

 

However, through the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership (SECLCP) we are 

in the process of developing a Transport Strategy for our sub-region which will develop 

the strategies suggested to embrace Active Travel for the wider benefits of our 

community. In addition, one of the first shared scrutiny exercises across that SELCP is on 

the topic of Public Transport and will what examine good practice looks like and how we 

can influence the wider agenda. 

 

3. Make a study of your car parks, including ownership. Map usage to inform the future 

rationalization of parking provision, provide evidence to support the design approach 

for PE21 and to identify opportunities to mend the townscape elsewhere. 

 

This is a piece of work that has been suggested at various times during the last few years 

which the impact of Covid has delayed.  The Assistant Director for Assets will lead on this 

as the Council owns a number of car parks - several of which are underutilised and might 

be available for different commercial outcomes. 

 

In addition there is the ongoing work on the PE21 project which will be informed by car 

park usage. This study has also been suggested by the project team to look at the issue on 

a wider basis - including private car parks, on-street arrangements, charging etc. However 

it is appreciated that politically this is a sensitive issue. 

 

The original Masterplan by ARUrbanism contained detailed references to the number of 

car parks that are available for public use with the immediate town centre. The 

consultation exercises that were undertaken with the public (in the Guildhall over three 

days, in what was Oldrids for one day and one evening in the Municipal Buildings) debated 

at length why the need for town centre car parks would decline, the changing car 

ownership models and the cost of car ownership. In addition, the future of the bus station, 

and bus provision in general (following Covid and usage decline) is a long-term challenge 

which must be considered. 

 

4. Ensure that the Arts Council-funded route map to a cultural policy aligns with the 

existing Heritage Strategy, and includes measures to allow the full activation of spaces 

and buildings currently under-used. 
Page 102



 

There has been much activity following the Historic Place Panel visit in September and we 

have been working closely with the Arts Council to develop a Cultural Strategy that will be 

presented to Cabinet in June.  

 

Furthermore, the Assistant Director for Economic Growth is leading on an NPO 

submission, working with the Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture. An NPO is a 

National Portfolio Organisation which, if successful will lead to a three year funding 

programme to enable us to plan strategically and to deliver ambitions for a post pandemic 

arts and cultural landscape. The initial thoughts around this project would see the 

Guildhall as a heritage hub and draw in the wider cultural offer of these heritage buildings 

in a hub and spoke model, such as Blackfriars, Shodfriars, Fydell House and the Stump. 

This is intended to work in conjunction with successful Towns Fund projects, creating a 

“layering” effect to demonstrate greater cumulative impact on outcomes for our 

communities.  

 

5. Write a characterisation study to get a better handle on what it is to “Be Boston”. This 

will help with many aspects of design and make a conservation area appraisal 

straightforward. This should include a study of movement, legibility and a strategy for 

integrated green infrastructure. 

 

Utilising the funding opportunities from the Empowering Healthy Communities Fund, the 

Pride in Place element of the programme has seen the #BeBoston campaign evolve and 

include the #BostonHeroes campaign and #BostonHeroes celebration event held on 8 

March 2022.  

 

Whilst this may not link directly to the reference to the conservation area, we are able to 

take the ideas that have been generated through Pride in Place initiatives and noting the 

recent publication of the UK Share Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) and the focus on Pride in Place, 

we feel this has created a strong base on which to build. 

 

The Council has also recently looked to align its approach to heritage (in a planning sense) 

with a shared resource across ELDC/BBC with a revised contractual arrangement with 

Heritage Trust of Lincolnshire (Heritage Lincs) to provide support across both authorities. 

This reinforces the partnership between the Councils and Heritage Lincs who have been 

active in a number of areas including Towns Fund, and PSiCA schemes. It is within the 

Council's budget to undertake a review of the Boston Conservation Area (and its 

associated Management Plan, and Shop Front Guide) all of which are dated. This is 

presently being scoped and is likely to be brought forward with similar work for 

SHDC/ELDC. These documents will help decision-making and funding bids moving forward. 

This is expected to be completed within 2022/23. 

 

6. Create a list of small, medium and large projects to be delivered over the short, medium 

and long term as part of a Green, Blue and Grey infrastructure strategy, including 

wildlife, biodiversity and climate change adaptation. 

 

To a degree, this links to item 2. However, in the background the Council continues to 

identify future opportunities with a view to working with proposers or to secure 
Page 103



funding/inward investment. This is quite a wide ranging recommendation and requires 

further exploration, however in principle, having an identified list of projects which could 

be delivered by partners would assist in terms of identifying funding opportunities.  

 

The Council may however wish to take a view that it should lead by example, in which case 

we could seek to identify our own opportunities first (as we have with the climate change 

strategy). However, this would require a political direction and funding to bring in resource 

to undertake this work. There would also been to be a shift in mind set for things such as 

grounds maintenance away from a cost minimisation approach, towards a more multi-

faceted view - e.g. returning to adopting open spaces which can then be managed and 

developed to meet these objectives. Biodiversity Net Gain does potentially present an 

opportunity in this regard, with the potential to use Council land as a way of providing net 

gain to off-set development through a credit-based scheme. Cabinet may wish to see this 

item come forward as a separate report. 

 

7. Communication and partnership is a fundamental of good place making and Boston has 

made great strides in this. To derive even greater value from this, the Panel recommends 

that the Borough does a quick relationship and stakeholder mapping exercise which may 

reveal common interests that were previously unrealised and establish relationships 

that would otherwise not happen. 

 

This piece of work is underway as part of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership combined working - to build upon the great partnership working we have seen 

as a consequence of the Boston Town Deal Board creation. Through this structure we have 

seen the value of strong partnership not just in the way ideas and initiatives are developed 

and delivered but through the shared communication which has an impact on the Pride in 

Place outcomes. 

 

8. Ensure urgent repairs happen at Shodfriar’s Hall. It is, strategically, the building in 

Boston with the greatest untapped potential and it should play a leading part in the 

town’s cultural regeneration. 

 

Since the visit of the Historic Place Panel in September, Shodfriars has been acquired by 

a new owner. Through the Healing the High Street Towns Deal project, which following 

approval by the Department of Levelling Up and Communities means that funding may 

now be drawn down by the delivery partner, Heritage Lincolnshire, the new owner and 

the lead officer from Heritage Lincolnshire who have been working closely to bring 

forward works to Shodfriars. 

 

During the feedback visit of 14 April, the Historic Places Panel members were able to visit 

Shodfriars and see first-hand the difference that has been made to the building in a short 

time. 

 

9. Build an engagement approach focusing on heritage, harnessing every phase of the 

development process including design, archaeology and construction. This will deliver 

on community cohesion and skills and improve outcomes. 

 

Page 104



During the feedback visit of 14 April the Historic Places Panel members discussed the 

potential of this to align with PE21. This will be explored further. 

 

10. Economic analysis is necessary to underpin the PE21 strategy. Commission a 

development appraisal to provide the essential evidence to put the Council in a strong 

position in its negotiations with delivery partners and planning, as well as to ensure 

the full potential socio-economic impact of the site is realised. 

 

Work on this has been done previously, and the Council has sufficient skills in this area 

to support. Work is progressing at pace with PE21, with discussions with key landowners 

as well as private sector partners. This links with Levelling Up 2 funding, and members 

will be updated as this progresses. Clearly there may be some elements of the scheme 

which have greater social value and can be driven by the Council as opposed to being 

reliant on the market. Equally, the Council is likely to have to take a role in driving forward 

the scheme, either as a development partner (JV) or undertaking some delivery itself - 

for example to provide housing, or buildings for other partners who may have access to 

revenue funding but not capital. 

 

11. Seek a meeting with the Environment Agency and DLUHC to explore ways of unlocking 

development as the knock-on effects of the housing shortage have implications for the 

Town Deal. Perhaps an architectural design competition could be promoted to provoke 

innovative thinking in this field. 

We would agree with this point, however, it is a much wider issue based upon the 

approach of the EA in planning terms, locally and nationally.  

We welcome the idea of a design competition and it is something Officers have discussed 

previously. However, without the buy-in of partners such as the EA, it could be a 

theoretical, not a practical outcome.  

We should welcome the outcomes of the panel as a way of engendering a more rounded 

conversation with DLUHC and Ministers regarding the challenges faced by areas such as 

Boston by adopting a single-issue mind set - i.e. Flood Risk; when in fact areas have 

multiple challenges that must be balanced - i.e. growth, housing need, ecology, place, 

heritage, etc. 

3 CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 This is a hugely positive report for Boston and affirms the importance that the place of Boston 

holds nationally with the quality of our historical and heritage sphere of influence. 
 
 It is pleasing to see the hard work the Council has undertaken through the Towns Fund and 

the impact this has on Pride in Place is recognised. 
 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

This is emphasised throughout the report. 
 
  

Page 105



IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

Opportunity to continue to share learning and expertise across the wider partnership for the 

benefit of all of the historic places in our towns and villages. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

This Historic Place Panel report helps the Council meet two of the Corporate Strategy priorities in 

the following way: Boston is a place where people want to live, work and visit and to grow Boston’s 

economy to ensure it remains a thriving town through supporting the Pride in Place initiatives, 

particularly through the ongoing Healing the High Street Towns Fund project and PE21 project. 

STAFFING 

There are no staffing implications directly arising, however where opportunities for external 

capacity funding arises to increase the breadth of skills in the wider team to deliver specific 

projects. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 
 
FINANCIAL 
 
There are none directly arising from this report and indeed this report provides a valuable evidence 
base to support external funding bids. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
None 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

None 

REPUTATION 

This report raises the reputation of Boston in a positive way. 

CONTRACTS 

None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

Improving pride in place is show to have a positive impact on the perception of crime and reducing 

low-level anti-social behaviour. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

 
Page 106



HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

Improving the feel of the place through good design outcomes has been shown to have a positive 

impact on the wellbeing of individuals. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The potential positive impact on the environment is contained in the report. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER 

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Living Standards By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of 
the UK, with each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap 
between the top performing and other areas closing. 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be 
significantly closer to the standards of London, with improved services, 
simpler fares and integrated ticketing. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills 
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In 
England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing 
high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people 
completing courses in the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will 
rise by 5 years. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas. 

Local Leadership By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal 
with powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution and a 
simplified, long-term funding settlement. 

 

ACRONYMS 

None. 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Historic Places Panel Review Paper 

 

  
Page 107



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Michelle Sacks, Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) 

Signed off by: Rob  Barlow, Chief Executive 

Approved for publication: Councillor Richard Austin 

 

 

Page 108



Historic Places Panel 
Review Paper
Boston, September 2021

Page 109



1

Historic Places Panel Review Paper:  Boston 2021

Contents

The Historic Places Panel Visit to Boston 3
 Introduction       3

 The PE21 Development     4

 Heritage Led Regeneration     10

 Shodfriars       10

 “Be Boston”       12

 Engagement       12

 Skills        14

 Flood Risk and Development     14

 Questions of Capacity      15

 Public Realm       15

 The Port       17

 Road        17

 Rail        18

 Town Centre Traffic      19

 Vacant Sites       20

 Dilapidated Buildings      20

Conclusion and Recommendations:  22

Page 110



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

Page 111



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston  2021

3

The Historic Places Panel Visit to Boston

Introduction

The Historic Places Panel’s visit to Boston took place on two fine late September days that 
showed the town at its best, with the Wednesday market in full swing as it has been for 
generations. Much though has changed in Boston in recent years. It has one of the largest 
migrant populations in the UK and is enjoying a modest economic renaissance. Indeed, as 
several of the Panellists observed, few places they have visited have been as vibrant and full 
of activity on a weekday. 

Boston’s place in the world was established over seven hundred years ago when it rivalled 
London as a sea port, with trade and cultural links reaching East, far into Europe and 
beyond. This importance, which led to its name being bestowed on that other, now more 
famous Boston, has left a legacy of buildings and spaces that evoke not only another time, 
but also another country. Boston is on the very edge of England, with a church spire ‘The 
Stump’, that is as much a landmark to seafarers as it is to those on land with a setting largely 
reclaimed from The Wash and its coastal marshes. 

Boston from above in the 1950’s. ©Historic England

Page 112



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

4

Chief Executive Rob Barlow and Deputy Chief Executive Michelle Sacks welcomed the Panel 
in the historic Municipal Buildings with an explanation of what an exciting time this is for 
Boston. During the past decade there has been a great deal of concerted effort to restore 
to the town a sense of its history, and to allow it to fulfil its role as the largest settlement 
in South Lincolnshire. It remains however under-visited, under-appreciated and has until 
now lacked the resources to achieve its potential. The exciting projects promoted through 
the £21.9m Town Deal bring the prospect of a step change that, it is hoped, will address 
previously intractable viability issues on a number of sites and stimulate the economic and 
cultural life of the town.

The size of the migrant population, many as vital agricultural workers, and the challenge of 
social integration are well documented, as is Boston’s resounding vote to leave the European 
Union. The sheer popularity of Boston with those wishing to come and work in the UK has 
had a significant effect due to the numbers involved and 26,000 people have applied for 
settled status in a town which in 2011 had a total population of 56,000. 

The cultural and economic impact has also been substantial. Grocers, continental 
delicatessens, cafes and other small businesses have proliferated and the demographic has 
become younger. With the children swelling local schools however, the Panel heard that this 
may for the greater part be a generational issue and that integration will hopefully follow. 

Nevertheless, as Deputy CEO Michelle Sacks explained, Boston includes some of the most 
deprived wards in the country. There are places where the average wage is £130 a week less 
than the national average. 

The Panel also learned of the “South Lincolnshire” Partnership with the neighbouring 
authorities of South Holland and East Lindsey and the strategic ambitions for rail, road 
and the port. In few places has the Panel been presented with a strategy that covers such a 
range of scales, from historic building restoration right through to strategic infrastructure. 
The Panel could see though that now is the time for Boston to put flesh on the bones of this 
strategy to determine not only what its interventions look like, but how they will be delivered 
at the pace required. It is with this object in mind the following recommendations are 
offered.

The Panel has seen a refreshingly optimistic mood in Boston and the dynamism and energy 
amongst the Borough’s officers was impressive, as was their openness and ambition. This 
Panel Report will be the start of the process and there will be subsequent conversations 
through the Historic England Midlands Team.

The PE21 Development

Mike Gildersleeves, Assistant Director for Planning and Strategic Infrastructure described 
the aspirations for the PE21 site, which has been the subject of a great deal of consultation 
locally. The Panel were astonished by the rarity of a 12 acre development site in a historic 
town centre and the opportunity it represents. Owners include the local health trust, Boston 
Borough Council, Scarborough Group, Lincolnshire County Council and the Crown Estate. 
For the Town Deal, there is a deadline of July 2022 for bids with a need to spend as soon as 

Page 113



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

5
Page 114



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

6

possible and completion by 2024 and the use of a CiC for PE21 is a helpful solution to the 
tight spend timetable.

This new addition to Boston’s townscape should be drawn from Boston’s exceptional 
character – it should be Boston and to do this a thorough assessment of Boston’s character 
is necessary. Boston has outstanding townscape and great public spaces – these should be 
the touchstone. Grantham’s Townscape Assessment is a great example of this: http://www.
southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8711

The original masterplan by AR Urbanism was more successful than the current proposals in 
this vein, but we understand that the desire for car parking and concerns about moving the 
bus station ruled it out. 

As it is in many places, parking is a 
thorny issue. It is critical that Council 
leadership is shown here, because 
although Boston has a large rural 
constituency who rely on the car, 
there seems to be a significant over 
supply of surface car parking around 
the town centre. The evidence of 
car park coverage and under-use 
should therefore be used to justify 
an alternative strategy, as this is a 
town centre environment – not a 
conventional development site. 

Perhaps, as with other towns such 
as Lincoln, the creation of a multi 
storey car park next to the station 
would provide part of the solution to 
parking in PE21, and it is understood 
that discussions have been had with 
East Midland’s Rail Investment about 
plans for the area. In terms of how the site could contribute to a change in transport habits, 
the integration of a mobility hub would help with cycle facilities. More information here:

https://como.org.uk/shared-mobility/mobility-hubs/what/

and here: 

https://mcrlife.co.uk/the-hub/

The Panel was sceptical about the idea that a volume housing developer would be able to 
deliver the sort of development that this site requires. Careful selection of a partner will be 
critical to success, and a more active role for the Borough Council in procurement beyond 
soft marketing to providers will be necessary. Perhaps the first job is to consider a name 
evocative of the surroundings and history. 

Boston’s car parks. ©Boston Borough Council

Page 115



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

7

Dolphin Lane.  Narrow streets and lanes are part of 
Boston’s medieval character. © Historic England

Page 116



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

8

The higher weighting given to social value over financial value is laudable and how this 
translates on the ground needs careful consideration. The worst-case scenario would be 
the requirements of the health provider (including increased parking) being offset against 
the viability calculations of a volume house builder, which would result a poor “anywhere” 
suburban environment in the heart of the old town.

Providing a setting that gives the market confidence by laying out the new spaces and 
installing the public realm first would give the Borough the best chance of attracting a 
suitable development partner and with Scarborough Group on board there may be more 
chance of pump priming investment in this. A linear park in this location would be unlikely 
to be successful and would be expensive to maintain, but a sequence of smaller urban 
spaces can have the same impact on wellbeing at a lower cost if well thought out. Creating 
more intimate spaces would also allow more land for development, improving density and 
feasibility. In Boston the character of the townscape lends itself to this approach. 

It is difficult to create a good connection from the river and site to the station as the key 
desire line unfortunately lies across the police station, which is outside the site. Neither the 
railway station nor the bridge can be seen from within the site either, so using the Stump 
as a landmark is very important. However, there is a need to more fully understand what 
opportunities could be created now and in the future. To do this a movement and legibility 

© Historic England

Page 117



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

9

plan is required, as it’s important to see how the public spaces fit with others in the town, via 
mapping and plan for 10-20 years ahead. The police station may even move in this timescale 
which would bring various opportunities including in establishing a sight line with the 
railway station. Moving the “red line” of the study area to include the Police Station therefore 
would have merit. 

As far as uses are concerned, the Panel advises that any retail should be cut to the minimum 
to avoid it diluting demand for Boston’s traditional shopping streets, as has happened with 
the Pescod Square development.

© Historic England

Page 118



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

10

Shodfriars © Historic England Heritage Led Regeneration

The sheer numbers of partners already involved in 
heritage led regeneration is impressive. A legacy 
of delivering conservation projects via the Historic 
England funded partnership scheme and now the 
Townscape Heritage Initiative has culminated in 
the impressive sum set aside for heritage under 
the Healing the High Street project. During its tour 
the Panel were introduced to a range of finished 
and potential projects including the Black Sluice 
Pumping Station, the Stanley and Quayside hotels, 
and County Hall, the last three of which are listed 
buildings.

The team at St Botolph’s is good at fundraising 
and play a big role in the town. The major National 
Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) project at St Botolph’s 
includes work to the medieval library including 
training in conservation skills and a community 
garden to support mental health. 

Shodfriars

Shodfriars Hall is arguably the most distinctive 
building in Boston after St Botolph’s and it is of 
natural concern to all that it lies unused at the 
present time. The building, which is on the Historic 
England Heritage at Risk Register, has been in 
need of urgent repairs to the roof, but the Panel 
understand that since the visit it has been sold to 
a local entrepreneur with a track record of heritage 
projects. 

Boston Borough Council should be commended 
for keeping the building in the Town Deal after the 
withdrawal of the Blackfriars Arts Centre from the 
Town Deal project, which allows a certain amount of 
agency in discussions about its future. Most pressing 
is that the urgent repairs to the roof valleys are 
completed, to prevent any acceleration in its decline.

A town the size of Boston needs a venue of this 
scale and is fortunate it is to be found in such a 
distinguished building that also has an array of other 
flexible spaces. In addition to use as a theatre, the 

Page 119



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

large auditorium could be used for a range of activities - for example music gigs and a pop-
up cinema - and should be retained as one space. The scale of the hall complements the 
smaller Blackfriars and the larger Gliderdrome and if/when that is back in public use it would 
give Boston an excellent range of venues. The conversion of the theatre part to residential 
uses should therefore be ruled out for this reason and because it is wholly unsuited to it in 
terms of both its significance and its form.

Comparable examples include the Orange Box, Halifax and Chester Story House.

https://orangeboxhalifax.org/

https://www.storyhouse.com/

There will be a need for openness to different ideas and to test uses with different partners. 
The Panel note for instance that Lincoln College have taken on Lincoln Drill Hall and possibly 
a partnership with educational uses could provide at least part of the answer.

The Maud Foster Drain and Windmill © Historic England

Page 120



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

12

“Be Boston”

There is a lot of civic pride in Boston, as evidenced by the fascinating book, Boston, the 
Small Town with a Big Story published by Cllr Richard Austin, with chapters from an array 
of local contributors. The ‘Be Boston’ campaign has been recently launched and is seeking 
to celebrate Boston and what is good in the town – the “Boston Trumps” cards are an 
impressive reminder of an aspect of this. The £5m included in the Town Deal for high street 
heritage projects is a clear indication of the value placed on the historic environment.

Every new addition to it is a chance to reinforce this character, but it will not happen by good 
intentions alone. A policy framework based upon characterisation is necessary, covering its 
buildings, public realm, green infrastructure and arts and culture. This would be an aid to 
developers and planners alike.

Engagement

The Town Deal has provided an excellent opportunity for stakeholder engagement and 
community input, and indeed Boston had the highest number of ideas from the community 
on the My Town website. There are however two sides to Boston, with harder to reach 
communities and high levels of non-integration. This even has a geographic split in the town, 

east – west (across the River Witham) with the west seen as being more eastern European. 
The Council should build on the existing participatory ways of integrating and empowering 
diverse communities, seeking to create a sense of belonging and understanding in one 
another. Cllr Richard Austin has for instance been developing engagement with different 
communities through tree planting, which could be more effectively linked to a Green 
Infrastructure strategy maximising local and strategic potential.

Etched in Time, Boston. ©Historic England

Page 121



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

13

Another key to this is place making and heritage. The Panel heard of the mixed response 
to the wonderful, award winning Boston Buoys project led by the Arts Council-funded 
Transported programme run by the University of Lincoln. Art can provoke strong reactions, 
particularly in locations where it has not traditionally featured and the Council should not 
be put off – this is about long term change. Nevertheless, the Panel suggested more of a 
participatory approach to engagement to allow diverse communities to feel more a part of 
the outcomes and more invested in the process. 

The historic links with Eastern Europe over time (particularly through the Hanseatic League), 
the universal appeal of archaeology and the inherent interest of development projects 
happening “on your doorstep” provide a fertile environment for engagement. The online 
approaches to the Town Deal made during the pandemic have been highly successful with 
high levels of take-up and this can be the first plank of broader outreach. 

The process of consultation can have as many benefits as the finished product, with the 
delivery of skills, community cohesion, wellbeing and social prescribing possible via history 
projects, characterisation, design charrettes and community digs. Funding for these types of 
activity can be provided by the Architectural Heritage Fund and the NHLF. The Heritage Trust 
for Lincolnshire would be ideally placed to lead on this in partnership with the Borough, 
Boston College and local schools. An urban room would help – Nottingham has one at 
38 Carrington St which is used as a hub for engagement and learning. Perhaps a pop-up 
facility could be started, for example in a repaired Shodfriars Hall? The University of Lincoln 
are interested in engaging more deeply with communities and specialises in community 
heritage. 

One of the Boston Buoys © Historic England

Page 122



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

14

Skills

Boston College’s ‘Top 5’ UK status makes it a powerful agent for change, but for this to 
benefit Boston more widely its pupils need opportunities locally, something best identified 
through collaboration with the business community and Boston has a strong one. It could 
partner with local businesses in identifying job opportunities and career paths locally. The 
‘Primary Engineer’ project connects local businesses with engineers to schools. The talent 
shown by the students of Boston College who provided the catering for the dinner begs 
the question, “is there an equivalent for food?” The planned centre for food and logistics 
involving Boston College and the University of Lincoln and the arrival in Boston of Plant and 
Bean, the largest vegan products supplier in Europe, leads us to hope so and could have a 
beneficial knock on effects on the food offer in the town and its agricultural hinterland alike.

Flood Risk and Development

Eighty percent of the Borough is in a flood zone, making housing delivery a problem as it is 
impossible to deliver the required new homes to Environment Agency (EA) guidelines, even 
though there is a desire from house builders to work in Boston. The EA require new housing 
to be raised by 0.5-1.4m to alleviate flood risk in spite of the new flood barrier, as they factor 
in the risk of failure. This is having a knock-on effect on the town centre, as Boston has high 
rents and low income which leads to the creation of HMO’s. The impact of flood risk on new 
development is affecting the delivery of even small, brown field developments necessary 
to stitch the townscape back together. Clearly a pragmatic solution is needed. Do other 
eastern local authorities have the same issues? Perhaps a combined approach to the EA and 

Winning entry - Living with Water: Flood Resilient Housing for Hull. ©Harper Perry Architecture

Page 123



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

15

Department for Levelling-up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) would start a dialogue 
on this. The panel suggested that innovative thinking is required embedding nature-based 
solutions for climate change adaptation within a green infrastructure strategy. An alternative 
is to use the upper floors in the town centre for residential accommodation as well as in the 
PE21 area which would avoid flood risk and bring more footfall and surveillance into the 
town centre.

Questions of Capacity

The ambitious place making agenda in a partnership of three local authorities brings with 
it the chance to increase the capacity available for delivering place-making, an opportunity 
that emphatically needs to be taken and the desired unitary status would take this even 
further. There is a clear passion for place making in the Council, but also evident was an 
acute need for specialist place making and design skills. A shared urban design post would 
strengthen the Council’s position as client, providing the expert peer to peer challenge 
necessary to get the best from partners and contracted design professionals and deliver 
high quality place making. They could also engage in enhanced pre-application advice for 
planning applications, write development briefs for key sites and lead on research on the 
issue of development, climate change resilience and flood risk.  The opportunity should 
also be taken to involve the regional design review service Design Midlands on larger 
developments - www.designmidlands.org.

Public Realm

The Panel were impressed by the quality of the Market Place public realm, which at the 
time of its construction was the largest York Stone public realm project in the country and 
provides a fitting foreground to St Botolph’s. During the Panel’s visit car drivers seemed to 
treat the Market Place with the caution necessary in what is essentially shared space, and 
its grandeur was apparent even when the market was taken down. The Panel therefore 
advise that radical changes to the Market Place are not warranted – in fact the extent of 
planting indicated in the masterplan would make full appreciation of it difficult. Rather 
a more nuanced approach to changing how the Market Place feels and is used would be 
more successful and cost effective, with events, street food, street trees and perhaps a water 
feature to animate the space.  

Whilst people don’t want to engage with shutting down routes, roads are closed for the 
markets and the Market Place itself is closed during the fair and the town doesn’t grind to a 
halt. We understand a continental market is being considered for Wide Bargate - could trial 
shutting down therefore be linked to events that would test the impact of such measures and 
show people what is possible? Jan Gehl demonstrates how this can be done and examples 
include Norwich, Bury St Edmonds and Antwerp, which hosts festivals. This could also lead 
the way to a permanent reduction or elimination of car parking in this space.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9_x5Hor2MP8

Page 124



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

Page 125



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

17

Characterful, contemporary housing: Marmalade Lane, Cambridge by Mole Architects. http://
www.marmaladelane.co.uk/

Other small public spaces were memorable, Pump Square among them – a wonderfully 
intimate square more continental that English in feel, the Panel felt that its use solely for 
car parking was a missed opportunity – the two small street trees gave a hint of the space it 
could be. 

The Port

As Boston’s original raison d’etre, there is a shared understanding of how integral the port 
is to the town, and appropriately the Port Director sits on the Town Deal Board. Imports 
through the port have increased following Brexit, especially given congestion elsewhere and 
there is interest from the significant farming community and food processors to use the port 
more. Steel, paper, cardboard and timber are imported through it and waste plastics are also 
shipped.

£5million has been invested in the port in the last 18 months and there is the potential to 
take more goods when upgrades are finished that include the widening of the lock gates. 
This however brings questions of capacity in the road and rail networks that serve it. 

Road

Unless this capacity issue is addressed it will affect how both the town and port function, 
putting future growth at risk. Most businesses won’t relocate to the north side of Boston 
due to traffic problems and a link road between the A16 and A52 is in the early stages of 
being sought. Three bridges are required overall and justifications will have to be carefully 

Page 126



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

articulated to capture the additional benefits it would bring, including green infrastructure 
and climate change adaptation, biodiversity, housing, flood protection and port activity. 
To this the Panel would add the amenity of the town centre, which in itself needs careful 
consideration and planning to capture the full scope and magnitude of the change it could 
bring. The three authorities together strengthen the case, and we understand the Borough 
have reached out to Cambridgeshire and Peterborough local authorities to help make a 
“whole region” case for the A16, a sensible move.

Rail

Rail connections are poor, but there is a strategic aim to connect Boston by rail to the 
main heavy goods line from London to northern England. That would also provide a more 
direct line to Peterborough and on to Cambridge and airports for example and a direct line 
to London. Encouraging conversations have taken place with Network Rail, who are now 
considering connecting communities as part of their drivers for investment. This would 

The Haven, with the Railway Swing Bridge in the foreground and the fishing fleet behind © Historic 
England

Page 127



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

19

be a significant economic opportunity for Boston with a cost of £100million. A Spalding 
rail terminal has also been proposed related to agricultural markets. The improved rail 
connections would also help the port. 

Town Centre Traffic

The presence of so much infrastructure devoted to the car is one of the key issues facing 
Boston in its place making ambitions, as managing the impact of the car is a key way of 
making places more “liveable”. Most, if not all of its car parks, are on land that was previously 
occupied by buildings and the same is true of John Adams Way. The Boston Transport 
Strategy only tackles car use indirectly by measures promoting alternatives (and only those 
aspects which the Council can control), so doesn’t really tie into the broader issues of 
place making. Getting a handle on this will require a strategic, phased, whole place-based 
approach.

Rationalising car parks needs to be tested and doesn’t in every instance mean closing them. 
Wide Bargate for instance, an enormous space at an entrance to the town centre, would 
be improved immensely if it was de-paved to make more porous in line with best practice 
sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS), integrating key green infrastructure features.

The A16 through Boston is a shockingly damaging road. One only has to look at maps 
published prior to the construction of John Adams Way to see how much more connected 
and coherent the area around its route was prior to its construction. 

De-engineering it should be seen as a priority if this can be realised, but planning can be 
started in advance of this and used in the justification for the strategic road proposals and 
implementation through incremental change. Appropriately given Boston’s history, the 
Woonerf principles of urban design, founded in Holland may provide the best exemplars:

https://citygreen.com/the-rising-popularity-of-the-woonerf-design-a-living-street-concept-
for-shared-city-spaces/

In a town so close to the water, what is the connection to it and to nature for people? There 
are some beautiful spaces and routes that could lead people to explore very easily given 
the right wayfinding.  The interlinked themes of drainage, the soil, agriculture and ecology 
could inspire an approach to new green infrastructure that is inherently of Boston, as part 
of the “Keep it Boston” initiative – it could even inspire a new John Adam’s greenway in 
years to come. Central Park, the coastal RSPB sites, the River Witham, South 40ft Drain and 
the agricultural hinterland form part of an environment that sits alongside the heritage 
which is little publicised. The health benefits of walking and cycling, particularly given 
the flat landscape are also there to be harnessed and the Boston Bikes initiative is to be 
commended, not to mention the enhanced biodiversity, air quality and climate change 
mitigation.

Examples of this include Grey to Green in Sheffield, which is transforming the city’s 
connectivity north/south and Sunderland Riverside Masterplan, which turns the A183 dual 
carriageway into a tree-lined avenue.

Page 128



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

20

Vacant Sites

There are a number of surface car park sites in Boston, but on their walkabout two stood 
out as being strategically important in place making terms. One, PE21, is dealt with earlier 
in this paper and is already the subject of much discussion. The other is what is known 
as Chalky’s Car Park. This site lies on 
South Street between South Square and 
John Adams Way. The absence of any 
building here reveals some beautiful 
listed buildings in views from the Haven 
Bridge and Doughty’s Quay, but in doing 
so-creates a wasteland environment that 
actually increases the impact of the A16. 
Issues with flood defence and easements 
have previously made development of 
it problematic and we understand that 
the owner is content with the revenue 
from car parking, which are both things 
that militate against anything changing. 
However, perusal of historic maps show 
development set well back from the river, 
with only a lightweight timber loading 
bay at the water’s edge, which may 
provide a clue to its future. Perhaps a 
development appraisal here would be a 
chance to start a dialogue with the owner, 
with the added benefit that any research 
regarding development and flood risk, and 
integrated green infrastructure would have 
wider application and benefits.

Dilapidated Buildings

The panel saw the transformations that 
have been made using HE and NLHF 
funding and were impressed by the 
extensive use of S215 notices to tackle 
dilapidation. The difficulty  contacting 
absentee landlords is however a common 
problem and it is suggested that rather 
than the usual approaches using standard 
headed letters that are ignored, writing to 
these owners using un-headed stationary 
with a clear offer can yield results. 

©Historic England

Page 129



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

21
Page 130



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

22

Conclusion and Recommendations:

Creating the strong partnerships necessary for place making requires leadership, something 
Boston has amply demonstrated. Implementing change to best effect, satisfying the desires 
of the existing population, while making changes that attract the movers and shakers takes 
this to another level, and requires technical expertise, lateral, strategic thinking and good 
engagement and communication. The Panel found a town that has all the ingredients to 
become a great place to live in, that has taken some significant steps towards achieving 
that goal. It has also seen the potential pitfalls caused by tight timescales, conflicting 
requirements and the limitations of capacity. With this in mind it has the following 
recommendations:

1. Consider employing an Urban Designer jointly with adjoining authorities. A qualified 
design professional will be of benefit across the full range of place making activity (including 
delivering a number of the recommendations below) and would represent excellent value for 
money. At the same time, more use could be made of the services available from the regional 
design review service Design Midlands.

2. Develop a Green Infrastructure Strategy addressing flood resilience, SuDS, urban farming, 
green skills, contact with nature, biodiversity, heritage landscapes, cycling and walking in 
partnership with the local groups. A movement hub would help to get people onto bikes for 
commuting, improving health and wellbeing, achieving goals set out in the Boston Transport 
Strategy.

3. Make a study of your car parks, including ownership.  Map usage to inform the future 
rationalization of parking provision, provide evidence to support the design approach for 
PE21 and to identify opportunities to mend the townscape elsewhere. 

4. Ensure that the Arts Council-funded route map to a cultural policy aligns with the existing 
Heritage Strategy, and includes measures to allow the full activation of spaces and buildings 
currently under-used. 

5. Write a characterisation study to get a better handle on what it is to “Be Boston”. This will 
help with many aspects of design and make a conservation area appraisal straightforward.  
This should include a study of movement, legibility and a strategy for integrated green 
infrastructure.

5.Create a list of small, medium and large projects to be delivered over the short, medium 
and long term as part of a Green, Blue and Grey infrastructure strategy, including wildlife, 
biodiversity and climate change adaptation.

6.Communication and partnership is a fundamental of good place making and Boston has 
made great strides in this. To derive even greater value from this, the Panel recommends that 
the Borough does a quick relationship and stakeholder mapping exercise which may reveal 
common interests that were previously unrealised and establish relationships that would 
otherwise not happen. 

Page 131



Historic Places Panel Review Paper: Boston 2021

23

7. Ensure urgent repairs happen at Shodfriar’s Hall. It is, strategically, the building in Boston 
with the greatest un tapped potential and it should play a leading part in the town’s cultural 
regeneration.

8. Build an engagement approach focusing on heritage, harnessing every phase of the  
development process including design, archaeology and construction. This will deliver on 
community cohesion and skills and improve outcomes.

9. Economic analysis is necessary to underpin the PE21 strategy. Commission a development 
appraisal to provide the essential evidence to put the Council in a strong position in its 
negotiations with delivery partners and planning, as well as to ensure the full potential socio-
economic impact of the site is realized.

10. Seek a meeting with the Environment Agency and DLUHC to explore ways of unlocking 
development as the knock-on effects of the housing shortage have implications for the Town 
Deal. Perhaps an architectural design competition could be promoted to provoke innovative 
thinking in this field.

© Historic England

Page 132



The Historic Places Panel provides a broad spectrum of 
independent expertise to help local authorities and others 
engage in the regeneration and revitalisation of historic places.

A list of current panel members and previous review papers can 
be found on our website: 
historicengland.org.uk/about/who-we-are/committees-and-
panels/historic-places-panel.

For more information on the Historic Places Panel please email: 
governance@HistoricEngland.org.uk.

If you would like this document in a different format, please 
contact our customer services department on:  
Tel: 0370 333 0607 
Email:  customers@HistoricEngland.org.uk.

All information and weblinks accurate at the time of publication. 
Please consider the environment before printing this document.

Panellists:

Peter Studdert (Chair)
Nigel Baker
Ben Derbyshire
Sophia de Sousa
Johanna Gibbons
Julian Hill
Nigel Hinds
Rosemarie MacQueen
David Ubaka
Katie Wray

Publication date: 22/01/2021 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	1 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) (STANDING ITEM)
	2 MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT
	Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020
	Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct _ Local Government Association

	3 HOUSING BENEFIT - LOCAL DISCRETIONARY MODIFIED SCHEME
	Appendix A Housing Benefit Modified Scheme

	4 HISTORIC PLACES PANEL REPORT
	Appendix A.  Historic Places Review Paper
	Historic Places Panel Review Paper, Boston, September 2021
	Contents
	The Historic Places Panel Visit to Boston
	Introduction
	The PE21 Development
	Heritage Led Regeneration
	Shodfriars
	“Be Boston”
	Engagement
	Skills
	Flood Risk and Development
	Questions of Capacity
	Public Realm
	The Port
	Road
	Rail
	Town Centre Traffic
	Vacant Sites
	Dilapidated Buildings

	Conclusion and Recommendations






